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A notice convening the EGM to be held at Conference Room 1402, 14th Floor, North Building, CGN Tower, 2002 Shennan
Boulevard, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC on 10 June 2021 (Thursday) at 11:00 a.m. is set out on pages
EGM-1 to EGM-4 of this circular. A form of proxy for use at the EGM is enclosed with this circular. Such form of proxy is also
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.cgnmc.com.

Whether or not you are able to attend the EGM in person, you are requested to complete and return the accompanying form of
proxy enclosed with this circular in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and deposit the same to the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong as soon as possible but in any event not less than 48 hours before
the time appointed for the holding of the EGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not
preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any adjournment thereof should you so wish.

ALTERNATE ARRANGEMENT AND PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES FOR THE EGM

To facilitate Shareholders attending the EGM, electronic facilities will be set up at Room 1903, 19/F, China Resources
Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Venue”) where Shareholders or his/her/its proxies may
participate in the EGM and cast their votes in person. For details, please refer to note 1 to the notice of EGM.

In view of the ongoing coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, the Company will implement the following precautionary
measures at the EGM and the Hong Kong Venue to protect attending Shareholders, staff and stakeholders from the risk of
infection including, without limitation:

() Compulsory temperature check

(2) Compulsory wearing of surgical face mask

3) No refreshment will be served

%) Provision of Communication Big Data Itinerary Card Ciifs K##@E17#2 ) and Health Code (f#5f) as required by the
property management (in respect of the EGM venue only)

Any person who does not wear a surgical face mask, not accept temperature check, with a body temperature above 37.2
degree Celsius or subject to any Hong Kong government prescribed quarantine (in the case of attending the Hong Kong
Venue) may be denied entry into the EGM venue and the Hong Kong Venue. The Company strongly encourages Shareholders
NOT to attend the EGM in person, and advises Shareholders to appoint the chairman of the EGM as their proxy to vote
according to their indicated voting instructions as an alternative to attending the EGM in person. In any event, should
Shareholders intend to attend the EGM in person, Shareholders and/or their proxies are advised to arrive the venue early to
allow sufficient time to go through the precautionary procedures. Subject to the development of COVID-19, the Company
may implement further changes and precautionary measures and may issue further announcement on such measures as
appropriate.

*  for identification purpose only
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, the following expressions shall have the following meanings unless the

context otherwise requires:

“Acquisition”

“associate(s)”

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

“Board”

“Buy-back Event(s)”

“Buy-back Right”

“Call Option”

2

“Call Option Triggering Event(s)

“Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use
Agreement”

the acquisition of the Target Interest under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment
Company Limited* (L issi&HEBEARAF), a
limited liability company incorporated in the PRC and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

the board of Directors

the event(s) set out in the row “Buy-back of the Target
Interest” under the section headed “The Further
Cooperation Agreement — Major terms” in the letter
from the Board in the circular

the right of Kazatomprom to request CGNM UK to sell
the Target Interest to Kazatomprom set out in the row
“Buy-back of the Target Interest” under the section
headed “The Further Cooperation Agreement — Major
terms” in the letter from the Board in the circular

the option granted to Kazatomprom, its affiliate and
UMP for the acquisition of all the interest of
CGNPC-URC in the Fuel Partnership and all the
interest of CGNM UK in Ortalyk set out in the
Cooperation Agreement as further described in the
section headed “Background of the Acquisition — The
Cooperation Agreement — The Call Option” in the letter
from the Board in the circular

the event(s) that would trigger the Call Option set out
under the section headed ‘“Background of the
Acquisition — The Cooperation Agreement — The Call
Option” in the letter from the Board in the circular

the contract for exploration and extraction of uranium
on Central Mynkuduk Deposit between the Ministry of
Energy and Mineral Resources and Kazatomprom dated
8 July 2005, as amended, which has subsequently been
transferred to Ortalyk



DEFINITIONS

“Central Mynkuduk Deposit”

“CGN Group”

“CGNM UK”

“CGNPC”

“CGNPC Mining Participant”

“CGNPC-URC”

“China Uranium Development”

“Company”

“Competent Person”

“Competent Person Report”

“Completion”

“Completion Date”

the central plot of Mynkuduk deposit in
South-Kazakhstan region Kazakhstan operated by
Ortalyk

CGNPC and its subsidiaries

CGNM UK Limited, a company incorporated in the
United Kingdom, with limited liability and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

China General Nuclear Power Corporation® (7[5 & 1% 4
EABR/AF), a company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability and the sole shareholder of
CGNPC-URC

the Company or an affiliate of the Company as
nominated by the Company or an affiliate of CGNPC
as nominated by CGNPC for participation in the
Mining Project under the Cooperation Agreement, later
identified as CGNM UK

CGNPC Uranium Resources Co., Ltd* (#8248
AT, a company established in the PRC with
limited liability and the sole shareholder of China
Uranium Development

China Uranium Development Company Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, holding approximately
64.82% of the issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange

RPMGlobal Asia Limited
the Competent Person Report prepared by the
Competent Person, RPM Global Asia Limited, which is

set out in appendix IV to this circular

the completion of the Acquisition in accordance with
the Sale and Purchase Agreement

the date of completion of the Acquisition in accordance
with the Sale and Purchase Agreement



DEFINITIONS

“Condition(s)”

“connected person”

“Consideration”

“Constitutional Document”

“controlling shareholder”

“Cooperation Agreement”

“COVID-19”
“Director(s)”

“EGM”

“Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement”

the condition(s) precedent of the Acquisition as set out
in the row “Conditions precedent” under the section
headed “The Sale and Purchase Agreement — Major
terms” in the letter from the Board in the circular

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

the consideration for the acquisition of the Target
Interest under the Sale and Purchase Agreement

the charter of Ortalyk to be approved by the general
meetings of Ortalyk, being the constitutional document
of Ortalyk

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

the Agreement on Commercial Terms in relation to the
Design and  Construction of a Fuel Assembly
Fabrication Plant in Kazakhstan and the Joint
Development of Kazakhstan Uranium Deposits dated 14
December 2015 entered into among the Company,
CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, Kazatomprom and UMP, as
announced in the announcement of the Company dated
14 December 2015

coronavirus disease 2019
the director(s) of the Company

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to
be convened for, among other matters, for the
Independent Shareholders to consider and approve, if
thought fit, the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option and
the Off-take Arrangement)

contract for exploration of uranium on the Zhalpak
Deposit between Ministry of Industry and New
Technologies of the Kazakhstan and Kazatomprom
dated 31 May 2010, as amended, which has
subsequently been transferred to Ortalyk



DEFINITIONS

“Fission”

“Fuel Assembly Purchase
Obligation”

“Fuel Partnership”

“Fuel Pellets Manufacturing
Services Purchase Obligation”

“Fuel Project”

“Further Cooperation Agreement”

“Group”

Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource
company whose ordinary shares are listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCU”, the
OTCQX market place in the U.S. under the symbol
“FCUUF” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under
the symbol “2FU”, and is owned as to approximately
15.01% by the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date

the obligation to purchase an agreed quantity of fuel
assemblies over a period of 20 years from the Fuel
Partnership by CGNPC-URC or one of its affiliates as
described under the paragraph headed “Background of
the Acquisition — The Fuel Assembly Purchase
Obligation” in the letter from the Board in the circular

the legal entity for carrying out the Fuel Project, being
Ulba-FA

the obligation for CGNPC-URC to engage UMP to
provide fuel pellets manufacturing services under the
Further Cooperation Agreement as further described in
the row “Fuel Pellets Manufacturing Services Purchase
Obligation” under the section headed “The Further
Cooperation Agreement — Major terms” in the letter
from the Board in the circular

the project to construct and manage a facility for the
fabrication of fuel assemblies to be supplied to
customers, which shall include fuel fabrication services,
contemplated under the Cooperation Agreement

the Agreement for Further Expanding and Deepening
Mutually Beneficial Cooperation in Nuclear Energy
Field dated 22 April 2021 entered into between, among
other parties, Kazatomprom, the Company and CGNM
UK as further described in the section headed “Further
Cooperation Agreement” in the letter from the Board in
the circular

the Company and its subsidiaries



DEFINITIONS

“Guaranteed Entitlement”

“HK$”
“Hong Kong”

“Independent Board Committee”

“Independent Financial Adviser”
or “Gram Capital”

“Independent Shareholders”

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

“Initial FA Purchase Obligation

Due Date”

“Irkol Mine”

“JORC Code”

“Kazakhstan”

the guaranteed entitlement to procure 20,000 tonnes of
uranium by the Company or its affiliate during the life
of the Fuel Partnership stipulated in the Mining
Principles Agreement as described in point (iv) under
the section headed “Background of the Acquisition —
The Mining Principles Agreement” in the letter from
the Board in the circular

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

the independent committee of the Board, consisting of
all the independent non-executive Directors, established
to advise the Independent Shareholders on the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder

Gram Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to carry
on Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the SFO and the independent financial
adviser appointed to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders on the
Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder

Shareholders other than the CGN Group

party(ies) which is independent of and not connected
with the Company and its connected persons and not
otherwise a connected person of the Company

28 February 2020, being the date stipulated in the
Cooperation Agreement that either Kazatomprom and
UMP (acting together) or CGNPC and CGNPC-URC
(acting together) may issue a liquidation notice for the
liquidation of the Fuel Partnership if the first shipment
under the initial Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract
has not been despatched by such date

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20
kilometres from the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan, which

is owned and operated by Semizbay-U.

the Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves

the Republic of Kazakhstan



DEFINITIONS

“Kazatomprom”

“Kazatomprom Mining
Participant”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Long Stop Date”

“Long Term Fuel Assembly
Contract(s)”

“Mineral Resource”

“Mining Partnership”

“Mining Principles Agreement”

“Mining Project”

“natural uranium”

Joint Stock Company “National Atomic Company
“Kazatomprom”, a joint stock company established
according to the laws of Kazakhstan

Kazatomprom or its affiliate for participation in the
Mining Project under the Cooperation Agreement

18 May 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to
the printing of this circular for ascertaining certain
information contained in this circular

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange

the long stop date in relation to the Completion as set
out in the row “Long Stop Date” under the section
headed “Sale and Purchase Agreement — Major terms”
in the letter from the Board in the circular

the back-to-back off-take agreement(s), each with a
term between three to five years, to purchase the
product of the Fuel Partnership (i.e. fuel assemblies)
under the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation

as defined in the JORC Code, means a concentration or
occurrence of solid material of economic interest in or
on the Earth’s crust in such form, grade (or quality)
that there are reasonable prospects of eventual
economic extraction

the legal entity for carrying out the Mining Project,
which is later identified as Ortalyk

the Mining Principles Agreement on the joint
development of Kazakhstan Uranium Deposit dated 4
October 2016 entered into between the Company and
Kazatomprom, as announced in the announcement of
the Company dated 4 October 2016

the project of development of one or more uranium
deposits in Kazakhstan contemplated wunder the

Cooperation Agreement

uranium concentrates in the form of U308



DEFINITIONS

“New Exercise Price” the exercise price of the Buy-back Right, the Sell-back
Right, the Call Option and the Put Option determined
by the mechanism stipulated in the Further Cooperation
Agreement as set out in the row “Exercise price of the
Buy-back Right” under the section headed “The Further
Cooperation Agreement — Major terms” in the letter
from the Board in the circular

“New Zhalpak Subsoil Use the new subsoil use agreement for the Zhalpak Deposit
Agreement”
“Off-take Agreement” the Agreement on the basic principles of marketing

(sale) policy with respect to the products of Mining
Company “ORTALYK” LLP expected to be entered into
between Kazatomprom, the Company and CGNM UK
as further described in the section headed “The Sale
and Purchase Agreement — Off-take Arrangement” in
the letter from the Board in the circular

E3)

“Off-take Arrangement the arrangement for off-take of the product of Ortalyk
as initially described in the section headed “Off-take
arrangement of products of the Mining Partnership”

and further particularised in the Off-take Agreement

“Old Exercise Price” the exercise price of the Call Option and the Put
Option determined by the mechanism stipulated in the
Cooperation Agreement as set out in the section headed
“Background of the Acquisition — The Cooperation
Agreement — Exercise price of the Call Option and Put
Option” in the letter from the Board in this circular,
which has subsequently been superseded by the New
Exercise Price

“Ore Reserves” as defined in the JORC Code, means the economically
mineable part of a measured and/or indicated Mineral
Resource

“Ortalyk” Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP, a legal entity

established in the form of a limited liability partnership
in Kazakhstan and is wholly owned by Kazatomprom
as of the date of this circular

“percentage ratios” has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing
Rules



DEFINITIONS

“PRC”

“Proposed Annual Cap(s)”

“Put Option”

“Put Option Triggering Event(s)”

“RMB”

“Sale and Purchase Agreement”

“Sell-back Right”

“Semizbay Mine”

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of
this circular only, excluding Hong Kong, Macau
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China and Taiwan

the proposed annual maximum amount of natural
uranium to be off-taken by the Group under the
Off-take Arrangement to be approved by the
Independent Shareholders

the option granted to CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, CGNPC
Mining Participant for the disposal of all the interest of
CGNPC-URC in the Fuel Partnership to UMP and all
the interest of CGNM UK in Ortalyk to Kazatomprom
Mining Participant under the Cooperation Agreement as
further described wunder the paragraph headed
“Background of the Acquisition — The Cooperation
Agreement — The Put Option” in the letter from the
Board in the circular

the event(s) that would trigger the Put Option set out
under the paragraph headed “Background of the
Acquisition — The Cooperation Agreement — The Put
Option” in the letter from the Board in the circular

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

the Sale and Purchase Agreement in relation to the
Participatory Interest in the charter capital of Mining
Company “ORTALYK” LLP dated 22 April 2021
entered into between Kazatomprom and CGNM UK as
further described in the section headed “The Sale and
Purchase Agreement” in the letter from the Board in
the circular

the right to require Kazatomprom to buy-back the
Target Interest if Ortalyk fails to obtain the New
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement set out in the row
“Zhalpak subsoil use right” under the section headed
“The Sale and Purchase Agreement — Major terms” in
the letter from the Board in the circular

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of
Akmoltnsk Oblast, Kazakhstan which is owned and
operated by Semizbay-U.



DEFINITIONS

“Semizbay-U”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Shareholders’ Agreement”

“Stock Exchange”
“subsidiaries”

“Subsoil Code”

“Subsoil Law”

“Target Interest”
“Target Mines”

“TradeTech”

ééTenge77
“Track Record Period”

“tU”

Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited
liability partnership established in Kazakhstan with the
Company holding 49% of its equity interest through its
wholly-owned subsidiary

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

ordinary share(s) in the Company with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each

holder(s) of the Share(s)

The Foundation Agreement of Mining Company
“Ortalyk” Limited Liability Partnership to be entered
between Kazatomprom and CGNM UK, specifying
mutual rights and obligations in relation to the
participation in the charter capital of Ortalyk and
management thereof

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Subsoil and
Subsoil Use” dated 27 December 2017 No. 125-VI, as
amended

Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Subsoil and
Subsoil Use” dated 24 June 2010 No. 291-1V, as
amended, which has been superseded by the Subsoil
Code

49% interest in Ortalyk

the Central Mynkuduk Deposit and the Zhalpak Deposit
TradeTech of Denver Tech Centre, 7887 E. Belleview
Avenue, Suite 888, Englewood, CO 80111, USA, one
of the leading providers of uranium prices and an
independent third party

Kazakhstan Tenge, the lawful currency of Kazakhstan

the three years ended 31 December 2020

tonnes of uranium



DEFINITIONS

“Ulba-FA”

“UMP”

“United Kingdom”

“US $9’ or “USD”

“ch’,

“Valuation Date”

t3]

“Valuation Report

“Valuer”

“Zhalpak Deposit”

“%99

*  for identification purpose only

“Ulba-FA” Limited Liability Partnership, a limited
liability partnership established in in Kazakhstan and
owned as to 51% and 49% by UMP and CGNPC-URC,
respectively

Joint Stock Company “Ulba Metallurgical Plant”, a
joint stock company established according to the laws

of Kazakhstan and a subsidiary of Kazatomprom

The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern
Ireland

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United
States of America

UxC, LLC, one of the leading providers of uranium
prices and an independent third party

the valuation date of the Target Interest for the purpose
of determination of the Consideration, being 30 June
2020

the report on valuation of 49% equity interest in
Ortalyk prepared by the Valuer as set forth in Appendix
V to this circular

China Enterprise Appraisals Company Limited

the wuranium deposit located in Sozak district,
Kazakhstan operated by Ortalyk

per cent

—10 -



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

FEREERAT
BB GD CGN con B F OB A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 01164)

Executive Directors: Registered Office:

Mr. An Junjing (chief executive officer) Cricket Square

Mr. Chen Deshao Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KYI1-1111

Non-executive Directors: Cayman Islands

Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman)

Mr. Sun Xu Head office and principal place of

Mr. Yin Xiong business in Hong Kong:
Room 1903, 19/F.

Independent Non-executive Directors: China Resources Building

Mr. Qiu Xianhong 26 Harbour Road

Mr. Gao Pei Ji Wanchai, Hong Kong

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

25 May 2021
To the Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

(1) Very substantial acquisition and connected transaction in relation to
the acquisition of 49% interest in Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP
(2) Very substantial disposal and connected transaction in relation to
the grant of Call Option and Buy-back Right
(3) Continuing connected transaction in relation to the Off-take Arrangement

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 22 April 2021, whereby
it was announced that the Group entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement on 22 April
2021 pursuant to which, among other matters, CGNM UK (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) agreed to acquire the Target Interest which constitutes a very substantial
acquisition and connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Sale and
Purchase Agreement also gave effect to the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option
by the Group which constitute very substantial disposal and connected transaction of the
Company.

*  for identification purpose only
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

In connection with the Acquisition, it is expected that the Company, CGNM UK and
Kazatomprom will enter into the Off-take Agreement prior to the Completion of the
Acquisition for the off-take of the natural uranium concentrates produced by Ortalyk in
proportion to their respective equity interest in Ortalyk.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with, among other things, (i) a letter
from the Board containing further details of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call
Option and the Off-take Arrangement); (ii) a letter from the Independent Board Committee
containing the view of the Independent Board Committee on the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder; (iii) a letter from Gram Capital
advising the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders; and (iv) the
notice of the EGM.

BACKGROUND OF THE ACQUISITION
The Cooperation Agreement

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 14 December 2015
whereas it was announced that the Company entered into the Cooperation Agreement with
CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, Kazatomprom and UMP to record their respective rights and
obligations with respect to the incorporation and operation of (i) the Fuel Partnership,
namely Ulba-FA, by CGNPC-URC and UMP to undertake the Fuel Project to build and
operate a fuel assemblies fabrication plant in Kazakhstan; and (ii) a Mining Partnership to
undertake the Mining Project by CGNPC Mining Participant and Kazatomprom Mining
Participant to develop and operate one or more mining deposits in Kazakhstan. CGNPC
Mining Participant has later been identified to be CGNM UK, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and the legal entity for carrying out the Mining Project has later been
identified as Ortalyk.

The Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation

The Cooperation Agreement provided that, CGNPC-URC or one of its affiliates shall
enter into Long Term Fuel Assembly Contracts, being back-to-back off-take agreements,
each with a term between three to five years, to purchase a total of 4,000 tU of product of
the Fuel Partnership (i.e. fuel assemblies) over a period of 20 years.

The first Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract has been entered into between
CGNPC-URC and Ulba-FA on 21 December 2020 covering up to 31 December 2025.

Off-take arrangement of products of the Mining Partnership
The Cooperation Agreement also provided that Kazatomprom Mining Participant and
CGNPC Mining Participant shall procure that the Mining Partnership enters into an off-take

agreement with CGNPC Mining Participant to supply a total amount of 20,000 tonnes of
uranium during the commitment period of the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation.

—12 —



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Call Option

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Kazatomprom, Kazatomprom Mining
Participant and UMP shall have the right exercisable any time during the 60 business days
following the occurrence of any of following events to require both (but not one of) (i)
CGNPC-URC to sell 100% of its participatory interest (if any) in the Fuel Partnership to
UMP (or its nominee); and (ii) CGNPC Mining Participant to sell 100% (in whole and not
in part) of its participatory interest in the Mining Partnership (if any) to Kazatomprom
Mining Participant at the Old Exercise Price:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

all procedures and steps as stipulated in the constitutional documents of the Fuel
Partnership or the Mining Partnership, as applicable, to solve a deadlock having
been exhausted but failed and UMP (in the case of the Fuel Partnership) or the
Kazatomprom Mining Participant (in the case of the Mining Partnership)
reasonably believes that the deadlock will have a materially detrimental effect on
the operation or profitability of the Fuel Partnership or the Mining Partnership, as
applicable;

CGNPC-URC ceasing to hold a participatory interest in the Fuel Partnership;

a material breach to the Cooperation Agreement is committed by either of
CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, CGNPC Mining Participant or their affiliates (other than
the government of the PRC) which is not remedied within 60 business days;

CGNPC and CGNPC-URC (acting together) issue a liquidation notice as a result
of the first shipment under the first Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract has not
been despatched on or before the Initial FA Purchase Obligation Due Date, being
28 February 2020, or CGNPC Mining Participant issues a liquidation notice
pursuant to the constitutional documents of the Mining Partnership, or
CGNPC-URC issues a liquidation notice pursuant to the constitutional documents
of the Fuel Partnership;

subject to certain exceptions, any step for the Fuel Project and/or the Mining
Project is not completed on or before the due date stipulated in the Cooperation
Agreement provided such delay is not attributable to, or due to, Kazatomprom,
UMP or Kazatomprom Mining Participant’s default in performing its obligations,
and such delay has not been remedied within 60 business days after the applicable
due date; and

on the date falling 24 months from the date when the first order is received by
the Fuel Partnership under the first Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract, the Fuel
Partnership has not delivered any shipment of its products under the Long Term
Fuel Assembly Contract with respect to that order.

— 13 —
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The Put Option

It was also stipulated in the Cooperation Agreement that, CGNPC, CGNPC-URC and
CGNPC Mining Participant shall have the right exercisable any time during the 60 business
days following the occurrence of any of the following events to require (i) UMP to acquire
from CGNPC-URC 100% of its participatory interest in the Fuel Partnership (in whole and
not in part) and (ii) Kazatomprom Mining Participant to acquire from CGNPC Mining
Participant 100% of its participatory interest in the Mining Partnership (in whole and not in
part) at the Old Exercise Price:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

all procedures and steps as stipulated in the constitutional documents of the Fuel
Partnership or the Mining Partnership, as applicable, to solve a deadlock having
been exhausted and failed and CGNPC-URC (in the case of the Fuel Partnership)
or CGNPC Mining Participant (in the case of the Mining Partnership) reasonably
believes that the deadlock will have a materially detrimental effect on the
operation or profitability of the Fuel Partnership or the Mining Partnership, as
applicable;

CGNPC Mining Participant ceasing to hold any participatory interest in the
Mining Partnership;

a material breach to the Cooperation Agreement is committed by Kazatomprom or
UMP or their affiliates (other than the government of Kazakhstan) which is not
remedied within 60 business days;

Kazatomprom and UMP (acting together) issue a liquidation notice pursuant to the
Cooperation Agreement as a result of the first shipment under the first Long Term
Fuel Assembly Contract has not been despatched on or before the Initial FA
Purchase Obligation Due Date, being 28 February 2020, or Kazatomprom Mining
Participant issues a liquidation notice pursuant to the constitutional documents of
the Mining Partnership, or UMP issues a liquidation notice pursuant to the
constitutional documents of the Fuel Partnership;

subject to certain exceptions, any step for the Fuel Project and/or the Mining
Project is not completed on or before the due date as stipulated in the
Cooperation Agreement provided such delay is not attributable to, or due to,
CGNPC, CGNPC-URC or CGNPC Mining Participant’s default in performing its
obligations, and such delay has not been remedied within 60 business days after
the applicable due date;

on the date falling 12 months from the date of execution of the mining purchase
agreement, CGNPC Mining Participant’s participatory interest in the Mining
Partnership has not been vested to, and legally owned by, the CGNPC Mining
Participant through state registration; and

occurrence of any Call Option Triggering Event provided that such event is not

caused by the default of CGNPC, CGNPC-URC or CGNPC Mining Participant in
performing their obligations.
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Exercise price of the Call Option and Put Option

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the exercise price of the Call Option and the
Put Option shall be the Old Exercise Price, being the market value of the relevant interest as
at the date of the exercise notice as agreed by Kazatomprom and CGNPC, or in the absence
of agreement, determined by a chartered accountant or valuer appropriately licensed pursuant
to the laws of Kazakhstan from any of the big four accounting firms.

The Old Exercise Price has been superseded by the New Exercise Price in accordance
with the Further Cooperation Agreement. For details, please refer to the rows “Exercise
Price of the Buy-back Right” and “Adjustment to the exercise price of the Put Option and
the Call Option” under the section headed “The Further Cooperation Agreement — Major
terms” below.

Latest status of the Fuel Project

Ulba-FA, the Fuel Partnership, has been established between UMP and CGNPC-URC in
December 2015 whereas a fuel assemblies fabrication plant is currently under construction in
Kazakhstan and production is expected to commence in late 2021 with the first delivery of
fuel assemblies to take place in 2022.

The Mining Principles Agreement

In relation to the Mining Project, reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 4 October 2016 whereas the Company and Kazatomprom entered into the
Mining Principles Agreement pursuant to which, among other matters:

(i) the Company confirmed its selection of the mining deposits, subject to result of
due diligence;

(i) Kazatomprom shall procure that its rights and obligations under the relevant
subsoil use contracts and any other contracts identified by Kazatomprom as
expressly relating to the mining deposits identified together with the relevant
assets owned by Kazatomprom be transferred into the Mining Partnership;

(iii) Kazatomprom will sell and CGNPC Mining Participant will buy 49% interests in
the Mining Partnership by entering into a mining purchase agreement; and

(iv) the parties shall off-take the share in the total uranium product of the Mining
Partnership in proportion to their interests, provided that if the off-take is not
sufficient to ensure the procurement of 20,000 tonnes of uranium by the Company
or its affiliate during the life of the Fuel Partnership, Kazatomprom shall ensure
that such further off-take is made available to the Company or its affiliate from
its entitlement of the off-take from the Mining Partnership and the Company or its
affiliate shall be required to accept such further uranium off-take unless CGNPC
and CGNPC Mining Participant irrevocably waive in writing their right to claim
non-compliance with the relevant clause of the Cooperation Agreement.
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The amendment agreement to the Mining Principles Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6 December 2016, the
Company and Kazatomprom entered into the amendment agreement to the Mining Principles
Agreement to adjust the participatory interest of CGNPC Mining Participant to a percentage
which will allow it to share on balance reserves of 19,600 tonnes of uranium.

Latest status of the Mining Project

The Company continued to negotiate with Kazatomprom and conduct due diligence on
the Mining Partnership, the Target Interest and the Target Mines and entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement on 22 April 2021 to materialize the Mining Project by acquiring
the Target Interest. In addition, the Further Cooperation Agreement has also been entered to
change and update provisions of cooperation of the parties under, among others, the
Cooperation Agreement and the Mining Principles Agreement.

Relationship between the Mining Project and the Fuel Project

The Mining Project and the Fuel Project relates to different stages of nuclear fuel
production. As it is the national policy of Kazakhstan that state-owned natural resources
shall be developed together with the technological development of the nation, the parties
agree to proceed with both projects rather than only the Mining Project or only the Fuel
Project as part of the cooperation among the parties to the Cooperation Agreement in the
nuclear energy industry. Accordingly, the Mining Project and the Fuel Project are
inter-conditional.

The chart below illustrates the value chain for the nuclear energy industry:

Mining Project Fuel Project
— —
' assemblies
Key:

U denotes element uranium
O denotes element oxygen
F denotes element fluorin
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THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Major terms

The major terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement are as follows:

Date

Parties

Subject matter

Conditions precedent

22 April 2021

e Kazatomprom
e CGNM UK

Kazatomprom agreed to sell and CGNM UK agreed to
acquire the Target Interest, being 49% interest in
Ortalyk, at the Consideration of USD 435,071,181

The Completion of the Acquisition shall be subject to
the occurrence of:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

the execution and entering into force of the
Further Cooperation Agreement

the execution and entering into force of the Long
Term Fuel Assembly Contract under the Fuel
Assembly Purchase Obligation

the execution and entering into force of the
contract in relation to the Fuel Pellets
Manufacturing Services Purchase Obligation

the receipt by Kazatomprom of a record number
assigned to the Sale and Purchase Agreement by
the National Bank of Kazakhstan as required by
the relevant currency control law of Kazakhstan
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(e) the receipt by Kazatomprom of decision of its
board of directors in relation to the disposal of the
Target Interest and approval of the draft
Shareholders’ Agreement, the draft Constitutional
Document and the draft Off-Take Agreement

(f) the receipt by Kazatomprom of the resolution of
permission from the government of Kazakhstan
regarding the transfer of the Target Interest

(g) the receipt by CGNM UK of the approval of the
Acquisition by its board of directors and the
Company (as its sole shareholder)

(h) the receipt by CGNM UK of the approval for
entering into force of the Shareholders’
Agreement and the Constitutional Document by its
board of directors

(1) the receipt by CGNM UK of the approval by the
Independent Shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules and such other competent authorities
as required from time to time pursuant to the
legislation of the United Kingdom, the PRC and
Hong Kong

(j) Kazatomprom having procured Ortalyk continue
to conduct its business and to operate the Target
Mines in the ordinary course and not to carry out
other activities which will have a material adverse
effect on the operations or assets of Ortalyk from
the Valuation Date to the Completion Date

(k) there having no encumbrances existing over any
of the material properties or assets of Ortalyk
which have material adverse effect on the
operations or assets of Ortalyk

CGNM UK shall use all reasonable endeavors to satisfy
Conditions (a) to (c) and (g) to (i) and use all
reasonable endeavors to assist Kazatomprom in
satisfying Conditions (d) to (f).

Kazatomprom shall use all reasonable endeavors to
satisfy Conditions (a) to (f), (j) and (k) and use all
reasonable endeavors to assist CGNM UK in satisfying
Conditions (g) to (i).
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Long Stop Date

Pre-completion obligation

Completion

The Conditions may only be waived by the written
agreement of CGNM UK and Kazatomprom to the
extent that such waiver will not result in breach of any
applicable law.

CGNM UK and Kazatomprom shall use all reasonable
endeavors to procure that the Conditions are satisfied
as soon as possible, but in any event not later than the
Long Stop Date of 30 June 2021.

If all of the Conditions are not satisfied or waived on
or before the Long Stop Date, all the provisions of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement shall lapse and cease to
have effect except for the surviving provisions which
mainly  relate  to  termination,  confidentiality,
qualification of warranties, third party rights, governing
law and other administrative matters.

Kazatomprom shall procure Ortalyk continue to
conduct its business and to operate the Target Mines in
the ordinary course and not to carry out other activities
which will have a material adverse effect on the
operations or assets of Ortalyk from the Valuation Date
to the Completion Date.

Kazatomprom shall not announce or distribute any
dividends from Ortalyk from the Valuation Date to the
date of transfer of the Target Interest to CGNM UK;
and if any dividends have been made during such
period, the corresponding amount shall be deducted
from the Consideration.

Completion shall take place within thirty calendar days
from the date on which the last of the Conditions is
satisfied or waived or such other date as CGNM UK
and Kazatomprom may agree, but not later than the
Long Stop Date, where the parties shall sign a
completion certificate in an agreed form to confirm (i)
fulfillment and/or waiver of all Conditions and (i)
effective from the date of re-registration, CGNM UK
will be a participant of Ortalyk holding 49%
participatory interest.
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Payment

Zhalpak subsoil use right and
Sell-back Right

Call Option, Put Option and
Buy-back Right

Within one day after the Completion, CGNM UK and
Kazatomprom shall hold a general meeting of Ortalyk
to approve and sign the Shareholders’Agreement and
the Constitutional Document. Kazatomprom shall
thereafter procure that Ortalyk shall file for
re-registration of Ortalyk with the authorised state body
in connection with change in the composition of the
participants of Ortalyk and such re-registration shall be
completed no later than the Long Stop Date.

If the re-registration fails to be completed on or before
the Long Stop Date for any reason, Kazatomprom and
CGNM UK should settle the matter through friendly
negotiation. In case the agreement cannot be reached,
CGNM UK shall have the right to request
Kazatomprom to refund the Consideration paid, and
Kazatomprom shall refund such amount within three
days thereafter.

The Consideration shall be credited to an account of
Kazatomprom not later than three business days before
the Completion.

Kazatomprom shall use best endeavors to obtain the
New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement' no later than 31
December 2021 and to transfer all rights and
obligations under the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement to Ortalyk subject to reimbursement of
actually incurred costs of Kazatomprom by Ortalyk of
not more than US$200,000.

If Ortalyk fails to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement by 31 December 2021, CGNM UK has the
right to require Kazatomprom to buy-back the Target
Interest in the same mechanism as the exercise of the
Buy-back Right under the Further Cooperation
Agreement.

The parties acknowledge and confirm that, subject to
fulfillment or waiver of the Conditions, each of the
Call Option, the Put Option and the Buy-back Right
shall be granted and take effect upon Completion.
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Warranties by Kazatomprom

If the liability of Ortalyk in respect of any accumulated
amount of outstanding taxes and penalties, which were
arising from any act or omission of Ortalyk before
CGNM UK became the participant of Ortalyk, exceeds
US$2,000,000 and Kazatomprom shall become liable
for 49% of the excess amount, Kazatomprom should
reimburse to CGNM UK 49% of such excess amount
within 30 business days after the tax authorities make a
final decision on the tax liabilities and such a
reimbursement amount should be considered as a
reduction of the Consideration.

In addition, Kazatomprom represents and warrants to
CGNM UK that the warranties set out in the Sale and
Purchase Agreement are true, accurate and not
misleading in all respects, including, among other
warranties, that:

(a) Ortalyk has no outstanding obligations under any
loan or other financial arrangement, except those
that are disclosed in financial statement.

(b) Ortalyk has not received any notice or other
communication indicating that its business has
been conducted in violation of applicable laws,
regulations and other requirements of the
government entities having jurisdiction over
Ortalyk and the Target Interest except for those
that were disclosed to CGNM UK within the due
diligence of Ortalyk.

(c) Ortalyk has formed the liquidation fund required
under the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use
Agreement and the Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement.

(d) Ortalyk is not a party to any contract that will
have a material adverse effect on its operations or
assets, which is other than on an arm’s length
basis or in the ordinary course.
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Limitation on liabilities of
Kazatomprom

Termination

Kazatomprom shall not be liable for in respect of any
individual claim pursuant to or in relation to the
warranties of Kazatomprom where the liability in
respect of any such claim does not exceed US$200,000.
Where the liability agreed or determined in respect of
any such claim and related claims exceeds US$200,000,
Kazatomprom shall be liable for the full amount of the
claim and not just the excess.

Kazatomprom shall not be liable in respect of any
claim pursuant to or in relation to the warranties of
Kazatomprom unless the aggregate amount of all such
claims exceeds US$400,000. Where the liability agreed
or determined in respect of all such claims exceeds
US$400,000, Kazatomprom shall be liable for the full
amount of the claim or series of claims as agreed or
determined and not just the excess.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement shall terminate:

(a) in the event of the termination of the Further
Cooperation Agreement

(b) upon mutual written agreement of Kazatomprom
and CGNM UK

(c) at any time prior to Completion, unilateral
termination by  Kazatomprom = where any
warranties given by CGNM UK are inaccurate or
untrue, or have been breached, provided that
written notification being served by Kazatomprom
to CGNM UK and a cure period of thirty calendar
days from the date of such notice has been given

(d) at any time prior to Completion, unilateral
termination by CGNM UK where any warranties
given by Kazatomprom are inaccurate or untrue,
or have been breached, provided that written
notification being served by CGNM UK to
Kazatomprom and a cure period of thirty calendar
days from the date of such notice has been given
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(e) at any time prior to Completion, notice by CGNM
UK upon supplemental disclosure being made by
Kazatomprom against warranties given by
Kazatomprom which in CGNM UK’s reasonable
opinion is material in the context of the
Acquisition, provided that written notification
being served by CGNM UK to Kazatomprom and
a cure period of thirty calendar days from the date
of such notice has been given

Tax gross-up If CGNM UK is required by law (other than any taxes
or fees which shall be borne by Kazatomprom
according to the laws of Kazakhstan) to make a
deduction or withholding in respect of any sum payable
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement, CGNM UK
shall make a payment of such additional amount as
shall be required to ensure that the net amount received
by Kazatomprom will equal to the full amount which
would have been received by it had no such deduction
or withholding been required to be made.

Note:

1. For background and details of the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement, please refer to the sub-section
headed “The New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement” below.

The New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement

As the Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement only provides the right for exploration
on the Zhalpak Deposit and has expired, Ortalyk is required to obtain the subsoil extraction
right for the Zhalpak Deposit by obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement in order
to extract and sell the natural uranium content therein. It is expected that the New Zhalpak
Subsoil Use Agreement will be in the usual format of subsoil use agreement adopted by the
government of Kazakhstan in relation to grant of extraction right, which will stipulate that
the agreement owner shall have the right to extract and export materials produced and set
out the territory of the Zhalpak Deposit and other requirements and obligations of the
agreement owner, such as technological parameters, ecological and radiation safety
parameters, capital commitment, obligation to employ local labours, develop and maintain
the social infrastructure in the region and provision of professional trainings to Kazakhstan
specialists.

In accordance with the requirements of the Subsoil Code, subsoil extraction rights are
only granted in the form of a subsoil use agreement to a national company in the field of
uranium, i.e. Kazatomprom. Accordingly, the parties agreed that Kazatomprom shall first
obtain the extraction right of the Zhalpak Deposit by entering into the New Zhalpak Subsoil
Use Agreement with the relevant authority of the Kazakhstan government and transfer the
New Zhaplak Subsoil Use Agreement to Ortalyk on or before 31 December 2021.
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The State Commission on Mineral Reserves of Kazakhstan approved a feasibility study
of the industrial conditions of the Zhalpak Deposit on 4 February 2020. Subsequently,
application to the competent authority has been made by Kazatomprom on 21 September
2020 for participation in direct negotiations for the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement
and the uranium reserves report as of 2 January 2020 for Zhalpak Deposit was considered
and approved by the State Commission on Mineral Reserves of Kazakhstan on 30 September
2020. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Kazatomprom is waiting for response in its
application for direct negotiation from the relevant authorities for entering into the New
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement and, to the best knowledge of the Directors after making
reasonable enquiries, there is no outstanding condition or requirement required to be fulfilled
pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations prior to obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil
Use Agreement or any legal impediment for Kazatomprom to obtain the New Zhalpak
Subsoil Use Agreement.

To the best knowledge of the Directors after making reasonable enquires, no external
approval is required or legal impediment exists for Kazatomprom to transfer the New
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement to Ortalyk and Kazatomprom may transfer the New Zhalpak
Subsoil Use Agreement to Ortalyk by entering into a contract addenum. To protect the
interest of the Group, should Ortalyk fails to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement by 31 December 2021, CGNM UK has the right to exercise the Sell-back Right
to require Kazatomprom to buy-back the Target Interest.

Off-take Arrangement

In addition, to give effect to the off-take arrangement of products of Ortalyk stipulated
under the Cooperation Agreement and allow the parties to share the output of the Target
Mines in proportion to their interests, it is expected that Kazatomprom, the Company and
CGNM UK will enter into the Off-take Agreement prior to the Completion pursuant to
which, the parties will agree that they shall have the obligation to acquire the natural
uranium concentrates produced by Ortalyk in proportion to their respective participation
interests, as follows:

(i) Kazatomprom shall acquire 51% of Ortalyk’s total annual production; and

(ii)) the Company or CGNM UK shall acquire 49% of Ortalyk’s total annual
production,

subject to the Guaranteed Entitlement' of 20,000 tonnes of uranium? in stipulated under the
Mining Principles Agreement.

Notes:

1. CGNPC will undertake that, should CGNM UK agree to waive the Guaranteed Entitlement, CGNPC
shall execute all such necessary documents to give effect to the waiver in an undertaking to be given
prior to the EGM.

2. Notwithstanding the Company and Kazatomprom entered into the amendment agreement to the

Mining Principles Agreement to adjust the interest of the Company or its affiliate in the mining
partnership to a percentage which will allow it to share on balance reserves of 19,600 tonnes of
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uranium as disclosed in the section headed “Background of the Acquisition” above, the parties agreed
that the guaranteed entitlement of the Company and CGNM UK shall remain to be 20,000 tonnes of

uranium after negotiation.
Term

The Off-take Agreement shall come into force from the date CGNM UK becomes a
participant of Ortalyk until the earlier of (i) the date CGNM UK exits from participation in
Ortalyk or (ii) the end of the commitment period of the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation
under the Cooperation Agreement (according to the Cooperation Agreement, the commitment
period of the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation shall be purchasing fuel assemblies for a
continuous period of twenty years, and the first delivery is currently expected to take place
in 2022), provided that, if by the end of the commitment period, Ortalyk continues to
operate, the Company or CGNM UK shall continue to acquire the product of Ortalyk in
proportion to its participation interests but the total off-take volume of the Company and/or
CGNM UK shall not exceed 20,000 tonnes of uranium.

It is expected that Ortalyk will carry out liquidation procedure upon depletion of both
of the Target Mines and CGNM UK will exit from participation in Ortalyk upon completion
of such procedure, and, accordingly, the Off-take Agreement will then cease to have effect
pursuant to the terms of the Off-take Agreement.

Given the purpose of the Off-take Arrangement is to allow the holders of the equity
interest of Ortalyk to share the product of Ortalyk, the Directors believe that it is necessary
that the terms of the Off-take Agreement exceed three years to ensure that the Group will be
able to share the output of Ortalyk and to protect the interest of the Company in Ortalyk.
Gram Capital has confirmed in its letter to the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in this circular that it is normal business practice for agreements
of this type to be of such duration in accordance with Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules.

Pricing mechanism

The price of the natural uranium concentrates under the Off-take Arrangement shall be
the average arithmetic value of spot price of natural uranium published and effective as of
the date of delivery published by TradeTech and UxC (being leading providers of uranium
prices and independent third parties), respectively, minus a 2% discount, and in the case of
Kazatomprom only, less the transportation cost undertaken by Kazatomprom. Ortalyk
engages Kazatomprom to deliver its products to its customers (such as the Group) and is
required to pay the relevant delivery fees and, in respect of the sales to Kazatomprom, such
delivery fees shall be deducted from the price of the purchase as transportation cost. The
price of natural uranium concentrates to be paid by the Group and Kazatomprom,
respectively, can be illustrated by the following formulas:

Price per pound of natural uranium .
. = Spot 0.98
to be paid by the Group pot price x 0.9
Price per pound of natural uranium

to be paid by Kazatomprom = Spot price x 0.98 — Transportation cost
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Key:

Spot price means the average arithmetic value of natural uranium spot
price indicators published by TradeTech and UxC,
which are published and effective as of the date of
delivery

Transportation cost means transportation cost undertaken by Kazatomprom

Proposed Annual Caps

The Company proposes the following annual caps in relation to the Off-take
Arrangement between 2021 and 2040:

Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Annual cap (tonnes of natural uranium) 466 941 1206 1,324 1471 1,644 1,588 1531

Year 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
Annual cap (tonnes of natural uranium) 1,469 2,111 2298 1,908 849 579 487 79

Year 2037 2038 2039 2040  Total
Annual cap (tonnes of natural uranium) 100 100 100 100 20,351

The Proposed Annual Caps between 2021 and 2036 are determined based on the
mining schedule of the Target Mines contained in the Competent Person Report multiplied
by the 49% proportionate share of the Group under the Off-take Arrangement, plus a 20%
buffer to cater for any potential production fluctuation or year-end cut off adjustment, and
adjusted as follows:

(a) in respect of 2021, further multiplied by 0.5 to reflect the fact that the
Completion of the Acquisition is expected to take place in or around June 2021;

(b) in respect of 2030, addition of 700 tonnes to cover for potential additional
off-take upon exercise of the Guaranteed Entitlement; and

(c) in respect of 2031 to 2036, addition of such amount resulting the entire scheduled
output of the Target Mines being off-taken by the Group to reflect the potential
additional off-take upon exercise of the Guaranteed Entitlement.

It is expected that the Guaranteed Entitlement, if exercised, will only be exercised in
later years since the parties will then have a more certain estimate on the remaining output
of the Target Mines.

The Proposed Annual Caps between 2037 and 2040 are determined to be 100 tonnes
per year with reference to the estimated production of the final years based on the mining
schedule of the Target Mines to cater for any additional production of the Target Mines or
adjustment of or delay in production schedule of the Target Mines.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.53(1) of the Listing Rules, an annual cap must be set in respect
of the a continuing connected transaction and such annual cap must be expressed in
monetary terms. However, (i) as the price of natural uranium under the Off-take
Arrangement will be based on the natural uranium price indicators published by TradeTech
and UxC published and effective as of the date of delivery, such price may varies from
month to month and is out of control of the Group and Kazatomprom; and (ii) since the
term of the Off-take Agreement is expected to be more than 15 years save for occurrence of
any unforeseen event, it would be more difficult to estimate future natural uranium prices
for such a long period.

As illustrated in the chart below, the natural uranium spot price has reached a price of
over US$130 per pound in 2007 from below US$10 per pound in 2001 and subsequently
decreased to a price of below US$20 per pound in 2016 and 2017, representing a difference
of over ten times between the lowest and highest price during the past twenty years:
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Accordingly, the Company has applied and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver
from strict compliance with Rule 14A.53(1) of the Listing Rules such that annual caps
expressed in monetary terms for the Off-take Arrangement is not required, on the conditions
that:

(i) an annual cap expressed in fixed quantum will be proposed in the announcement
of the Company in relation to the Off-take Arrangement and this circular for the
Independent Shareholders’ approval;

(ii) this circular will disclose a sensitivity analysis illustrating how changes in the
natural uranium prices affect the value of the Off-take Arrangement;
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(iii) the Company will, during the term of the Off-take Agreement, disclose in its
annual report the transaction amount under the Off-take Agreement during the
relevant financial year and comply with the annual review by independent
non-executive Directors and auditor requirement (including disclosing the
confirmations from the independent non-executive Directors and the auditors in
relation to the transactions conducted under the Off-take Agreement during the
relevant financial year in its annual report) as required under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules; and

(iv) Gram Capital will explain and confirm in this circular that it is normal business
practice for contracts of this type to be of such duration.

The Company will monitor the actual production of the Target Mines through its
involvement in the management of Ortalyk as described in the section headed “Information
on Ortalyk and the Target Mines - Management of Ortalyk” below to ensure compliance
with the Proposed Annual Cap and, in case the Proposed Annual Cap is expected to be
exceeded, the Company will comply with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules,
include obtaining Independent Shareholders’ approval if applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

To illustrate how different natural uranium spot prices affect the monetary values under
the Off-take Arrangement, the table below sets forth the estimated annual transaction amount
between 2021 and 2040, assuming a volume equals to the Proposed Annual Caps has been
off-taken in each year, under the following scenarios: (i) the spot price has remained at
US$135.5, being the highest average natural uranium spot price indicators published by
TradeTech and UxC during the past twenty years, throughout the year; (ii) the spot price has
remained at US$28.9, being the most recent natural uranium spot price indicators published
by TradeTech and UxC, throughout the year; and (iii) the spot price has remained at
US$18.0, being the lowest average natural uranium spot price indicators published by
TradeTech and UxC since its historic high of US$135.5 in 2007, throughout the year.

Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Annual cap (tonnes of natural
uranium) 466 941 1,206 1,324 1,471 1,644 1,588 1,531
Annual transaction amount
(US$ million)
at US$135.5 per pound of
natural uranium 1642 3315 4249 4664 5182 579.2 5595 5394
at US$28.9 per pound of
natural uranium 35.0 70.7 90.6 995 1105 1235 1193  115.0
at US$18.0 per pound of
natural uranium 21.8 44.0 56.4 62.0 68.8 76.9 74.3 71.7
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Year 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
Annual cap (tonnes of natural
uranium) 1,469 2,111 2,298 1,908 849 579 487 79
Annual transaction amount
(US$ million)
at US$135.5 per pound of
natural uranium 517.5 74377 809.6  672.2  299.1 2040 171.6 27.8
at US$28.9 per pound of
natural uranium 1104 1586 1727 1434 63.8 43.5 36.6 5.9
at US$18.0 per pound of
natural uranium 68.7 98.8  107.5 89.3 39.7 27.1 22.8 3.7
Year 2037 2038 2039 2040  Total
Annual cap (fonnes of natural
uranium) 100 100 100 100 20,351

Annual transaction amount
(US$ million)
at US$135.5 per pound of

natural uranium 35.2 35.2 35.2 352 17,169.7
at US$28.9 per pound of
natural uranium 7.5 7.5 1.5 7.5 1,529.2
at US$18.0 per pound of
natural uranium 4.7 4.7 4.7 47 9524
Implementation

To give effect to the Off-take Arrangement and to set out details of the Off-take
Arrangement for each particular year, Kazatomprom and the Company or CGNM UK will
sign contracts with Ortalyk annually for off-take of its products, setting out details of the
off-take, such as quantity, product specification, delivery arrangement and schedule of
delivery.

Legal effect

Although the consequences of breach of the Off-take Agreement will not be stipulated
in the Off-take Agreement, in the event that the Group or Kazatomprom does not perform
their respective off-take obligation, the other party shall have the legal right to commence
legal action and seek for damages or specific performance on the Off-take Agreement.
Furthermore, as the board of directors of Ortalyk will be controlled by Kazatomprom, being
holder of its 51% participatory interests, should Ortalyk unreasonably refuses to sign the
annual contract for implementing the Off-take Arrangement and Kazatomprom fails to
procure Ortalyk to sign such contract, the Group may commence legal action against
Kazatomprom to enforce the Off-take Agreement and/or have the right to exercise the Put
Option by virtue of Kazatomprom not performing the Off-take Arrangement stipulated in the
Cooperation Agreement.
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The Shareholders’ Agreement

To specify the rights and obligations of CGNM UK and Kazatomprom in relation to
Ortalyk and its management, CGNM UK and Kazatomprom will enter into the Shareholders’
Agreement within one day after the Completion pursuant to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement. The major terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement are as follows:

Legal status Ortalyk is a separate legal entity and is not liable for the
obligations of its participants and the participants (i.e.
CGNM UK and Kazatomprom) are not liable for the
obligations of Ortalyk.

Objectives e Make profits in the interest of its participants

e Development of mutually beneficial trade, economic,
scientific and technical cooperation in the field of
exploration, production, processing and sale of
uranium products

e Development and operation of one or more deposits to
meet the demand of the Fuel Partnership provided that
the terms and conditions are agreed between the
participants

e Other objectives that do not contradict the legislation
of Kazakhstan, its Constitutional Document and the
Shareholders’ Agreement
Capital The capital of Ortalyk is 27,164,074,000 Tenge and the
ratio of participatory interests of the Kazatomprom and
CGNM UK are as follows:

e Kazatomprom — 51%

e CGNM UK - 49%
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Rights of participants

The participants of Ortalyk shall have the follow rights,
subject to the legislation of Kazakhstan:

Participate in the management of the Ortalyk’s
activities

Receive information about Ortalyk’s activities and get
acquainted  with  its  accounting and  other
documentation

Receive income from Ortalyk’s activities

Receive part of Ortalyk’s property corresponding to its
participatory interests in case of liquidation of Ortalyk

Terminate participation in the Partnership by
alienating its participatory interests

Challenge decisions of Ortalyk in court

Appoint external auditors to conduct the audit of

Ortalyk at own expenses and upon prior notification
of Ortalyk

Purchase, on a priority basis, products, works and
services that are produced by Ortalyk in accordance
with the Off-take Agreement

Exercise other rights provided for by the legislation of
Kazakhstan, the Constitutional Document, the
Cooperation Agreement and the Further Cooperation
Agreement
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Obligations of
participants

Management

The participants of Ortalyk shall have the following
obligations:
e Comply with the requirements of the Constitutional

Document
Make contributions to Ortalyk’s capital in a manner,
amount and time provided for by the Constitutional

Document

Not to disclose confidential information of Ortalyk or
infringe the intellectual property rights of Ortalyk

Notify the general director of Ortalyk changes in their
particulars (such as name and address) and legal status
(such as initiation of liquidation procedures)

Properly fulfill their obligations to Ortalyk

Assist and help Ortalyk in running its business

Refrain from any and all actions that may cause
damage or harm to Ortalyk or another participant

Perform other duties stipulated by the legislation of
Kazakhstan and the Constitutional Document

Management of Ortalyk shall be conducted by the
following governing bodies:

@)

(i1)

(iii)

The
bod

The general meeting, being the highest management
body of Ortalyk

The supervisory board, which aims at protection of
participants’ interests, exercise control over the
financial and economic activities of Ortalyk and the
activities of the general director

The general director, the executive body of Ortalyk
that manages its current activities

participants have the right to create a monitoring
y, i.e. an audit committee or an auditor.
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Constituent of the
supervisory board

Right of CGNM UK to
recommend employees

Deadlock

Distribution of income

The Buy-back Right

The supervisory board of Ortalyk shall consist of five
members for the term of office not exceeding five years,
out of which three members shall be nominated by
Kazatomprom and two members shall be nominated by
CGNM UK

The general director of Ortalyk should nominate eight
employees expatriated by CGNM UK according to CGNM
UK’s recommendation for the following positions:

e One deputy general director who holds the position of
chief financial officer concurrently

e Seven deputy heads of structural divisions responsible
for production, finance, procurement and planning,
etc., among which:

e one employee shall concurrently assume the
position of joint corporate secretary of Ortalyk
who shall have the right of getting access to the
reports and documents and attend the supervisory
board meeting

e one employee shall assume the position of deputy
director for Central Mynkuduk Deposit

e one employee shall assume the position of deputy
director for Zhalpak Deposit

Upon occurrence of a deadlock situation and service of a
deadlock notice, each participant shall procure its
representative to meeting with a representative of the
other participant to negotiate in good faith with a view to
resolving the deadlock. The parties acknowledge and
agree that the maximum deadline for resolving a deadlock
situation is one year from the date of the first deadlock
notice of such deadlock incident.

Net income received by Ortalyk shall be distributed
between the participants only based on the results of its
business activities for a year in accordance with the
participants’ participatory interest in accordance with the
dividend policy approved by the general meeting of
Ortalyk.

The Buy-back Right has been repeated in the
Shareholders’ Agreement.
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Restrictions on transfers Each participant agrees that it shall not sell, assign,
and pledges of the transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of, pledge or
participatory interests  otherwise encumber its participatory interest except with

the written consent of the other participant, provided that
the new transferee must:

e assume all obligations of the transferring
participant and duly execute the terms of all the
relevant agreements as if it were a party to them
and have the financial capability to satisfy all of
such obligations;

e acquire all the participatory interests held by the
transferring participant; and

e receive all approvals from state authorities of
Kazakhstan necessary for it to become a
participant of Ortalyk.

Basis of determination of the Consideration

The Consideration was determined based on the valuation of the market value as at the
Valuation Date of the Target Interest of US$435,071,181 by an independent third party
valuer engaged by Kazatomprom.

The Company expects to settle the Consideration in one lump sum three days before
the Completion. The Directors consider that interest of the Company can be safeguarded
notwithstanding payment is made in one lump sum three days prior to Completion as
Kazatomprom is a company listed on, among others, the London Stock Exchange and is
obliged to return the payment if Completion does not take place.

The Directors consider that the Consideration is fair and reasonable after taking into
consideration of (i) the valuation of the Target Interest of US$367 million to US$504 million
as of 31 December 2020 by the Valuer, an independent third party valuer engaged by the
Company, where the Consideration falls approximately on the mid-point of the valuation and
the valuation utilised the discounted cashflow method based on the forecasted natural
uranium price published by UxC and TradeTech, which are widely adopted by uranium
industry players, and are referenced in many fuel contracts and financial projections and (ii)
the prevailing and forecasted natural uranium prices as the uranium price is in the historical
low range since 2007 and it is foretasted by UxC and TradeTech that the future natural
uranium prices is in an upward trend.

The Valuer derived the valuation utilising the discounted cash flows method and the
comparable transactions method and based on the following key assumptions:

° There would be no material change in the existing political, legal, fiscal, foreign
trade and economic conditions in Kazakhstan.
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There would be no significant deviation in the industry trends and market
conditions from the current market expectation.

There would be no material change in interest rates or foreign currency exchange
rates from those currently prevailing.

There would be no major change in the current taxation law in Kazakhstan and in
the origin of the comparable companies.

All relevant legal approvals, business certificates or licenses for the normal course
of operation are formally obtained, in good standing and that no additional costs
or fees were needed to procure such during the application.

Future revenue growth for the mineral asset would conform to those forecasted
based on production schedule and uranium price projections.

The amount of capital expenditure would conform to those forecasted by the
Competent Person.

The amount of operating costs would conform to those forecasted by the
Competent Person.

The production schedule and reserve movement over the projection period would
conform to those forecasted by the Competent Person.

Ortalyk would retain competent management, key personnel, and technical staff to
support the ongoing business operations.

As per Chapter 18 Listing Rules 18.33 (6), the valuation of the mineral asset must
be limited to measured and indicated resources only; therefore, the valuation will
not include any inferred resources.

Exploration licenses can be renewed when expired without any legal or
operational barriers at an immaterial, minimal cost.

No material legal risks related to sub-soil use license for Zhalpak Deposit.

Subsoil use agreements can be renewed under similar terms and conditions in
time.

As exports are not subject to VAT, the valuation is on an ex-VAT basis. Uranium
price forecast is not subject to VAT and capital expenditure estimation are on
pre- VAT basis.

While the competent person report covers the economic benefits of the entire

mineral assets, the valuation also attempts to establish the value of the 49%
equity interest of the Target Company that the Company intended to acquire.
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e No material changes of the operations since last site inspection in November
2019.

In addition, when determining the valuation range using the discounted cash flows
method, the Valuer derived the market value based on (i) the production schedule, capital
expenditures and operating expenditures prepared by the Competent Person as reported in
the Competent Person Report in Appendix IV to this circular; (ii) forecasted natural uranium
price based on (a) forecast made by TradeTech and UxC and (b) spot price quoted by
TradeTech and UxC as at the valuation date with an inflation adjustment based on the
average inflation rate of the world of 3.18% published by Statista; and (iii) discount rate of
10.6% for Central Mynkuduk Deposit and 11.3% for Zhalpak Deposit.

According to the Valuation Report, the comparable transaction method under the
market approach was utilised because sufficient amount of comparable transactions with
adequate information can be found and such method adequately reflects the market opinion
of the mineral assets. The discounted cash flows method of the income approach was
utilised because (a) the market value of the mineral asset is determined by the ability to
generate a stream of benefits in future; (b) economic benefit streams of the mineral asset
could be identified based on historical and projected cash flows prepared by the management
of the Company; (c) important parameters for the discounted cashflow analysis can be
reasonably estimated or relied on with acceptable accuracy; and (d) income approach is
suitable for valuing producing projects according to the Australasian Code for Public
Reporting of Technical Assessments and Valuations of Mineral Assets.

To the best knowledge of the Board after making reasonable enquiries, each of the
Competent Person and the Valuer is an Independent Third Party and the Board considers
them competent to issue the Competent Person Report and the Valuation Report, as the case
may be, as (i) the Competent Person consists of members with education background in
geology and mining related disciplines, extensive experience of up to 39 years in the area
and satisfies the definition of a competent person under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules; and
(ii) the Valuer consists of members with education background in mining and engineering
science and over 10 years of experience in the valuation of uranium mineral assets and
satisfies the definition of competent evaluator under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors consider that the valuation methods, key assumptions and parameters
adopted by the Valuer are fair and reasonable based on their collective experience,
judgements and due diligence on the legal matters, financial information and operation of
Ortalyk and the reserve and mining schedule of the Target Mines as well as taking into
consideration of the Off-take Arrangement. In particular, the Directors consider that the
parameters used in the discounted cash flows method are fair and reasonable in that:

(a) the forecasted production, capital expenditures and operating expenditures are
reported by the Competent Person in the Competent Person Report and the team
members of the Competent Person have extensive experience in mining industry
and competent in preparing the Competent Person Report under Chapter 18 of the
Listing Rules as discussed above;
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

(h)

the forecasted production in respect of Central Mynkuduk is in line with its
historic production capacity;

the capital expenditures and operating expenditures forecasted by the Competent
Person is consistent with the experience of the Company in its investment in other
natural uranium deposits;

Ortalyk will be able to generate a stable stream of revenue by selling its
production under the Off-take Arrangement;

all the products of Ortalyk is expected to be exported and thus will not attract any
value-added tax under the prevailing laws of Kazakhstan;

the discount rate of 10.6% and 11.3% for Central Mynkuduk Deposit and Zhalpak
Deposit, respectively, are reasonable taking into account of the risks and
uncertainty involved in natural uranium mining industry and

a. the selection of long term Kazakhstan government bond yield as risk free
return for equity is reasonable given the Target Mines are located in
Kazakhstan and expected to operate for a long term,;

b.  the equity risk premium and size premium were determined with reference to
the publications of reputable academics;

c.  the systematic risk beta has made reference to public companies which are
comparable to Ortalyk;

d. no specific risk premium requirement has been identified in the due
diligence process of Ortalyk by the Company; and

e. the selection of Kazakhstan bank lending rate is reasonable given the Target
Mines are located in Kazakhstan;

the baseline scenario provides a more prudent estimate of future natural uranium
prices which only took into account of potential inflation without taking into
account potential increase in natural uranium prices as a result of depletion of
uranium deposits with lower production costs as explained in the section headed
“5. INDUSTRY OVERVIEW OF THE URANIUM MARKET - Uranium demand
and supply” under “Further Information on Ortalyk™ in this circular; and

the consensus scenario has been derived by the forecasted uranium prices
published by TradeTech and UxC which are leading market research companies
widely adopted by uranium industry players and are referenced in many fuel
contracts.

On the other hand, based on their experience in the natural uranium mining industry,
the Directors consider that the selection of comparable transactions by the Valuer for the
valuation under comparable transactions method is fair and reasonable in that the Valuer has
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considered 30 transactions in the past 10 years and eliminated transactions that have material
differences such as differences in size and development stage and has taken into account the
differences in natural uranium prices on different date of transaction. In addition, it is
reasonable to exclude inferred resources of the Target Mines from the Valuation given the
unique nature of inferred resources and the requirements of Rule 18.30(3) of the Listing
Rules.

The Directors have also considered the other assumptions assumed by the Valuer and
consider that such assumptions are fair and reasonable as (a) there is no reason for the
Directors to believe that there will be material change to the natural uranium market or the
operational environment of Kazakhstan; (b) the Directors have conducted due diligence on
legal compliances of Ortalyk with satisfactory results; and (¢) Kazatomprom has undertaken
to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement, failing which the Group will have the
right to exercise the Sell-back Right.

Fulfillment status of Conditions

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Conditions have been waived and, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Conditions have been fulfilled other than
Conditions (a) and (e).

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Conditions may only be waived to
the extent that such waiver will not result in breach of any applicable law. As such,
Conditions (d), (e), (f), (g) and (i) may not be waived by the parties. In addition, the Group
has no current intention to waive any of the other Conditions.

Reasons for and benefits of entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Off-take Agreement

The Directors consider that the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of Buy-back Right and the Call
Option and the Off-take Arrangement) are on normal commercial term or better to the
Group, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole, after taking
into consideration of the factors set out below.

Enlarging the scale of high-quality uranium assets held by the Group at favourable price

The Acquisition is one of the key steps in implementing the Company’s strategy of
exploring and acquiring high-quality resources as disclosed in the periodic reports of the
Company. Based on the mining schedule of the Target Mines and the 49% entitlement of the
Group under the Off-take Arrangement, the estimated attributable resources of the Group
after Completion will increase by 85% from approximately 23ktU to 43ktU. In addition, the
per unit production cost of Ortalyk is lower than Semizbay-U, another legal entity held by
the Company as to 49% which operates the Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine in Kazakhstan,
based on their respective financial information.
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The uranium price is in the historical low range since 2007. With low-cost uranium
resources gradually depleted in the next five to ten years and projected demand exceeding
the current level of supply, the Directors believe that marginal uranium production cost
would increase over time and the international natural uranium price will raise in the
foreseeable future.

Accordingly, the Directors consider that the Acquisition is a good opportunity for the
Group to acquire interest in natural uranium deposits based on a valuation determined with
reference to the prevailing natural uranium price.

Secure stable supply of uranium and improving the financial performance of the Group

As a result of the Acquisition together with the Off-take Arrangement, the Group will
not only acquire a 49% interest in Ortalyk but also secure the products of the Target Mine in
proportion to its interest subject to the Guaranteed Entitlement of 20,000 tonnes of uranium.
Based on the mining schedule of the Target Mines, it is estimated that the Group will be
able to purchase over 1,000 tonnes of natural uranium per annum from Ortalyk between
2023 and 2031. Such reliable source of natural uranium from Ortalyk at two percent
discount over the international natural uranium spot price will be able to provide a reliable
source of revenue and profit to the natural uranium trading business of the Group.

Based on such “participation interest plus off-take” model and given Kazatomprom is
also obliged to purchase natural uranium from Ortalyk at comparable price in proportion to
its interest, the Group can further benefit from any increase in international natural uranium
spot prices as the Group is able to share the profit of Ortalyk, being accounted for as an
associate using the equity method, in proportion to its interest.

As a result, the Group will be able to continue expand its natural uranium trading
business through the off-take arrangement and enjoy positive cash flow from the share of
profit of Ortalyk with a view to create long-term value for the Shareholders.

Deepening the Cooperation with Kazatomprom

According to World Nuclear Association, Kazatomprom is the world’s largest uranium
producer in 2019, with production representing 22% of world’s total uranium production.
The competitive edge of Kazatomprom lies with uranium mining technology, underpinned by
use of the in-situ recovery mining method, which offers structural cost advantage and
production flexibility. According to UxC, Kazatomprom average production costs are
consistently in the first tier of the global uranium production cost curve which benefited
from unique advantage of geological conditions, experienced management team,
characteristic mining method and depreciation of Tenge.

In addition, Kazatomprom is the national operator for import and export of uranium of
Kazakhstan, and Kazakhstan, being the largest producer of uranium in the world in 2019,
has a geological advantage over Canada and Australia, being the second and third largest
uranium producers in the world in 2019, as it locates between Asia and Europe which are
the continents that the Company’s subsidiaries locate.
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The Directors believe that the Acquisition and the Off-take Arrangement would deepen
the cooperation between Kazatomprom and the Company, which can create opportunities for
further cooperation with Kazatomprom.

Expertise in investing in natural uranium deposits

The Cooperation Agreement serves as the framework agreement for the overall strategic
cooperation in nuclear energy field between CGNPC and Kazatomprom on a long term and
mutually beneficial basis, which includes the development of the Fuel Project and the
Mining Project, being different stages of production of nuclear fuel for use in nuclear power
plant for electricity generation. With its experience in investing in different natural uranium
resources and managing its investment, such as the 49% interest in Semizbay-U which
operates the Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine and the approximately 15.01% interest in
Fission, a Canadian-based resource company, the Group has the expertise to participate in
the Mining Project and to evaluate and assess the Target Mines and to manage the
investment in Ortalyk.

Financial effect of the Acquisition

Approximately 30% of the Consideration will be settled by internal resources of the
Group and the remaining 70% of the Consideration will be settled by borrowings, which
may include utilisation of the unutilised facilities of approximately US$784 million as of 31
March 2021 and potential acquisition financing or other loans to be obtained by the Group.
Such unutilised facilities mainly include (i) an unutilised facility of US$300 million, which
is unsecured and not guaranteed, with interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% to be repaid in or
before May 2023; (ii) an unutilised facility of US$300 million, which is unsecured and not
guaranteed, with interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.5% to be repaid within three years from the
first withdrawal; and (iii) an unutilised facility of US$84 million, which is unsecured but
guaranteed by the Company, with interest rate of LIBOR plus a margin between 0.6% and
1.5% to be repaid within one year from drawdown.

Upon Completion, Ortalyk will not become a subsidiary of the Company and shall be
accounted for as an associate using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. As a result, Ortalyk will initially be recognized in the statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of Ortalyk.

Assuming the Acquisition had been completed on 31 December 2020, (i) the total
assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 would have increased from approximately
HK$4,187.8 million to HK$6,630.6 million; (ii) the total liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2020 would have increased from approximately HKS$2,160.7 million to
HK$4,610.5 million; and (iii) the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 would
have decreased from HK$2,027.1 million to HK$2,020.1 million.

In addition, assuming the Acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2020, the profit
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have decreased from HK$155.2
million to HK$109.6 million. However, assuming the Off-take Arrangement has also come
into effect on 1 January 2020, the adjusted pro form profit of the Group for the year ended
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31 December 2020 shall be HK$159.8 million, representing an increase of HK$4.6 million
from the audited profit of the Group of HK$155.2 million, taking into account of the
HK$50.3 million profit generated from the sales of such volume off-taken by the Group. The
profit generated from the sales of the off-take volume is calculated based on (i) the sales
volume of 1,288tU by Ortalyk in 2020 and the 49% off-take volume by our Group; (ii) the
2% discount from the spot price under the Off-take Arrangement; (iii) profits tax of 16.5%;
and (iv) the average long term price in 2020. As the sales of such off-take volume is not
directly attributable to Acquisition, the inclusion of such profit is not a measure in
accordance with Chapter 4 of the Listing Rules and the adjusted pro form profit of the
Group is provided in addition to the pro forma profit of the Group for the information of the
Shareholders and potential investors.

Furthermore, the profitability of Ortalyk would have been improved, which in turn
improves the pro forma share of results of Ortalyk by our Group if there had been no
production reduction as a result of COVID-19 which reduced the sales volume for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to 1,288tU as compare to its annual production capacity of
2,000tU.

For details, please refer to the unaudited pro forma financial information in Appendix
III to this circular.

There is no financial or capital commitment by the Group on Ortalyk.
INFORMATION ON ORTALYK AND THE TARGET MINES
Information on Ortalyk

Ortalyk is a legal entity wholly owned by Kazatomprom immediately prior to the
Acquisition, established in the form of a limited liability partnership in Kazakhstan and is
principally engaged in the exploration of the Target Mines, mining and processing of
uranium-containing ores and production of natural uranium. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, Ortalyk held the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use Agreement and was in the course of
obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement through Kazatomprom.

Management of Ortalyk

Ortalyk is managed by its general director, who is assisted by deputy general directors
and supervised by its supervisory board.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the CGNM UK shall have the right to
nominate two out of the five members of the supervisory board while Kazatomprom shall
have the right to nominate the remaining three members of the supervisory board. In
addition, CGNM UK shall have the right to nominate one deputy general director who holds
the position of chief financial officer concurrently, and seven deputy heads of structural
divisions responsible for production, finance, procurement and planning, etc., among which
(i) one employee shall concurrently assume the position of joint corporate secretary of
Ortalyk who shall have the right of getting access to the reports and documents and attend
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the supervisory board meeting; (ii) one employee shall assume the position of deputy
director for Central Mynkuduk Deposit; and (iii) one employee shall assume the position of
deputy director for Zhalpak Deposit.

In addition, to safeguard the interest of the Group in Ortalyk, certain matters require
unanimous consent or super-majority approval in the general meeting of Ortalyk pursuant to
the Constitutional Document, including (i) amendment of the Constitutional Document, (ii)
approval of dividend policy, (iii) reorganisation or liquidation of Ortalyk, (iv) decision to
make additional contribution to Ortalyk, (v) decision to pledge all the assets of Ortalyk, (v)
approval of one or a series of transactions which relates to 51% or more of the total book
value of the assets of Ortalyk other than sales of uranium and (v) a decision relating to the
Off-take Agreement.

Ortalyk shall mainly be operated by Kazatomprom, its major shareholder, and the
Group will involve in the operational management of Ortalyk and to ensure the completion
of its annual production plan and fulfillment of the off-take amount under the Off-take
Arrangement through the team of personnel appointed and dispatched by the Group who will
act as the deputy general director of Ortalyk, the deputy directors of the two Target Mines
and deputy heads of key departments of Ortalyk. The Group will also strive to maximize the
return of the shareholders of Ortalyk as a whole through the team dispatched by exerting
influences on mining production and in the areas of financial, operation, procurement,
planning and distribution of profits as well as corporate governance.

In the unlikely event that Kazatomprom operates Ortalyk in a way detrimental to
CGNM UK or fails to operate Ortalyk at all, the Group may invoke the relevant provisions
of the Shareholders’ Agreement, including that each of Kazatomprom and CGNM UK, being
participants of Ortalyk, are required to assist and help Ortalyk in running its business and
that CGNM UK shall have the right to participate in the management of Ortalyk’s activities
and challenge decisions of Ortalyk in court, and, in extreme case, may exercise the Put
Option to require Kazatomprom to acquire the Target Interest from CGNM UK at the then
prevailing market price of the Target Interest to be determined by a professional valuer. For
the associated risk factor, please refer to “6. RISK FACTORS - Acquisition of a
non-controlling interest” under “Further Information on Ortalyk”™ in this circular.

Information on the Target Mines
The Target Mines are located in the Shu-Saryshu Uranium Province in southern

Kazakhstan. Set out below is the statement of mineral resources of the Target Mines as at 31
December 2020:
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Area Class

Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Total

Central Mynkuduk

Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Total

Zhalpak

Total Measured
Indicated

Inferred

Total

Financial information of Ortalyk

Quantity
Mt

21.3
81.8
1.5
104.6

31.0
15.7
46.7

21.3
112.8
17.3
151.4

Contained

Uranium Uranium
grade metal
% 000t
0.025 5.3
0.027 22.1
0.036 0.5
0.027 28.0
0.032 9.8
0.029 4.5
0.035 14.3
0.025 5.5
0.028 31.9
0.029 5.0
0.028 42.3

The table below sets forth certain key financial information of Ortalyk for the years

ended 31 December 2019 and 2020:

Revenue

Profit before income tax
Profit after income tax
Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Valuation of the Target Interest

As at/For the year ended
31 December

2019 2020
(US$°000) (US$°000)
96,277 94,904
39,700 48,414
31,137 38,542
123,794 120,250
21,380 16,275
102,415 103,975

According to the valuation on the Target Interest by the Valuer as set out in Appendix

V to this circular, the valuation range of the Target Interest as at 31 December 2020 is
US$367-504 million. For details, please refer to the Valuation Report in Appendix V to this

circular.

Additional Information

For further information on Ortalyk, the Target Mines and the related industry overview

and risk factors, please refer to the section headed “Further Information on Ortalyk™ in this

circular.
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THE FURTHER COOPERATION AGREEMENT

Major terms

The major terms of the Further Cooperation Agreement are as follows:

Date

Parties

Purpose

The Mining Project

Implementation
schedule of the
Mining Project

22 April 2021

Kazatomprom

UMP

CGNPC
CGNPC-URC

the Company
Ulba-FA

CGNM UK

Beijing Sino-Kazakh

Change and update provisions of cooperation of the parties
under, among others, the Cooperation Agreement and the
Mining Principles Agreement

The Parties agreed that CGNM UK shall be a participant of
Ortalyk and has obligations with respect to Ortalyk, as further
detailed in the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Further
Cooperation Agreement, and take obligations to perform all
obligations as a participant of Ortalyk. CGNM UK agreed and
took obligations to perform the obligation as a participant of
Ortalyk as provided for in each of the Cooperation Agreement,
Mining Principles Agreement and other relevant agreements.

Kazatomprom and the Company agreed to wupdate the
implementation schedule for the Mining Project, including,
among others:

(i) use reasonable endeavors to sign the Sale and Purchase
Agreement before 1 April 2021

(ii) use reasonable endeavors to agree on the draft of the
Shareholders” Agreement, the Constitutional Document
and the Off-take Agreement in principle before 1 April
2021
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Implementation
schedule of the
Fuel Project

(iii) use reasonable endeavors to send the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and any other documents contemplated
thereunder to all involved competent authorities of
Kazakhstan and PRC for approval before 1 April 2021

(iv) use reasonable endeavors to obtain resolution of the
government of Kazakhstan permitting the transfer of the
Target Interest no later than three months after obtaining
the necessary corporate decisions for entering into the
Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Acquisition

(v) complete the transfer of the Target Interest to CGNM UK
within one month after fulfillment of all conditions below:

a. execution and entry into force of the Further
Cooperation Agreement

b. execution and entry into force of the Long Term
Fuel Assembly Contract

c. execution and entry into force of contracts for the
Fuel Pellets Manufacturing Services Purchase
Obligation

d. obtaining the necessary decisions of the board of
directors of Kazatomprom

e. obtaining resolution of the government of
Kazakhstan on permission to the transfer of the
Target Interest

(vi) Kazatomprom shall use best endeavours to obtain the New
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement by 30 June 2021 and
under no circumstance later than 31 December 2021

The parties shall use reasonable endeavours to sign the first
Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract before 31 December 2020
and make it effective within three months and agree on the
timeline for delivery of the fuel assemblies thereunder.

The parties agreed that the Initial FA Purchase Obligation Due
Date as referred in the Put Option Triggering Events and the
Call Option Triggering Events shall be changed to 31
December 2022.

The parties further agreed to ensure the economic efficiency of

the Fuel Project as detailed in the Further Cooperation
Agreement.
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Certification for
the Fuel
Partnership

Early termination
of the Fuel
Project

Uranium purchase
obligation

Fuel Pellets
Manufacturing
Services
Purchase
Obligation

CGNPC-URC shall use best endeavors to obtain and maintain
in full force all permits require for the smooth transfer of fuel
assemblies and their acceptance and transportation of the fuel
assemblies across the PRC territory and shall provide or
procured to be provided to the Fuel Partnership sufficient
containers licensed in PRC required for timely delivery of fuel
assemblies to the PRC.

CGNPC-URC guaranteed to recognize Ulba-FA as the certified
supplier of fuel assemblies, after completion of its qualification
process on the precondition that Ulba-FA meets the
certification requirements of CGNPC-URC, based on design
estimates and plant design approved by participants of Ulba-FA
prior to the start of construction of the fuel assemblies
fabrication plant. CGNPC-URC and Ulba-FA are obliged to
agree on certification requirements in the form of a program
for the recognition of Ulba-FA as a certified supplier no later
than 31 May 2021.

In the event that the Fuel Project is terminated before
CGNPC-URC finishes the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation,
CGNPC-URC shall be obliged, until the termination of the
activities of Semizbay-U or the resumption of the Fuel Project
or otherwise agreed by the parties, to order pellets
manufacturing  services from UMP for the amount
corresponding to the Off-take of Semizbay-U’s natural uranium
based on participatory interest in Semizbay-U of Beijing
Sino-Kazakh.

CGNPC-URC or one of its affiliates shall purchase a total of
2,000 tonnes of natural uranium from Kazatomprom based on a
prescribed schedule between 2021 to 2023 at the price of the
arithmetical average of the month-end spot price indicators
published by UxC and TradeTech for the three consecutive
months prior to a reference point of time minus a 2.5%
discount.

If Kazatomprom fails to complete the Acquisition on or before
the Long Stop Date, Kazatomprom shall, upon CGNPC-URC or
one of its affiliate’s request, have the obligation to buy back
the natural uranium purchased at the same price and cancel the
delivery of the remaining natural uranium.

CGNPC-URC shall engage UMP to provide fuel pellets

manufacturing services of 608.5 tonnes of uranium based on a
prescribed schedule from 2021 to 2030.
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Buy-back of the
Target Interest

Exercise price of
the Buy-back
Right

Upon occurrence of any of the following events, CGNM UK
shall, at the request at Kazatomprom, sell the Target Interest to
Kazatomprom no later than six months from the date of such
request at the New Exercise Price:

(a) delivery of the first batch of fuel assemblies under the
first Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract has not taken
place by 31 December 2022

(b) production and/or dispatch and/or delivery of fuel
assemblies to PRC, under any Long Term Fuel Assembly
Contract has not been performed within any twelve
consecutive months

(c) any Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract being terminated
or not executed before the expiry date of the previous
Long Term Fuel Assembly Contract, or there is a dispute
regarding the termination of Long Term Fuel Assembly
Contract

(d) the Fuel Project is terminated before CGNPC-URC
finishes the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation

(e) failure by CGNPC-URC to perform the Fuel Pellets
Manufacturing Services Purchase Obligation save for
cases when such failure is occurred due to fault of UMP

(f) upon CGNM UK or any of its affiliates that perform one
or more obligations under the Further Cooperation
Agreement conduct a merger event and the resulting legal
entity unable, fail or refuse to assume the obligations of
the Company, CGNM UK or its affiliates in relation to
the Buy-back Right

(g) when CGNM UK is no longer an affiliate of CGNPC or
CGNPC losing control over CGNM UK

The exercise price of the Buy-back Right shall be the fair
market value of the Target Interest as of the last day of the
month of the exercise notice as determined by a valuer
appropriately licenced pursuant to the laws of Kazakhstan from
any of the big four accounting firms with expertise in valuing
assets of the nature concerned and agreed by Kazatomprom and
CGNPC, less any dividend received by CGNM UK from
Ortalyk between the valuation date to the date of transfer of
the Target Interest.
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Adjustment to the
exercise price of
the Put Option
and the Call
Option

New cooperation

opportunities

Termination

Guarantee

The parties agreed that the exercise price of the Put Option and
the Call Option shall be the same as the exercise price of the
Buy-back Right, being the New Exercise Price and the timing
for the transfer of the interest in Ortalyk shall be same as the
Buy-back Right

The parties agreed to work jointly to study the possibility of
cooperation on uranium resources exploration, mining,
radioactive waste disposal and other potential areas.

The Further Cooperation Agreement shall remain effective until
the earliest of:

(a) the parties unanimously agree in writing to terminate the
Further Cooperation Agreement

(b) the Fuel Partnership or the Mining Partnership has been
liquidated

(c) all rights and obligations in the Further Cooperation
Agreement have been fully exercised and performed

(d) transfer of the Target Interest has not been completed on
or before 30 June 2021 unless CGNPC-URC agrees to
extend such date

Each of CGNPC and Kazatomprom guarantees the due and
punctual performance of their respective relevant subsidiaries
of the relevant present and future obligations under the Further
Cooperation Agreement, the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
other relevant agreements.

Undertakings by CGNPC and CGNPC-URC

To protect the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, CGNPC and
CGNPC-URC will undertake prior to the EGM that:

(i) so long as the Company or its subsidiaries is holding an interest in Ortalyk, the
Put Option may not be exercise by CGNPC and/or CGNPC-URC without the
consent of the Company;

(ii) so long as the Company or its subsidiaries is holding an interest in Ortalyk,
CGNPC will not agree on the selection of valuer for determining the New
Exercise Price without the consent of the Company;

(iii) CGNPC-URC will not agree on extension of the completion deadline of the
Acquisition in relation to the termination of the Further Cooperation Agreement
without the consent of the Company; and
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(iv) should the Company agree to extend the completion deadline in relation to the
termination of the Further Cooperation Agreement, CGNPC-URC will do all such
acts to give effect to the extension of the completion deadline.

The Call Option, the Put Option and the Buy-back Right

The Directors consider that the Call Option, the Put Option and the Buy-back Right
serve as exit arrangement for the parties in relation to the cooperation of the Fuel Project
and the Mining Project as they can only be exercised upon occurrence of certain triggering
events, such as occurrence of deadlock event, failure or delay of the Fuel Project or breach
of the Further Cooperation Agreement.

In addition, in the event that Kazatomprom decides to exercise the Call Option or the
Buy-back Right upon the occurrence of any Call Option Triggering Event or Buy-back
Event, the New Exercise Price in respect of the Target Interest shall be the then market price
of the Target Interest determined by an independent valuer and, accordingly, the interest of
the Group can be protected and CGNM UK shall be able to benefit from any increase in
value of the Target Interest.

INFORMATION OF THE PARTIES
The Group

The Group is principally engaged in investment and development of natural uranium
resources and trading of natural uranium products with the Company principally engaged in
trading of natural uranium products.

CGNM UK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the United
Kingdom and is principally engaged in uranium trading and investment in uranium
resources.

Beijing Sino-Kazakh is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC and is principally engaged in property investment and is also holding 49% interest in
Semizbay-U, which in turn is interested in two natural uranium mines in Kazakhstan.

CGNPC and CGNPC-URC

CGNPC-URC is a company established in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
holding approximately 64.82% of the issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquiries, CGNPC-URC is one of the few enterprises in the PRC which is
authorised to manage nuclear fuels and deal with the import and export of natural uranium.
The core businesses of CGNPC-URC are to: (i) manage the supply of nuclear fuels for
CGNPC; and (ii) deal with the import and export trade of the PRC and overseas natural
uranium and related products.
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Founded on 29 September 1994, CGNPC is a large clean energy enterprise under the
supervision of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council of the PRC. CGNPC together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the generation and sale of electricity, construction, operation and management of nuclear
power projects and non-nuclear clean energy projects.

Kazatomprom

Kazatomprom is the largest global producer of natural uranium with priority access to
one of the world’s largest high-quality resource bases in the industry. Kazatomprom
produced approximately 22% of the world’s total uranium production in 2019 according to
World Nuclear Association. Kazatomprom is the national operator of Kazakhstan for import
and export of uranium and its compounds, rare metals, nuclear fuel for nuclear power plants,
special purpose equipment and technologies.

The securities of Kazatomprom are listed on the London Stock Exchange and Astana
International Exchange and is owned as to 75% by sovereign wealth fund of Kazakhstan. As
the national atomic company in Kazakhstan, its primary customers are operators of nuclear
generation capacity, and principal export markets for its products are China, South and
Eastern Asia, Europe and North America.

UMP

UMP is a wholly owned subsidiary of Kazatomprom. It is one of the world leaders in
terms of production of beryllium, tantalum, and niobium, as well as uranium-based fuel
bricks for nuclear power stations.

Ulba-FA

Ulba-FA is owned as to 51% by UMP and 49% by CGNPC-URC, which mainly
engages in fabrication of fuel assemblies and their components.

GENERAL

Save for exploration of opportunities to acquire competitive overseas uranium resource
projects with low cost as part of the Group’s development strategy as disclosed in the
periodic reports of the Company, the Board has no current plan to conduct acquisition of
new business or disposal of existing business in the next 12 months and the Company has
not entered into any agreement, arrangement, understanding or negotiation, whether formal
or informal, express or implied, to acquire new businesses or dispose of any of its existing
businesses.
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LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) of the Acquisition is more than
100%, the Acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the Company and is
subject to the notification, announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

Furthermore, each of the Sell-back Right, the Buy-back Right, the Call Option and the
Put Option constitutes an option under Rule 14.72 of the Listing Rules.

As the exercise of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option are not at the discretion of
the Group, and the exercise price, which is to be determined by an independent valuer,
cannot be ascertained at this stage, the Company, after having taken into consideration of the
transaction classification of the Acquisition, voluntarily classified each of the grant of the
Buy-back Right and the Call Option as a very substantial disposal of the Company and is
subject to the notification, announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding being stipulated in the Cooperation Agreement and the Further
Cooperation Agreement, respectively, instead of being stipulated in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, each of the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option would be subject to
the Shareholders’ approval as (i) the Sale and Purchase Agreement, which is subject to
Shareholders’ approval, stipulated that, among other matters, each of the Buy-back Right
and the Call Option shall be granted and take effect upon Completion of the Acquisition;
and (ii) the Buy-back Right and the Call Option would not have any effect without the
transfer of the Target Interest under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

In relation to the acceptance of the Sell-back Right and the Put Option, as the exercise
of which is at the discretion of the Group and no premium has been paid by the Group in
relation to obtaining the Sell-back Right and the Put Option, the acceptance of the Sell-back
Right and the Put Option do not constitute notifiable transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rule.

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

As at the Latest Practicable Date, CGNPC, the controlling shareholder of the Company
is indirectly holding 67.17% of the issued Shares, among which 64.82% of the issued Shares
is held by China Uranium Development, its wholly-owned indirect subsidiary. CGNPC-URC
is the intermediate holding company, being a subsidiary of CGNPC and the sole shareholder
of China Uranium Development. Accordingly, each of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC is a
connected person of the Company.

Notwithstanding the Sale and Purchase Agreement was only entered into between
CGNM UK (being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Kazatomprom and the
Off-take Agreement will only be entered into between the Company, CGNM UK and
Kazatomprom, as the Acquisition is inter-conditional with the Fuel Project, Kazatomprom
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shall be deemed as a connected person of the Company and, accordingly, (i) the entering
into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting, announcement,
circular (including the independent financial adviser) and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements; and (ii) the entering into of the Off-take Agreement constitutes a
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular (including the independent financial
adviser), Independent Shareholders’ approval, annual reporting and annual review
requirements. In addition, as the term of the Off-take Agreement exceeds three years, the
Company has appointed Gram Capital to explain, in the “Letter from Gram Capital” in this
circular, why the agreement requires a longer period and to confirm that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such duration.

In addition, as the Buy-back Right and the Call Option are to be granted to
Kazatomprom by the Group and the Sell-back Right and the Put Option are to be granted by
Kazatomprom to the Group, each of the grant of Buy-back Right, Call Option and
acceptance of the Sell-back Right and the Put Option constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the grant of the
Buy-back Right and the Call Option are subject to the reporting, announcement, circular
(including the independent financial adviser) and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

Notwithstanding being stipulated in the Cooperation Agreement and the Further
Cooperation Agreement, respectively, instead of being stipulated in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, each of the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option would be subject to
the Independent Shareholders’ approval as (i) the Sale and Purchase Agreement, which is
subject to Independent Shareholders’ approval, stipulated that, among other matters, each of
the Buy-back Right and the Call Option shall be granted and take effect upon Completion of
the Acquisition; and (ii) the Buy-back Right and the Call Option would not have any effect
without the transfer of the Target Interest under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

On the other hand, each of the acceptance of the Sell-back Right and the Put Option
constitutes fully-exempted connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Rule 14.76 of
the Listing Rules as (i) the exercise of each of the Sell-back Right and the Put Option is at
the discretion of the Group and (ii) no premium has been paid by the Group in relation to
obtaining the Sell-back Right and the Put Option, and is exempted from the reporting,
announcement, circular (including the independent financial adviser) and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.

The Company will comply with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules as and

when appropriate in relation to the exercise (or non-exercise) of the Sell-back Right and the
Put Option, including Independent Shareholders’ approval if applicable.
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ABSTAIN FROM VOTING

Mr. Yu Zhiping, Mr. An Junjing, Mr. Chen Deshao, Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu
have abstained from voting on the relevant board resolutions approving the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder as each of Mr. Yu, Mr.
An, Mr. Chen, Mr. Yin and Mr. Sun is considered to have a material interest in the
resolutions by virtue of their directorial and/or managerial positions in CGNPC-URC.

INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee consisting Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis, being independent non-executive Directors, has been established
to advise the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of Call Option and Buy-back
Right and the Off-take Arrangement).

INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

Gram Capital has been appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of Call Option and Buy-back Right
and the Off-take Arrangement) and to explain why the Off-take Arrangement requires a
period longer than three years and to confirm that it is normal business practice for
agreements of this type to be of such duration in accordance with Rule 14A.52 of the
Listing Rules.

EGM

A notice of the EGM which will be held at Conference Room 1402, 14th Floor, North
Building, CGN Tower, 2002 Shennan Boulevard, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, PRC on 10 June 2021 (Thursday) at 11:00 a.m. is set out on pages EGM-1 to
EGM-4 of this circular. Ordinary resolutions will be proposed at the EGM to seek
Independent Shareholders’ approval for the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call
Option and the Off-take Arrangement).

A form of proxy for use at the EGM is enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you
are able to attend the EGM, please complete and return the enclosed form of proxy in
accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return it to the branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong, as soon as
possible and in any event, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the
EGM or any adjournment thereof (as the case maybe). Completion and return of the form of
proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any
adjournment thereof (as the case maybe) should you so wish and in such event, the proxy
shall be deemed revoked.
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Due to its interest in the Sale and Purchase Agreement, CGNPC and its subsidiaries
will abstain from voting on the resolution approving the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Buy-back Right and the
Call Option and the Off-take Arrangement) at the EGM.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief having made all reasonable enquiries, no Shareholder is required to abstain from
voting on the resolutions to be proposed at the EGM.

The Board confirms that to the best of their knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, as at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no voting trust or
other agreement or other arrangement or understanding (other than an outright sale) entered
into by or binding upon any Shareholder and there was no obligation or entitlement of any
Shareholder whereby he has or may have temporarily or permanently passed control over the
exercise of the voting right in respect of his Shares to a third party, either generally or on a
case-by-case basis.

RECOMMENDATION

As the Directors consider that the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call
Option and the Off-take Arrangement) are on normal commercial term or better to the
Group, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole, the Directors
recommend the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution to be
proposed at the EGM.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the other information set out in the Section headed “Further
Information on Ortalyk™ and Appendices to this circular.

Yours faithfully,

By Order of the Board of
CGN Mining Company Limited
Mr. An Junjing
Chief Executive Officer
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FEREERAT
BB GD CGN con B F OB A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 01164)

25 May 2021
To the Independent Shareholders,
Dear Sir or Madam,

(1) Very substantial acquisition and connected transaction in relation to
the acquisition of 49% interest in Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP
(2) Very substantial disposal and connected transaction in relation to
the grant of Call Option and Buy-back Right
(3) Continuing connected transaction in relation to the Off-take Arrangement

We refer to the circular dated 25 May 2021 of the Company (the “Circular”) of which
this letter forms part. Terms defined in the Circular shall have the same meanings herein
unless the context otherwise requires.

We have been appointed to form the Independent Board Committee to consider and to
advise the Independent Shareholders as to whether, in our opinion, the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement (including grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option and the
Off-take Arrangement) are on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and whether the
respective transactions contemplated thereunder are in the ordinary and usual course of
business the Group and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Gram Capital has been appointed as the Independent Financial Adviser to advise the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders.

We wish to draw your attention to (i) “Letter from the Board” on pages 11 to 54 of the
Circular which contains information of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii) “Letter from Gram Capital” on pages 57 to 79 of
the Circular which contains the advice of Gram Capital in respect of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (iii) “Further Information on
Ortalyk” on pages 80 to 118 of the Circular which contains further information on Ortalyk.

Having taken into account the advice of Gram Capital, we consider that (i) the terms of
the Sale and Purchase Agreement (including grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call
Option and the Off-take Arrangement) are on normal commercial terms and fair and
reasonable; (ii) the Acquisition and the Off-take Arrangement are in the ordinary and usual
course of business the Group; (iii) the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transactions

*  For identification purpose only
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contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Buy-back Right and the Call Option and
the Off-take Arrangement) are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole; and (iii) the Consideration is fair and reasonable.

Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the
ordinary resolution to be proposed at the EGM in respect of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the
Buy-back Right and the Call Option and the Off-take Arrangement).

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
the Independent Board Committee
CGN Mining Company Limited

Mr. Qiu Xianhong Mr. Gao Pei Ji Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis
Independent non-executive Directors
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Set out below is the text of a letter received from Gram Capital, the Independent
Financial Adviser to the Independent Board Committee and Independent Shareholders in
respect of the Transactions, dated 25 May 2021 for the purpose of inclusion in this circular.

g Gram Capital Limited ﬁoom 1209, 127F
. . an Fung Tower
e M &R AR 2 A 88 Connaught Road Central/
173 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong
25 May 2021

To: The Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
of CGN Mining Company Limited

Dear Sir/ Madam,

(1) VERY SUBSTANTIAL ACQUISITION AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE ACQUISITION OF 49%
INTEREST IN MINING COMPANY “ORTALYK” LLP;

(2) VERY SUBSTANTIAL DISPOSAL AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE GRANT OF CALL OPTION AND BUY-BACK RIGHT; AND
(3) CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE
OFF-TAKE ARRANGEMENT

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the Independent Financial Adviser to advise the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the
Call Option and, the Buy-back Right, the acceptance of the Put Option and the Sell-back
Right and the Off-take Arrangement) (the “Transactions”), details of which are set out in
the letter from the Board (the “Board Letter”) contained in the circular dated 25 May 2021
issued by the Company to the Shareholders (the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part.
Terms used in this letter shall have the same meanings as defined in the Circular unless the
context requires otherwise.

With reference to the Board Letter, the Company entered into the Cooperation
Agreement dated 14 December 2015 with CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, Kazatomprom and UMP
to record their respective rights and obligations with respect to the incorporation and
operation of (i) the Fuel Partnership (i.e. Ulba-FA) by CGNPC-URC and UMP to undertake
the Fuel Project to build and operate a fuel assemblies fabrication plant in Kazakhstan; and
(ii) a Mining Partnership to undertake the Mining Project by CGNPC Mining Participant and
Kazatomprom Mining Participant to develop and operate one or more mining deposits in
Kazakhstan. CGNPC Mining Participant has later been identified to be CGNM UK, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the legal entity for carrying out the Mining
Project has later been identified as Ortalyk.
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The Fuel Partnership (i.e. Ulba-FA) has been established between UMP and
CGNPC-URC in December 2015 whereas a fuel assemblies fabrication plant is currently
under construction in Kazakhstan and production is expected to commence in late 2021 with
the first delivery of fuel assemblies to take place in 2022.

In relation to the Mining Project, the Company and Kazatomprom entered into the
Mining Principles Agreement dated 4 October 2016 and an amendment agreement dated 6
December 2016 to the Mining Principles Agreement.

The Company then continued to negotiate with Kazatomprom and conduct due
diligence on the Mining Partnership, the Target Interest and the Target Mines and, on 22
April 2021, entered into (i) the Sale and Purchase Agreement to materialize the Mining
Project by acquiring the Target Interest; and (ii) the Further Cooperation Agreement to
change and update provisions of cooperation of the parties under, among others, the
Cooperation Agreement and the Mining Principles Agreement.

With reference to the Board Letter, the Acquisition constitutes a very substantial
acquisition and connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and is subject to the notification, announcement, circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Please also refer to the section
headed “LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS” of the Board Letter for further implications on
the Buy-back Right, the Call Option, the Sell-back Right and the Put Option.

The Independent Board Committee comprising Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis, being all of the independent non-executive Directors, has been
formed to advise the Independent Shareholders on (i) whether the terms of the Transactions
are on normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable; (ii) whether the Transactions
are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and are conducted in
the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group; and (iii) how the Independent
Shareholders should vote in respect of the resolutions to approve the Transactions at the
EGM. We, Gram Capital Limited, have been appointed as the Independent Financial Adviser
to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in this
respect.

INDEPENDENCE

During the past two years immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date, Gram
Capital was engaged as an independent financial adviser in respect of the major and
continuing connected transactions of the Company as set out in the Company’s circular
dated 9 September 2019. Notwithstanding the aforesaid past engagement, as at the Latest
Practicable Date, we were not aware of any relationships or interests between Gram Capital
and the Company, or any other parties that could be reasonably regarded as a hindrance to
Gram Capital’s independence to act as the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent
Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders.
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BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In formulating our opinion to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders, we have relied on the statements, information, opinions and representations
contained or referred to in the Circular and the information and representations as provided
to us by the Company’s management (the “Management”). We have assumed that all
information and representations that have been provided by the Management, for which they
are solely and wholly responsible, are true and accurate at the time when they were made
and continue to be so as at the Latest Practicable Date. We have also assumed that all
statements of belief, opinion, expectation and intention made by the Directors in the Circular
were reasonably made after due enquiry and careful consideration. We have no reason to
suspect that any material facts or information have been withheld or to doubt the truth,
accuracy and completeness of the information and facts contained in the Circular, or the
reasonableness of the opinions expressed by the Company, its advisers and/or the
Management, which have been provided to us. Our opinion is based on the Management’s
representation and confirmation that there is no undisclosed private agreement/arrangement
or implied understanding with anyone concerning the Transactions. We consider that we
have taken sufficient and necessary steps (including review of the Group’s financial
information for the three years ended 31 December 2020, Ortalyk’s financial information for
the three years ended 31 December 2020, the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Further
Cooperation Agreement, the Competent Person Report, the Valuation Report, the Proposed
Annual Caps, discussion with the Management, the Competent Person and the Valuer, and
independent work performed on the Valuation Report) on which to form a reasonable basis
and an informed view for our opinion in compliance with Rule 13.80 of the Listing Rules.

We have not made any independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities
of Ortalyk, and we have not been furnished with any such evaluation or appraisal, save as
and except for the Valuation Report on the Target Interest as prepared by the Valuer and set
out in Appendix V to the Circular. Since we are not experts in the valuation of company and
mining assets, we have relied upon the Valuation Report for the value of the Target Interest
(the “Valuation™) after performing our independent work on the Valuation Report as set out
under the sub-section headed “The Valuation Report” of this letter.

The Circular, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in the Circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or the Circular misleading. We, as the Independent Financial Adviser,
take no responsibility for the contents of any part of the Circular, save and except for this
letter of advice.

We consider that we have been provided with sufficient information to reach an
informed view and to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. We have not, however,
conducted any independent in-depth investigation into the business and affairs of the Group,
CGNPC, Kazatomprom, Ortalyk or their respective subsidiaries or associates (if applicable),
nor have we considered the taxation implication on the Group or the Shareholders as a result
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of the Transactions. Our opinion is necessarily based on the financial, economic, market and
other conditions in effect and the information made available to us as at the Latest
Practicable Date. Shareholders should note that subsequent developments (including any
material change in market and economic conditions) may affect and/or change our opinion
and we have no obligation to update this opinion to take into account events occurring after
the Latest Practicable Date or to update, revise or reaffirm our opinion. In addition, nothing
contained in this letter should be construed as a recommendation to hold, sell or buy any
Shares or any other securities of the Company.

Lastly, where information in this letter has been extracted from published or otherwise
publicly available sources, it is the responsibility of Gram Capital to ensure that such
information has been correctly extracted from the relevant sources while we are not
obligated to conduct any independent in-depth investigation into the accuracy and
completeness of those information.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In arriving at our opinion in respect of the Transactions, we have taken into
consideration the following principal factors and reasons:

Information on the Group

With reference to the Board Letter, the Group is principally engaged in investment and
development of natural uranium resources and trading of natural uranium products with the
Company principally engaged in trading of natural uranium products.

Set out below are the audited consolidated financial information of the Group for the
three years ended 31 December 2020 as extracted from the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “2019 Annual Report”) and annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020 Annual Report”):

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended

31 December 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 2,862,226 2,076,688 1,625,974

Natural uranium trading 2,859,214 2,073,449 1,623,859

Property investment 3,012 3,239 2,115

Gross profit 202,766 143,905 131,824
Profit attributable to owners of

the Company 155,217 160,009 122,066

As illustrated by the above table, the Group’s revenue and gross profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”) increased by approximately 27.72% and 9.16%
respectively, as compared to those for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”) and
further increased by approximately 37.83% and 40.90% respectively, for the year ended 31
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December 2020 (“FY2020”) as compared to those for FY2019. With reference to the 2019
Annual Report and 2020 Annual Report, the aforesaid increase in revenue and gross profit
was mainly due to the fact that CGN Global Uranium Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) (“CGN Global”) aggressively expanded the global market and achieved
significant increase in sales volume and trading revenue of natural uranium.

Along with the increase in the Group’s revenue and gross profit, the profit attributable
to owners of the Company for FY2019 increased by approximately 31.08% as compared to
that for FY2018. With reference to the 2019 Annual Report, such increase was mainly due to
increase in the Group’s gross profit, significant growth in share of results of joint venture
and significant decrease in operating expenditures as compared with those of FY2018. The
Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company for FY2020 decreased by
approximately 2.99% as compared to that for FY2019. With reference to the 2020 Annual
Report, the slight decrease in profit attributable to owners of the Company was mainly due
to (i) decrease in interest income; (ii) recognition of share of loss of an associate; (iii)
increase in finance costs; and (iv) increase in income tax expenses, offset by the increase in
gross profit.

With reference to the 2020 Annual Report, as the COVID-19 epidemic rebounded at the
end of 2020 in Canada and Kazakhstan, major producers of uranium in the world and certain
natural uranium mines stopped production. Since the industry has been starved of capital
investment for years, and there were no new uranium projects receiving sufficient capital for
development in the market, it will be difficult for new projects to form new production
capacity rapidly even if natural uranium prices rise in the short term. Therefore, although the
global supply of natural uranium is expected to recover in 2021, it is unlikely to recover to
the level before the outbreak of the epidemic, and the market demand will continue to
exceed production and the inventory of the natural uranium will be further consumed. The
Company will strengthen its business dealings with end customers, such as global nuclear
power plants owners, actively participate in international market bidding, deepen its analysis
of market conditions and counterparties’ behaviours, seize market opportunities, develop new
business models and actively explore new trading opportunities to ensure the achievement of
annual trade targets. The Company will also strive to implement the relevant completion
work on “New Kazakhstan Uranium Projects” (which is now being materialised by
conducting the Transactions) and will seek for potential uranium resource investment
opportunities in major uranium-producing regions such as Central Asia and Africa.
Furthermore, the Company will seek for establishing strategic cooperative relationships with
internationally renowned uranium producers and traders to study the feasibility of joint
development of uranium projects in various modes.

Information on Ortalyk and the Target Mines

With reference to the Board Letter, Ortalyk is a legal entity wholly owned by
Kazatomprom immediately prior to the Acquisition, established in the form of a limited
liability partnership in Kazakhstan and is principally engaged in the exploration of the
Target Mines (i.e. the Central Mynkuduk Deposit and the Zhalpak Deposit), mining and
processing of uranium-containing ores and production of natural uranium. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, Ortalyk held the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use Agreement and was in the
course of obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement through Kazatomprom.
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With reference to the Circular, the Target Mines are located in the Shu-Sarysu basin in
South Kazakhstan Province of Kazakhstan.

The Central Mynkuduk Deposit commenced production in 2007 and produced
approximately 19,800 tonnes of uranium as of 31 December 2020. The annual production
capacity of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit is 2,000 tonnes of uranium while production for
FY2019 has been limited to 1,600 tonnes of uranium due to falling uranium prices. Based
on the current production schedule, the operation of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit is
scheduled to run until 2033.

The Zhalpak Deposit conducted test production between 2017 and April 2020 and
produced approximately 200 tonnes of uranium. The Zhalpak Deposit completed trial mining
operations and is in the course of applying the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement for
extraction. Based on the current production schedule, the operation of the Zhalpak Deposit is
scheduled to run until 2036 on the basis of commencing well field establishment in 2022
and ramp up to full production from 2023 to 2025.

Further details of the Target Mines are set out in the section headed “FURTHER
INFORMATION ON ORTALYK” of the Circular.

Set out below is the financial information of Ortalyk for the three years ended 31
December 2020, as extracted from the accountant’s report of Ortalyk as contained in

Appendix II to the Circular:

For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended

31 December 31 December 31 December

2018 2019 2020

(US$°000) (US$°000) (US$°000)

Revenue 101,017 96,277 94,904
Net profit before taxation 38,252 39,700 48,414
Net profit after taxation 30,514 31,137 38,542

As illustrated by the above table, Ortalyk’s revenue decreased by approximately 4.69%
from approximately US$101 million for FY2018 to approximately US$96 million for
FY2019 and further decreased by approximately 1.43% to approximately US$95 million for
FY2020 when presented in US$. With reference to the Circular, when presented in Tenge,
Ortalyk recognised an increase in revenue of approximately 5.83% from approximately
Tenge 34,830 million for FY2018 to approximately Tenge 36,861 million for FY2019 and a
further increase of approximately 6.42% to approximately Tenge 39,229 million for FY2020.
Such change was mainly attributable to the mixed effect of change in sales volume,
depreciation of Tenge against USD and increase in international uranium price. Ortalyk’s net
profit after taxation increased slightly from FY2018 to FY2019 and further increased by
approximately 23.78% to approximately US$39 million for FY2020. With reference to the
Circular, the increase in Ortalyk’s net profit after taxation for FY2020 was mainly
attributable to decrease in cost of sales due to decrease in production, resulting in an
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increase in gross profit margin from approximately 44.75% for FY2019 to approximately
54.88% for FY2020, and partially offset by the increase in income tax expenses due to
increase in net profit before taxation.

Information on parties to the Transactions
CGNPC and CGNPC-URC

With reference to the Board Letter, CGNPC is the sole shareholder of CGNPC-URC.
Founded on 29 September 1994, CGNPC is a large clean energy enterprise under the
supervision of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council of the PRC.

With reference to the Board Letter, CGNPC-URC is a company established in the PRC
with limited liability and the sole shareholder of China Uranium Development, the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Both of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC are connected persons of the Company.
Kazatomprom

With reference to the Board Letter, Kazatomprom is the largest global producer of
natural uranium with priority access to one of the world’s largest high-quality resource bases
in the industry. Kazatomprom produced approximately 22% of the world’s total uranium
production in 2019 according to World Nuclear Association. Kazatomprom is the national
operator of the Kazakhstan for import and export of uranium and its compounds, rare
metals, nuclear fuel for nuclear power plants, special purpose equipment and technologies.

The securities of Kazatomprom are listed on the London Stock Exchange and Astana
International Exchange and Kazatomprom is owned as to 75% by sovereign wealth fund of
Kazakhstan. As the national atomic company in the Republic of Kazakhstan, its primary
customers are operators of nuclear generation capacity, and principal export markets for its
products are China, South and Eastern Asia, Europe and North America.

UMP

With reference to the Board Letter, UMP is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Kazatomprom. It is one of the world leaders in terms of production of beryllium, tantalum,
and niobium, as well as uranium-based fuel bricks for nuclear power stations.
Ulba-FA

With reference to the Board Letter, Ulba-FA is owned as to 51% by UMP and 49% by

CGNPC-URC, which is mainly engaged in fabrication of fuel assemblies and their
components.
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Reasons for and benefits of the Transactions

The reasons for and benefits of the Transactions are set out under the section headed
“Reasons for and benefits of entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Off-take Agreement” of the Board Letter. With reference to the Board Letter:

(i) the Acquisition is a good opportunity for the Group to acquire interest in natural
uranium deposits based on a valuation determined with reference to the prevailing
natural uranium price;

(ii) the Group will be able to continue expand its natural uranium trading business
through the Off-take Arrangement and enjoy positive cash flow from the share of
profit of Ortalyk with a view to create long-term value for the Shareholders;

(iii) the Acquisition and the Off-take Arrangement would deepen the cooperation
between Kazatomprom and the Company, which can create opportunity for further
cooperation with Kazatomprom,;

(iv) the Cooperation Agreement serves as the framework agreement for the overall
strategic cooperation in nuclear energy field between CGNPC and Kazatomprom
on a long term and mutually beneficial basis, which includes the development of
the Fuel Project and the Mining Project, being different stages of production of
nuclear fuel for use in nuclear power plant for electricity generation. The Group
has the expertise to participate in the Mining Project and to evaluate and assess
the Target Mines and to manage the investment in Ortalyk; and

(v) the Call Option, the Put Option and the Buy-back Right serve as exit arrangement
for the parties in relation to the cooperation of the Fuel Project and the Mining
Project as they can only be exercised upon occurrence of certain triggering events,
such as occurrence of deadlock event, failure or delay of the Fuel Project or
breach of the Further Cooperation Agreement.

Industrial outlook

Uranium from mining is used almost entirely as fuel for nuclear power plants. Uranium
is a heavy metal which has been used as an abundant source of concentrated energy.

With reference to the World Nuclear Association’s fuel report published by World
Nuclear Association on its website (world-nuclear.org) in 2019, the uranium market has been
characterized by oversupply in recent years, which has led to a sizable reduction in uranium
production levels at existing mines and a sharp decrease in investment in the development of
new and existing mines. The capacity of all presently-known mining projects (current and
idled mines, projects under development, planned or prospective) should be at least doubled
by 2039, and the need for new primary uranium supply becomes even more pressing as a
number of older mines are projected to be depleted. There are more than adequate uranium
resources to meet future needs; however, oversupply and associated low uranium prices are
preventing the investment needed to convert these resources into production. Rapid growth
in uranium demand will lead to a need for additional mined uranium in the period to 2040.
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According to the information contained in World Nuclear Association’s website
(world-nuclear.org), Kazakhstan has 12% of the world’s uranium resources and in 2019
produced about 22,800 tU. In 2009 it became the world’s leading uranium producer, with
almost 28% of world production. In 2019, Kazakhstan produced 43% of the world’s
uranium. Kazakhstan has been an important source of uranium for more than 50 years. Over
2001 to 2013 production rose from 2,022 tU to about 22,550 tU per year, making
Kazakhstan the world’s leading uranium producer.

In addition, we found statistics on uranium price published by UxC as set out below:

Uranium average spot price per pound (US$)

2019 2020
January 28.90 24.63
February 28.00 24.80
March 25.33 27.35
April 25.20 33.25
May 24.05 33.93
June 24.60 32.80
July 25.38 32.45
August 25.30 30.85
September 25.68 29.93
October 24.25 29.70
November 26.05 29.68
December 24.93 30.20

Source: UxC. According to UxC’s website (www.uxc.com), UxC is one of the nuclear industry’s leading
consulting companies. UxC offers a wide range of services spanning the full fuel cycle with
special focus on market-related issues. UxC was founded in March 1994 as an affiliate of The
Uranium Exchange Company, in order to extend and provide greater focus to The Uranium
Exchange Company’s consulting and information services capabilities.

As depicted from the above table, the uranium average spot price decreased in the
beginning of 2019 and stayed steady at around US$24 to US$26 from March 2019 to
February 2020. Thereafter, the uranium average spot price recovered to US$27.35 in March
2020 and there was an increasing trend in the uranium average spot price from March 2020
to July 2020. Subsequently, the uranium average spot price slightly decreased and reached
US$30.20 in December 2020, being a level higher than that of 2019.

Having considered (i) the aforesaid reasons and benefits of the Transactions; (ii) the
Transactions are in-line with the Group’s overall development strategy; and (iii) the
industrial outlook as set out above, we concur with the Directors that, the Transactions are
conducted in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and are in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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Principal terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement

Summarised below are the principal terms for the Sale and Purchase Agreement, details
of which are set out under the section headed “THE SALE AND PURCHASE
AGREEMENT” of the Board Letter.

Date:

22 April 2021

Parties:

Kazatomprom and CGNM UK (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
Subject matter

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, Kazatomprom agreed to sell and CGNM
UK agreed to acquire the Target Interest, being 49% interest in Ortalyk, at the Consideration
of US$435,071,181.

Consideration

The Consideration shall be credited to an account of Kazatomprom not later than three
business days before the Completion. With reference to the Board Letter, the Consideration
was determined based on the Valuation conducted by the Valuer.

The Valuation Report

Accordingly, to assess the fairness and reasonableness of the Consideration, we
obtained the Valuation Report prepared by the Valuer and noted that the Valuation as at 31
December 2020 was US$367 to US$504 million, with a preferred value of US$435 million
(approximately US$435.67 million before rounding down to integer) (the ‘“Preferred
Value”), being the midpoint of the valuation range. Details of the Valuation Report are set
out in Appendix V to the Circular.

For our due diligence purpose, we reviewed and enquired into (i) the terms of
engagement of the Valuer with the Company; (ii) the Valuer’s qualification in relation to the
preparation of the Valuation Report; and (iii) the Valuer’s track records in valuation of
mining companies; and (iv) the steps and due diligence measures taken by the Valuer for
conducting the Valuation. From the mandate letter and other relevant information provided
by the Valuer and based on our interview with them, we were satisfied with the terms of
engagement and scope of work of the Valuer as well as their qualification and competence
for preparation of the Valuation Report. The Valuer also confirmed that they are independent
to the Group, the parties to the Transactions and Ortalyk.

We further reviewed and enquired into the Valuer on the methodologies adopted and

the basis and assumptions adopted in the Valuation Report in order for us to understand the
Valuation Report.
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The Valuation Report was prepared by the Valuer in accordance with the Australasian
Code for Public Reporting of Technical Assessments and Valuations of Mineral Assets (i.e.
the “VALMIN Code”). The Valuer derived the Valuation utilising the discounted cash flows
(“DCF”) method under income approach and comparable transaction method under market
approach as the primary valuation methodologies.

With reference to the Valuation Report:

(i) The Valuer considered but rejected the cost approach because the Central
Mynkuduk Deposit is in production while the Zhalpak Deposit has completed trial
production with a large-scale expansion been planned, the market value of the
Target Mines was determined by the ability to generate a stream of benefits in
future, rather than the sunk cost or cost of replacement. According to the
VALMIN Code, cost approach is not permitted to value the mineral asset at this
stage;

(ii) the Valuer considered and accepted the market approach (comparable transaction
method). The comparable transaction method under the market approach was
selected as the primary valuation methodology because sufficient amount of
comparable transactions with adequate information can be found and such method
adequately reflects the market opinion of the mineral assets. Market approach is
suitable for valuing mineral assets at this stage according to the VALMIN Code;
and

(iii) the Valuer considered the income approach and applied the DCF method of the
income approach as the primary valuation methodology because (a) the market
value of mineral asset is determined by the ability to generate a stream of benefits
in future; (b) economic benefit streams of mineral asset could be identified based
on historical and projected cash flows according to the Competent Person’s
Report; (c) important parameters for the DCF analysis can be reasonable
estimated or relied on with acceptable accuracy; and (d) income approach is
suitable for valuing producing projects according to the VALMIN Code.

Having considered the above, in particular, cost approach is not permitted to value the
Target Mines at this stage according to the VALMIN Code, and both market approach and
income approach are applicable and suitable in conducting the Valuation, we consider the
adoption of both market approach and income approach for the Valuation is fair and
reasonable.

Under market approach, the Valuer adopted the comparable transactions method in
conducting the Valuation. We noted that the Valuer selected transactions that involve the
acquisition of uranium projects similar to Ortalyk in terms of size, development stage and
mining method, that completed within the last 10 years from the Valuation Date on a
worldwide basis. Having considered the selection criteria of the comparable transactions
adopted by the Valuer and the particulars of the comparable transactions as contained in the
Valuation Report, we do not doubt the fairness and the reasonableness of the comparable
transactions.
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The Valuer analysed the reserves of the comparable transactions in order to arrive at
the average price per pound of uranium of the comparable transactions (being the
consideration of the comparable transactions divided by the uranium resources of the
uranium project acquired under each of the respective comparable transactions). Having
arrived at the average price per pound of uranium based on the comparable transactions, the
Valuer then made reference to the uranium resources statements included in the Competent
Person Report, which set out the uranium resources of the Target Mines, to conclude the
value of Ortalyk.

Under income approach, the Valuer adopted the DCF method in conducting the
Valuation. We noticed the financial projection of the Target Mines are based on the mining
schedules, operating expenditure and capital expenditure as set out in the Competent Person
Report. With reference to the Competent Person Report, the Competent Person estimated the
mineral resources and ore reserves in compliance with the JORC Code and the Competent
Person Report has been compiled in accordance to Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules. The
team members of the Competent Person involved in compiling the Competent Person Report
have extensive experience in mining industry and the person signing off the Competent
Person Report meets the requirements of a competent person as defined by Chapter 18 of the
Listing Rules.

Having discussed with the Competent Person, we understood the followings from the
Competent Person (“Our Understanding from Competent Person”):

° the mining schedules were formulated based on (i) the ore reserves of the Target
Mines; (ii) the current production capacity of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit and
the expected production capacity of the Zhalpak Deposit having obtained the New
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement; (iii) the regulatory requirement to extract 90%
over the life of each production block; and (iv) the average time required to
deplete each production block;

° the capital expenditures forecasted by the Competent Person is consistent with the
extraction schedule in terms of the quantity of wells required for each block per
annum and the historical cost of well construction; and

e the operating expenditures forecasted by the Competent Person with reference to
the historical operating expenditure per unit of uranium and the expected
production over the life of the Target Mines.

Having considered the above and after discussion with the Competent Person regarding
the mining extraction schedules, operating expenditure and capital expenditure as set out in
the Competent Person Report, we have no doubt on the aforesaid basis of the financial
projection.

Two scenarios (i.e. baseline scenario and consensus scenario) of financial projection of
the Target Mines were established. Under baseline scenario, uranium selling prices were
based on current industry and economic conditions, using the spot uranium price with an
annual growth rate of 3.18%, representing the world’s average inflation rate as published by
Statista as at the Valuation Date (Statista is specialized in market and consumer data, its
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platform consolidates statistical data on over 80,000 topics from more than 22,500 sources
on 170 industries). Under consensus scenario, to reflect the potential changes in uranium
price as a result of changes in economic conditions, supply and demand, uranium selling
prices were based on the forecasted uranium prices between 2020 and 2035 published by the
TradeTech and UxC, two independent nuclear industry leading market research and analysis
companies.

In determining the discount rate, the Valuer made reference to comparable public
companies worldwide that engaged in uranium exploration and production, assessed other
parameters such as risk-free return, equity risk premium, size premium to be adopted in the
Valuation, and specific risk associated with each of the Target Mines.

In respect of risk-free return, we noted that the Valuer made reference to the
Kazakhstan long-term government bond yield as at the Valuation Date. Having considered (i)
the Target Mines operate in Kazakhstan; (ii) the Target Mines are scheduled to operate for
over 5 years; and (iii) the government bond is often regarded as risk-free investment in
Kazakhstan as it is fully backed by the government, we are of the view that the use of
Kazakhstan long-term government bond yield as the risk-free return is fair and reasonable.

In respect of equity risk premium, we noted that the Valuer made reference to the
“Country Default Spreads and Risk Premium” research published by Prof. Aswath
Damodaran of New York University (Prof. Aswath Damodaran is a professor of finance at
the Stern School of Business at New York University specialised in corporate finance and
valuation. His papers have been published in the “Journal of Financial and Quantitative
Analysis”, the “Journal of Finance”, the “Journal of Financial Economics” and the “Review
of Financial Studies”.).

In respect of size premium, we noted that the Valuer made reference to the “Cost of
Capital Navigator 2019 research published by Duff & Phelps in December 2019 and
adopted the small cap companies size premium of 1.59% (Duff & Phelps was founded in
1932 and provides merger and acquisition advisory services, valuation, investment banking,
transaction advisory, dispute, legal management, and tax consulting services. Duff & Phelps
serves customers worldwide.). We also noticed the adoption of Duff & Phelps published
information on size premium in certain valuation reports contained in Hong Kong listed
companies’ circular.

During our discussion with the Valuer, we did not identify any major factor which
caused us to doubt the fairness and reasonableness of the methodologies, principal bases,
assumptions and parameters adopted for the Valuation Report.

Having considered our independent work performed on the Valuation Report and that
the Consideration of US$435,071,181 is slightly lower than the Preferred Value of
approximately US$435.67 million before rounding down to integer, we are of the view that
the Consideration is fair and reasonable.
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Sell-back Right

Kazatomprom shall use best endeavors to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement no later than 31 December 2021 and to transfer all rights and obligations under
the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement to Ortalyk subject to reimbursement of actually
incurred costs of Kazatomprom by Ortalyk of not more than US$200,000.

If Ortalyk fails to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement by 31 December
2021, CGNM UK has the right to require Kazatomprom to buy-back the Target Interest in
the same mechanism as the exercise of the Buy-back Right under the Further Cooperation
Agreement.

Call Option, Put Option and Buy-back Right

The parties to the Sale and Purchase Agreement acknowledge and confirm that, subject
to fulfilment or wavier of the Conditions, each of the Call Option, the Put Option and the
Buy-back Right shall be granted and take effect upon Completion.

Off-take Arrangement

To give effect to the Off-take Arrangement of products of Ortalyk stipulated under the
Cooperation Agreement and allow the parties to share the output of the Target Mines in
proportion to their interests, it is expected that Kazatomprom, the Company and CGNM UK
will enter into the Off-take Agreement prior to the Completion pursuant to which, the parties
will agree that they shall have the obligation to acquire the natural uranium concentrates
produced by Ortalyk in proportion to their respective participation interests, as follows:

(1) Kazatomprom shall acquire 51% of Ortalyk’s total annual production; and

(i) the Company or CGNM UK shall acquire 49% of Ortalyk’s total annual
production,

subject to the Guaranteed Entitlement of 20,000 tonnes of uranium in aggregate stipulated
under the Mining Principles Agreement.

Term

The Off-take Agreement shall come into force from the date CGNM UK becomes a
participant of Ortalyk until the earlier of (i) the date CGNM UK exits from participation in
Ortalyk; or (ii) the end of the commitment period of the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation
under the Cooperation Agreement (according to the Cooperation Agreement, the commitment
period of the Fuel Assembly Purchase Obligation shall be purchasing fuel assemblies for a
continuous period of twenty years, and the first delivery is currently expected to take place
in 2022), provided that, if by the end of the commitment period, Ortalyk continues to
operate, the Company or CGNM UK shall continue to acquire the product of Ortalyk in
proportion to its participation interests but the total off-take volume of the Company and/or
CGNM UK shall not exceed 20,000 tonnes of uranium.
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It is expected that Ortalyk will carry out liquidation procedure upon depletion of both
of the Target Mines and CGNM UK will exit from participation in Ortalyk upon completion
of such procedure, and, accordingly, the Off-take Agreement will then cease to have effect
pursuant to the terms of the Off-take Agreement.

Given the purpose of the Off-take Arrangement is to allow the holders of the equity
interest of Ortalyk to share the product of Ortalyk, the Directors believe that it is necessary
that the terms of the Off-take Agreement exceed three years to ensure that the Group will be
able to share the output of Ortalyk and to protect the interest of the Company in Ortalyk.

In assessing the reasons for the term of the Off-take Agreement (“Off-take Term”) to
be longer than three years, we have considered the following factors:

@)

(i1)

Mining life

With reference to the Board Letter, the purpose of the Off-take Arrangement is to
allow the holders of the equity interest of Ortalyk to share the product of Ortalyk,
the Directors believe that it is necessary for the Off-take Term to exceed three
years for ensuring that the Group will be able to share the output of Ortalyk and
to protect the interest of the Company in Ortalyk.

We noticed from the Circular that based on the current production schedule, (i)
the operation of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit is scheduled to run until 2033;
and (ii) the operation of the Zhalpak Deposit is scheduled to run until 2036 on the
basis of commencing well field establishment in 2022 and ramp up to full
production from 2023 to 2025.

It is reasonable for the Off-take Term to be longer than three years to cover the
mining life of the Target Mines.

Mineable quantity

With reference to the Board Letter, the Proposed Annual Caps between 2021 and
2036 are determined based on the mining schedules of the Target Mines contained
in the Competent Person Report multiplied by the 49% proportionate share of the
Group under the Off-take Arrangement, plus a 20% buffer to cater for any
potential production fluctuation or year-end cut off adjustment, and additional
quantity per annum between 2030 to 2036 to cater the potential additional off-take
upon exercise of the Guaranteed Entitlement. The Proposed Annual Caps between
2037 and 2040 are determined to be 100 tonnes per year with reference to the
estimated production of the final years based on the mining schedules of the
Target Mines to cater for any additional production of the Target Mines or
adjustment of or delay in production schedule of the Target Mines.
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It is reasonable for the Off-take Term to be longer than three years to allow
sufficient time for off-taking all the production under the mining schedule of the
Target Mines (i.e. up to 2033 for the Central Mynkuduk Deposit and up to 2036
for the Zhalpak Deposit) and cater for any additional production of the Target
Mines or adjustment of or delay in production schedule of the Target Mines.

In considering whether it is normal business practice for agreements of similar nature
to the Off-take Agreement with duration of more than three years, we, on best effort basis,
identified five uranium off-take agreements (“Off-take Comparables”) entered into by listed
companies worldwide during the past 10 years prior to 22 April 2021, being the date of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement. Set out below is the exhaustive list of Off-take Comparables

that we found based on our selection criteria:

Date of

Seller Buyer announcement Subject Term Contract price

GoviEx Uranium Toshiba 23 April 2012 600,000 pounds 14 years Undisclosed
Inc. Corporation of uranium per

(Stock code: annum

TYO0:6502) (8,400,000
pounds in
total)

Paladin Energy Undisclosed 15 August 2012 13,730,000 Six years Uranium will be sold
Ltd (Stock code: pounds of commencing at market prices
ASX:PDN) uranium from 2019 prevailing at the

time of delivery
bounded by
escalating floor and
ceiling prices (no
premium/discount)

Texas Rare Earth A subsidiary of 6 April 2015 1,500,000 Five years Based upon a pricing
Resources Corp. AREVA S.A. pounds of commencing formula indexed to
(Stock code: uranium in 2018 or as uranium spot prices
OTCQX:TRER) soon as at the times of

thereafter delivery
(undetermined
premium/discount)

Berkeley Energia Curzon 28 November 2,000,000 Over a five-year Average fixed price of
Limited (Stock Resources 2016 pounds of period US$43.78 per pound
code: ASX/ Limited uranium with of uranium with the
AIM:BKY) (formerly optional then spot price of

known as volume of around US$18 per
Interalloys 1,000,000 pound (premium of
Trading pounds of approximately
Limited) uranium 143.2%)

Aura Energy

Curzon Uranium

29 January 2019

800,000 pounds

A seven-year

Average price of above

Limited (Stock Trading of uranium period starting US$44 per pound of

code: ASX:AEE Limited production from the uranium compared

& AIM:AURA) with a further commencement with the then spot
1.8 million of production price of around
pounds of and extendable US$29 per pound
uranium thereafter by (premium of
production as mutual consent approximately
option 51.7%)
volumes

As depicted from the above table, all of the terms of the Off-take Comparables are
more than three years.
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In addition, we noticed from the Company’s announcement dated 11 January 2016 that
at the time when the Company subscribe certain equity interest in Fission (the “Fission
Subscription”), the Company and Fission also entered into an off-take agreement (“Fission
Off-take Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company is entitled to acquire an agreed
quantity of uranium concentrates from Fission under the terms and conditions in the Fission
Off-take Agreement, contingent on the Company maintaining a certain significant share
ownership in Fission. Fission and its ultimate beneficial owners are independent third parties
to the Group as at the date of the aforesaid announcement. As advised by the Management,
there is no specific term under the Fission Off-take Agreement. The Fission Off-take
Agreement will remain effective as long as the Company maintaining a certain significant
share ownership in Fission. In fact, the Fission Off-take Agreement has been effective since
completion of the Fission Subscription in 2016.

Furthermore, we noticed from the Company’s announcement dated 16 May 2014 in
relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Beijing Sino-Kazakh, which
indirectly interested in Irkol Mine and Semizbay Mine through its 49% equity interest in
Semizbay-U, CGNPC-URC and Kazatomprom entered into an off-take agreement
(“Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement”) pursuant to which CGNPC-URC and Kazatomprom
are entitled to and shall acquire 49% and 51% of Semizbay-U’s total annual production
output respectively, which represent their respective equity interest in Semizbay-U, over the
period of Semizbay-U’s duration and under the terms and conditions of the Semizbay-U
Off-take Agreement. Subsequently, CGNPC-URC irrevocably and exclusively designated the
Group, from the completion date of the aforesaid acquisition, to purchase the off-take
quantity from Semizbay-U for the entire term of the Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement. With
reference to the Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement and as advised by the Management, the
Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement is effective from 1 January 2013 and shall remain in force
until the date (i) both CGNPC-URC and Kazatomprom reach a written agreement on the
termination of the Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement; or (ii) Beijing Sino-Kazakh ceases to be
the participant of Semizbay-U. Theoretically, the term of the Semizbay-U Off-take
Agreement can be indefinite. In fact, the Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement has been effective
since 1 January 2013.

Having considered the above, we confirm that the Off-take Term which is longer than
three years, is required and it is normal business practice for the Off-take Agreement to be
of such duration.

Pricing mechanism

The price of the natural uranium concentrates under the Off-take Arrangement shall be
the average arithmetic value of spot price of natural uranium published and effective as of
the date of delivery published by TradeTech and UxC (being leading providers of uranium
prices and independent third parties), respectively, minus a 2% discount, and in the case of
Kazatomprom only, less the transportation cost undertaken by Kazatomprom.

— 73 —



LETTER FROM GRAM CAPITAL

Ortalyk engages Kazatomprom to deliver its products to its customers (such as the
Group) and is required to pay the relevant delivery fees and, in respect of the sales to
Kazatomprom, such delivery fees shall be deducted from the price of the purchase as
transportation cost. The price of natural uranium concentrates to be paid by the Group and
Kazatomprom, respectively, can be illustrated by the following formulas:

Price per pound of natural uranium = Spot price x 0.98
to be paid by the Group

Price per pound of natural uranium = Spot price x 0.98 — Transportation cost
to be paid by Kazatomprom

Notes:

1. Spot price means the average arithmetic value of natural uranium spot price indicators published by
TradeTech and UxC, which are published and effective as of the date of delivery

2. Transportation cost means transportation cost undertaken by Kazatomprom

As depicted from the Off-take Comparables table above, two of the Off-take
Comparables selling prices represented premium over the then spot prices and one of the
Off-take Comparables selling prices represented no premium over/discount to the then spot
prices. In addition, we noticed that pricing under the Fission Off-take Agreement and the
Semizbay-U Off-take Agreement are at 5% discount and 2% discount respectively on the
average of TradeTech and UxC spot price indexes at the time of delivery.

Accordingly, we considered the pricing mechanism of the Off-take Arrangement to be
fair and reasonable as the Group can secure natural uranium supply at a discounted price
under the Off-take Arrangement.

Proposed Annual Caps

The Company proposes the following annual caps in relation to the Off-take
Arrangement between 2021 and 2040:

Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Annual cap (ronnes of

natural uranium) 466 941 1,206 1,324 1,471 1,644 1,588 1,531
Year 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
Annual cap (tonnes of

natural uranium) 1,469 2,111 2,298 1,908 849 579 487 79
Year 2037 2038 2039 2040 Total
Annual cap (tronnes of

natural uranium) 100 100 100 100 20,351
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With reference to the Board Letter, the Proposed Annual Caps between 2021 and 2036
are determined based on the mining schedule of the Target Mines contained in the
Competent Person Report multiplied by the 49% proportionate share of the Group under the
Off-take Arrangement, plus a 20% buffer (the “Buffer”) to cater for any potential production
fluctuation or year-end cut off adjustment, and adjusted as follows:

(a) in respect of 2021, further multiplied by 0.5 to reflect the fact that the
Completion of the Acquisition is expected to take place in or around June 2021;

(b) in respect of 2030, addition of 700 tonnes to cover for potential additional
off-take upon exercise of the Guaranteed Entitlement; and

(c) in respect of 2031 to 2036, addition of such amount resulting the entire scheduled
output of the Target Mines being off-taken by the Group to reflect the potential
additional off-take upon exercise of the Guaranteed Entitlement.

It is expected that the Guaranteed Entitlement, if exercised, will only be exercised in
later years since the parties will then have a more certain estimate on the remaining output
of the Target Mines.

The Proposed Annual Caps between 2037 and 2040 are determined to be 100 tonnes
per year with reference to the estimated production of the final years based on the mining
schedule of the Target Mines to cater for any additional production of the Target Mines or
adjustment of or delay in production schedule of the Target Mines.

As advised by the Management, the mining schedules are formulated with reference to
(i) current available information regarding the operational structure of Ortalyk and the Target
Mines; (ii) the ore reserves estimated by the Competent Person; and (iii) the currently
known technology in relation to uranium mining. Given the long time span of the Off-take
Agreement, which covers a period of around 20 years, the development of technology,
mining techniques and logistics may affect future production and distribution of uranium, as
such, the Management is of the view that the annual output as set out in the mining
schedules may affect the actual output. Also, having considered the mining schedules
concern the annual output of uranium from the Target Mines and the timing for distribution
of uranium may differs from such schedules due to processing and delivery status, we are of
the view that the Buffer of 20% is fair and reasonable.

For our due diligence purpose, we obtained the calculation of the Proposed Annual
Caps from the Company. We noticed the calculation of the Proposed Annual Caps is
consistent and in-line with the aforesaid basis of the Proposed Annual Caps and the mining
schedules of the Target Mines as set out under the Competent Person Report contained in
Appendix IV to the Circular. With reference to the Competent Person Report, the Competent
Person estimated the mineral resources and ore reserves in compliance with the JORC Code
and the Competent Person Report has been compiled in accordance to Chapter 18 of the
Listing Rules. The team members of the Competent Person involved in compiling the
Competent Person Report have extensive experience in mining industry and the person
signing off the Competent Person Report meets the requirements of a competent person as
defined by Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules. Having considered the above and Our
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Understanding from Competent Person after our discussion with the Competent Person
regarding the mining extraction schedules as set out in the Competent Person Report, we
have no doubt on the application of such mining schedules in formulating the Proposed
Annual Caps.

Given the above, we consider that the Proposed Annual Caps to be fair and reasonable.
The Group’s measures for monitoring the Off-take Arrangement

With reference to the Board Letter, Ortalyk shall mainly be operated by Kazatomprom,
its major shareholder, and the Group will involve in the operational management of Ortalyk
and to ensure the completion of its annual production plan and fulfillment of the off-take
amount under the Off-take Arrangement through the team of personnel appointed and
despatched by the Group who will act as the deputy general director of Ortalyk, the deputy
directors of the two Target Mines and deputy heads of key departments of Ortalyk. The
personnel assigned by the Group shall exert their influence on mining production and in the
areas of financial, operation, procurement, planning and distribution of profit as well as
corporate governance. The Company will monitor the actual production of the Target Mines
through its involvement in the management of Ortalyk to ensure compliance with the
Proposed Annual Cap and, in case the Proposed Annual Cap is expected to be exceeded, the
Company will comply with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, include obtaining
Independent Shareholders’ approval if applicable.

With reference to the Board Letter, in the event that Kazatomprom does not perform its
off-take obligation, the Group shall have the legal right to commence legal action and seek
for damage or specific performance on the Off-take Agreement. Furthermore, as the board of
directors of Ortalyk will be controlled by Kazatomprom, should Ortalyk unreasonably
refuses to sign the annual contract for implementing the Off-take Arrangement and
Kazatomprom fails to procure Ortalyk to sign such contract, the Group may commence legal
action against Kazatomprom to enforce the Off-take Agreement and/or have the right to
exercise the Put Option by virtue of Kazatomprom not performing the Off-take Arrangement.

We consider the effective implementation of the above measures are sufficient for the
Group to monitor the Off-take Arrangement (including its terms and the Proposed Annual
Caps).

Other terms

Other terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement are set out in the section headed
“THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT” of the Board Letter.

Principal terms of the Further Cooperation Agreement
Summarised below are the principal terms for the Further Cooperation Agreement,

details of which are set out under the section headed “THE FURTHER COOPERATION
AGREEMENT” of the Board Letter.
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Date:
22 April 2021
Parties:

Kazatomprom, UMP, CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, the Company, Ulba-FA, CGNM UK (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing Sino-Kazakh (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company)

Purpose

The purpose of the Further Cooperation Agreement is to change and update provisions
of cooperation of the parties under, among others, the Cooperation Agreement and the
Mining Principles Agreement. The Further Cooperation Agreement set out, amongst others,
implementation schedule of mining project, uranium purchase and fuel pellets manufacturing
services purchase obligations of relevant parties, the Buy-back Right provision, the Call
Option and the Put Option provisions.

The mining project

The parties to the Further Cooperation Agreement (the “Parties”) agreed that CGNM
UK shall be a participant of Ortalyk and has obligations with respect to Ortalyk, as further
detailed in the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Further Cooperation Agreement, and
take obligations to perform all obligations as a participant of Ortalyk.

Buy-back of the Target Interest

Upon occurrence of any Buy-back Event, CGNM UK shall, at the request at
Kazatomprom, sell the Target Interest to Kazatomprom no later than six months from the
date of such request at the New Exercise Price.

The Buy-back Events are principally relating to the cooperation among the Parties
(details of which is set out under the section headed “THE FURTHER COOPERATION
AGREEMENT” of the Board Letter). The Management advised us that, as the Acquisition
forms part of the cooperation among the Parties, they commercially agreed to the provision
of the Buy-back Right.

The New Exercise Price shall be the fair market value of the Target Interest as of the
last day of the month of the exercise notice determined by a valuer appropriately licenced
pursuant to the laws of Kazakhstan from any of the big four accounting firms with expertise
in valuing assets of the nature concerned and agreed by Kazatomprom and CGNPC, less any
dividend received by CGNM UK from Ortalyk between the valuation date to the date of
transfer of the Target Interest.
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Call Option and Put Option

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, Kazatomprom, Kazatomprom Mining
Participant and UMP shall have the right exercisable any time during the 60 business days
following the occurrence of any of Call Option Triggering Events to require both (but not
one of) (i) CGNPC-URC to sell 100% of its participatory interest (if any) in the Fuel
Partnership to UMP (or its nominee); and (ii)) CGNPC Mining Participant (i.e. CGNM UK)
to sell 100% (in whole and not in part) of its participatory interest in the Mining Partnership
(i.e. Ortalyk) (if any) to Kazatomprom Mining Participant at the Old Exercise Price.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, CGNPC, CGNPC-URC and CGNPC Mining
Participant (i.e. CGNM UK) shall have the right exercisable any time during the 60 business
day following the occurrence of any of Put Option Triggering Events to require (i) UMP to
acquire from CGNPC-URC 100% of its participatory interest in the Fuel Partnership (in
whole and not in part); and (ii) Kazatomprom Mining Participant to acquire from CGNPC
Mining Participant (i.e. CGNM UK) 100% of its participatory interest in the Mining
Partnership (i.e. Ortalyk) (in whole and not in part) at the Old Exercise Price.

The Call Option Triggering Events and Put Option Triggering Events are principally
relating to the cooperation among the Parties under the Fuel Partnership and the Mining
Partnership (details of which is set out under the Board Letter). The Management advised us
that, as the Fuel Partnership and the Acquisition (for the purpose of materialising the Mining
Partnership) form part of the cooperation among the Parties, they commercially agreed to the
provisions of the Call Option and the Put Option.

Pursuant to the Further Cooperation Agreement, the parties agreed that the exercise
price of the Put Option and the Call Option shall be the same as the exercise price of the
Buy-back Right, being the New Exercise Price.

Given that:

(i) the New Exercise Price shall be the fair market value of the Target Interest as of
the last day of the month of the exercise notice, less any dividend received by
CGNM UK from Ortalyk between the valuation date to the date of transfer of the
Target Interest; and

(i) the valuer determining the aforesaid fair market value will be (a) appropriately
licenced pursuant to the laws of Kazakhstan; (b) from any of the big four
accounting firms with expertise in valuing assets of the nature concerned; and (c)

agreed by both of Kazatomprom and CGNPC,

we consider the mechanism of determining the New Exercise Price to be fair and
reasonable.

Other terms
Other terms of the Further Cooperation Agreement are set out in the section headed

“THE FURTHER COOPERATION AGREEMENT” of the Board Letter.
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Taking into account the principal terms of the Transactions as set out above, we
consider that the terms of the Transactions are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent
Shareholders are concerned.

Financial effects in relation to the Acquisition

With reference to the Board Letter, upon Completion, Ortalyk will not become a
subsidiary of the Company and shall be accounted for as an associate using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. As a result, Ortalyk will
initially be recognized in the statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
Ortalyk.

The unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group (the “Pro Forma
Information”) is included in Appendix III to the Circular.

As extracted from the 2020 Annual Report, the audited consolidated total assets and
total liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$4.19 billion and HK$2.16 billion as at
31 December 2020 respectively. According to the Pro Forma Information, the unaudited
consolidated total assets and total liabilities of the Enlarged Group would be approximately
HK$6.63 billion and HK$4.61 billion respectively as if the Acquisition had been completed
on 31 December 2020.

It should be noted that the aforementioned analyses are for illustrative purposes only
and do not purport to represent how the financial position of the Group will be upon
Completion.

RECOMMENDATION

Having taken into consideration the factors and reasons as stated above, we are of the
opinion that (i) the terms of the Transactions are on normal commercial terms and are fair
and reasonable; and (ii) the Transactions are conducted in the ordinary and usual course of
the business of the Group and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole. Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Board Committee to advise the
Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolutions to be proposed at the EGM to
approve the Transactions and we recommend the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour
of the resolutions in this regard.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Gram Capital Limited
Graham Lam
Managing Director

Note: Mr. Graham Lam is a licensed person registered with the Securities and Futures Commission and a

responsible officer of Gram Capital Limited to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the SFO. He has over 25 years of experience in investment banking industry.
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1. OVERVIEW OF THE TARGET MINES

The Target Mines are located within the South Kazakhstan Province of Kazakhstan in
Shu-Sarysu basin which is one of the biggest source of natural uranium globally. The
Central Mynkuduk Deposit and the Zhalpak Deposit are approximately 80km away from

each other.

The Central Mynkuduk Deposit

Location:

Products:

Historic production:

Current production
capacity:

Mining life:

The Central Mynkuduk Deposit is located in South Kazakhstan
Province of Kazakhstan in the Shu-Sarysu basin 520km north of
the city of Shymkent.

Natural uranium oxide

The Central Mynkuduk Deposit commenced production in 2007
and produced approximately 19,800 tonnes of uranium as of 31
December 2020.

The table below sets forth the production on the Central
Mynkuduk Deposit between 2015 and 2020:

Year
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Mining production (fonnes of
uranium) 1,808 2,010 1802 16000 16170 1305

Notes:

1. Production has been limited to 1,600 tonnes of uranium due to falling
uranium prices.

2. Production has been reduced due to COVID-19.

The annual production capacity of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit
is 2,000 tonnes of natural uranium while production for the year
ended 31 December 2019 has been limited to 1,600 tonnes of
natural uranium due to falling uranium prices.

Based on the current production schedule, the operation of the
Central Mynkuduk Deposit is scheduled to run until 2033.
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Mining permit:

Mineral Resources:

Ore Reserves:

The Central Mynkuduk Deposit is contained within a single
mining permit (i.e. the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use
Agreement) with an expiration period to 8 July 2033 and the
current mining allotment is 46.976 sq. km with maximal depth
370m.

The table below sets forth Mineral Resource at geological cut off
grade of 0.01% uranium as at 31 December 2020:

Uranium Contained

Class Quantity grade uranium

M t % 000 t
Measured 21.3 0.025 5.3
Indicated 81.8 0.027 22.1
Inferred 1.5 0.036 0.5
Total 104.6 0.027 28.0

The table below sets forth the Ore Reserves as of 31 December
2020 (which are included and not additional to the Mineral
Resources stated above):

Uranium Contained

Class Quantity grade uranium
Mt % 000 t

Proven - — —

Probable 92.3 0.026 23.6

Total 92.3 0.026 23.6

Notes:

1. Undiluted for effective thickness

2. Metal content is post leach recovery (90%) extracted into pregnant

leaching solution.
3. Ore Reserves do not account for in pipe or within the plant uranium

content.

According to the Competent Person Report, the Central
Mynkuduk Deposit has all key mining tenements, which are
currently valid, for the continued operation of the assets to
support the planned production rates and possesses all of the
mineral rights (concessions) and surface rights necessary to
exploit the project.
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Location:

Product:

Historic production:

Current production:

Mining permit:

Mineral Resources:

The Zhalpak Deposit

The Zhalpak Deposit is located in South Kazakhstan Province of
Kazakhstan in the Shu-Sarysu basin 500km north of the city of
Shymkent.

Natural uranium oxide

The Zhalpak Deposit conducted test production between 2017 and
April 2020 and produced approximately 200 tonnes of uranium.
The table below sets forth the production on the Zhalpak Deposit
between 2017 and 2020:

Year
2017 2018 2019 2020
Mining production (fonnes of
uranium) 6 110 71 17"

The Zhalpak Deposit completed trial mining operations and is in
the course of applying the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement
for extraction.

The exploration permit of the Zhalpak Deposit (i.e. the Expired
Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement) expired on 31 May 2018, with
an allotment of 145.8 sq. km. Ortalyk is in the course of
obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement via
Kazatomprom.

The table below sets forth Mineral Resources at geological cut off
grade of 0.01% uranium as at 31 December 2020:

Uranium Contained

Class Quantity grade uranium

Mt % 000 t
Measured - - -
Indicated 31.0 0.032 9.8
Inferred 15.7 0.009 4.5
Total 46.7 0.031 14.3

— 82 —



FURTHER INFORMATION ON ORTALYK

Mineable quantity
estimate:

Mining life:

Further studies are necessary to reach sufficient confidence in
modifying factors from which Ore Reserves can be calculated.

Based on estimate, which is not an Ore Reserve as per the
definition of the JORC Code as it is supported only by scoping
study level of confidence technical inputs, the table below sets
forth the mineable quantity estimate for the indicated portion of
the Mineral Resource of the Zhalpak Deposit as at 31 December
2020:

Contained
Quantity Uranium grade uranium
Mt % 000 t
304 0.032 9.7
Notes:
1. Undiluted for effective thickness

Mineral Resources that are not Ore Reserves do not have
demonstrated economic viability, and as such there is no certainty
that the scoping study and economics will be realised at the
Zhalpak Deposit as the studies progress. Nevertheless, a
high-level economic assessment completed shows that based on
the currently assumed modifying factors and long term consensus
forecast of US$30 per pound of natural uranium, the Zhalpak
Deposit scoping study presents positive cashflow, as such the
production schedule is considered to be suitable for presentation.

Based on the current production schedule, the operation of the
Zhalpak Deposit is scheduled to run until 2036 on the basis of
commencing well field establishment in 2022 and ramp up to full
production from 2023 to 2025.
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2. BUSINESS MODEL AND MANAGEMENT OF ORTALYK

Ortalyk is principally engaged in the exploration of the Target Mines, mining and
processing of uranium-containing ores and production of natural uranium. The flow chart
below sets forth the business model of Ortalyk:

Uranium ore Pregnant Natural
in the Target solution of Yellow cake uranium
Mines uranium (U,0,)

Extraction

Natural uranium is extracted via in-situ leaching in both of the Target Mines. In-situ
leaching is a mining process used to recover minerals such as uranium through boreholes
drilled into a deposit. The process involves pumping of lixiviant into the ore body via a set
of boreholes, which circulates through the porous rock dissolving the ore and isextracted via
another set of boreholes. The solution bearing the dissolved ore content is then pumped to
the surface and processed with the end product being pregnant solution of uranium. This
process allows the extraction of uranium from an ore body without the need for conventional
mining involving drill-and-blast, open-cut or underground mining.

The figure below shows the cross-section of in-situ leaching operation:

The advantages of in-situ leaching uranium are:

. Reduced hazards for the employees from accidents, dust, and radiation
. Less pollution to the surface environment

. Low capital expenditure, low cost, short period of mine construction

. No need for large uranium mill tailings deposits

. Making full use of low grade resources
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On-site processing

In Central Mynkuduk Deposit, the pregnant solution is then processed by the on-site
processing plant into yellow cake (a type of uranium concentrate powder) through
adsorption, desorption, sedimentation and squeezing. In Zhalpak Deposit during its trial
exploration, pregnant solution was first processed via on-site sorption plant into
uranium-enriched resin which was subsequently transported to the processing plant in
Central Mynkuduk Deposit for processing into yellow cake.

Metallurgical

The yellow cake is subsequently transported to a third party off-site metallurgical plant
for solvent extraction and calcination and the product of such processes is natural uranium
in the form of triuranium octoxide (U;Og).

Sales and delivery

The natural uranium is then delivered to such location as requested by its customer.
During the Track Record Period, over 99% of the produced uranium of Ortalyk were sold to
Kazatomprom, the then sole owner of Ortalyk. Upon completion of the Acquisition, it is
expected that products of Ortalyk will be sold in accordance with the Off-take Arrangement
set out in the section headed “Sale and Purchase Agreement — Off-take Arrangement” in the
letter from the Board in this circular.
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3.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

OPERATING RESULTS

The table below sets forth the statements of profit or loss of Ortalyk for the years

ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

Year ended 31 December

2018 2019 2020
US$ US$ Us$
Revenue 101,016,519 96,277,498 94,903,510
Cost of sales (58,954,211)  (53,192,030) (42,824,347)
Gross profit 42,062,308 43,085,468 52,079,163
Distribution costs (58,684) (99,584) (90,979)
General and administrative
expenses (2,803,710) (2,619,235) (3,299,744)
Other losses — net (39,748) (231,654) (97,772)
Operating profit 39,160,166 40,134,995 48,590,668
Finance income 114,992 257,258 528,711
Finance costs (1,022,873) (692,705) (705,545)
Finance costs — net (907,881) (435,447) (176,834)
Profit before income tax 38,252,285 39,699,548 48,413,834
Income tax expenses (7,738,010) (8,562,175) (9,872,307)
Profit for the year 30,514,275 31,137,373 38,541,527
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Revenue

Ortalyk principally engages in mining and uranium extraction and processing, sale
of uranium products. Sales of uranium products contributed over 99% of the revenue of
Ortalyk during the Track Record Period, among which over 99% of the produced
uranium of Ortalyk were sold to Kazatomprom, then the sole owner of Ortalyk at a
price calculated as the weighted average natural uranium spot prices quoted by UxC
and TradeTech with a discount and transfer pricing differential in accordance with
Kazakhstan laws. The sales volume for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and
2020 were 1,712, 1,694 and 1,288 tonnes of natural uranium, respectively.

The revenue of Ortalyk decreased by approximately 4.7% from approximately
US$101.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to US$96.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and further decreased by 1.4% to US$94.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 when presented in USD. When presented in Tenge,
the revenue of Ortalyk, recognised an increase of approximately 5.8% from
approximately Tenge 34,830 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately Tenge 36,861 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and a
further increase of approximately 6.4% to approximately Tenge 39,229 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. Such change was mainly attributable to the mixed
effect of change in sales volume, depreciation of Tenge against USD and increase in
international uranium price.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales of Ortalyk mainly relates to the direct cost for extraction and
processing of uranium from the Target Mines and were mainly incurred in Tenge.

The cost of sales of Ortalyk decreased by approximately 9.8% from approximately
US$59.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to US$53.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and further decreased by approximately 19.5% to US$42.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 when presented in USD. When presented
in Tenge, the cost of sales of Ortalyk remained relatively stable at approximately Tenge
20,920 million and approximately Tenge 20,336 million for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019, respectively. The cost of sales of Ortalyk decreased by
approximately 12.5% from approximately Tenge 20,336 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 to approximately Tenge 17,790 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 which is mainly attributable to the decrease in production for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Gross Profit

As a result of the forgoing, the gross profit of Ortalyk increased by approximately
US$1.0 million or 2.4% from approximately US$42.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately US$43.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 and increased by approximately US$9.0 million or 20.9% to approximately
US$52.1 million for the year ended December 2020.
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The gross profit margin increased from approximately 41.6% for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately 44.8% for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
increased to approximately 54.9% for the year ended 31 December 2020.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses which were mainly incurred in Tenge
decreased by approximately US$0.2 million or 6.6% from approximately US$2.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately US$2.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 mainly due to depreciation of Tenge against USD.

General and administrative expenses subsequently increased by approximately
US$0.7 million or 26.0% to approximately US$3.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 mainly due to recognition of expenses incurred in relation to the
Zhalpak Deposit upon its cessation of trial production whereas such expenses were
previously recognised as exploration and evaluation assets during its trial production.

Finance cost

Ortalyk does not have any borrowings and its finance cost mainly consisted of the
provisions for the unwinding of discount from asset restoration obligations in relation
to the Target Mines.

Finance cost decreased by approximately US$0.3 million or 32.3% from
approximately US$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
US$0.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 mainly due to foreign exchange
losses of approximately US$0.3 million incurred in the year ended 31 December 2018.
Finance cost remained relatively stable at US$0.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 as compare to the year ended 31 December 2019.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses of Ortalyk increased by approximately US$0.8 million or
10.7% from approximately US$7.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately US$8.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 due to the
combined effect of (i) increase in profit before tax as a result of the foregoing; and (ii)
recognition of tax expense due to under provision for the prior year of approximately
US$0.7 million.

Income tax expenses of Ortalyk further increased by US$1.3 million or 15.3% to

approximately US$9.9 million mainly as a result of increase in profit before tax as a
result of the foregoing.
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Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, profit of Ortalyk increased by approximately US$0.6
million or 2.0% from approximately US$30.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately US$31.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
further increased by approximately US$7.4 million or 23.8% to approximately US$38.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The table below sets forth the total assets and total liabilities of Ortalyk as at 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
Us$ US$ US$
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 68,118,814 64,407,921 58,379,582
Intangible assets 1,212,611 1,147,817 2,319,427
Exploration and evaluation assets 4,511,020 4,536,030 4,447,867
Other non-current assets 3,372,663 4,156,674 3,375,401
77,215,108 74,248,442 68,522,277
Current assets
Inventories 5,701,307 5,036,405 5,726,360
Prepaid income tax 2,030,471 1,635,671 925,892
Trade and other receivables and
prepayments 28,975,786 35,122,244 40,355,107
Cash and cash equivalents 9,482,738 7,751,529 4,720,354
46,190,302 49,545,849 51,727,713
Total assets 123,405,410 123,794,291 120,249,990
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As at 31 December

2018 2019 2020
US$ US$ US$
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 1,013,457 1,027,520 1,191,852
Provision for asset restoration
obligations 7,949,414 9,381,161 6,667,075
Long-term payables 1,500,666 1,016,947 509,686
Provision for employee benefits
obligations 68,071 58,243 184,678
Other non-current liabilities - - 91,096
10,531,608 11,483,871 8,644,387
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12,350,836 9,344,596 7,081,294
Current portion of long-term
payables 549,120 551,152 549,381
12,899,956 9,895,748 7,630,675
Total liabilities 23,431,564 21,379,619 16,275,062

Inventories

Inventories of Ortalyk, which mainly consisted of natural uranium, remained
relatively stable at approximately US$5.7 million, US$5.0 million and US$5.7 million
as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

Trade and other receivables and prepayments of Ortalyk, which mainly consisted
of trade receivables from contracts with customers increased by approximately US$6.1
million or 21.2% from approximately US$29.0 million as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately US$35.1 million as at 31 December 2019 and further increased by
US$5.2 million or 14.9% to US$40.4 million as at 31 December 2020 mainly due to
the payment schedule of its customer.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents of Ortalyk decreased by approximately US$1.7 million

or 18.3% from approximately US$9.5 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately
US$7.8 million as at 31 December 2019 mainly due to cash generated from operating
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activities of approximately US$34.5 million, net-off by purchases of property, plant and
equipment and exploration and evaluation assets of approximately US$6.9 million and
dividends of approximately US$29.6 million during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Cash and cash equivalents of Ortalyk further decreased by approximately US$3.0
million or 39.1% to approximately US$4.7 million as at 31 December 2020 mainly due
to cash generated from operating activities of approximately US$34.0 million, net-off
by purchases of property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets of
approximately US$7.3 million and dividends of approximately US$28.4 million during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Over 99% of the cash and cash equivalents of Ortalyk as at 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020 were held in Tenge.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment of Ortalyk decreased by approximately US$3.7
million or 5.4% from approximately US$68.1 million as at 31 December 2018 to
US$64.4 million as at 31 December 2019 which is mainly due to depreciation charge
of approximately US$9.4 million, partially set off by additions of approximately
US$5.2 million during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Property, plant and equipment of Ortalyk further decreased by approximately
US$6.0 million or 9.4% to approximately US$58.4 million as at 31 December 2020
which is mainly due to (i) depreciation charge of approximately US$7.3 million, (ii)
currency translation differences of approximately US$6.6 million; and (iii) assets
retirement obligation adjustment of approximately US$2.2 million, partially set off by
additions of approximately US$10.3 million, during the year ended 31 December 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Ortalyk has no borrowings as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020. The table
below sets for the gearing ratio of Ortalyk as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020:

As at 31 December
2018 2019 2020

Gearing ratio
(Total liabilities / total assets) 19.0% 17.3% 13.5%

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICY

Ortalyk generally utilises the cash generated from its business operation, which
mainly relates to the sales of natural uranium extracted from the Target Mines, for its
operational and capital expenditure and holds any surplus in deposit accounts. Based on
its current dividend policy, Ortalyk shall distribute at least 80% of its profits, after
adjusted for non-recurring items, for each financial year and has distributed 100% of
its adjusted profits during the past three financial years.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE

Save for the subsoil use rights in relation to the Target Mines, these was no any
significant investments held by Ortalyk during the Track Record Period and there was
no acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint venture.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND SUBSURFACE USE CONTRACT
COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, Ortalyk has capital expenditure
contracted for but not yet incurred of approximately US$156,000, US$1.9 million and
US$38,000, respectively, which mainly relates to on-going construction contracts.

In addition, under the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use Agreement, Ortalyk has the
obligation to make commitments in relation to various field development costs
including training of Kazakhstan staff, investments in development of social sphere and
accumulation of liquidation fund for site restoration.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND HEDGING
POLICY

As Ortalyk derived most of its income from sales of natural uranium which is
determined with reference to the international uranium price quoted in USD
(notwithstanding settled in Tenge) and settled most of its expenses in Tenge, local
currency of Kazakhstan, Ortalyk is exposed to the foreign exchange risk between USD
and Tenge.

During the Track Record Period, Ortalyk is subject to the foreign exchange risk of
the exchange rate between Tenge and USD. For the years ended 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020, should the USD strengthened by 10% with all other variables held
constant, the profit of Ortalyk would have decreased by approximately US$164,000,
US$125,000 and US$84,000, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors after making reasonable enquiries, Ortalyk
did not adopt any hedging policy.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CHARGE ON ASSET

To the best knowledge of the Directors after making reasonable enquiries, Ortalyk
did not have any contingent liability nor there exists any charge on the assets of
Ortalyk as of 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.
EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, Ortalyk had approximately 490, 480

and 465 employees. The labour costs amounted to US$7.4 million, US$7.5 million and
US$8.2 million for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.
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Employees may be given (i) bonuses according to their performance, (ii) bonuses
for national holidays, (iii) bonuses for initiatives for improving production efficiency
and (iv) bonuses from savings of the payroll funds as a result of planned labour
expenditure for the period exceeding the actual expenses. In addition, Ortalyk offers
vacation allowance when employees take annual leave and contributes to one-time
social payment and pension, social insurance and medical insurance in accordance with
the applicable laws.

Ortalyk also makes contribution to the labour union which utilises such fund to
organise culture and sporting events, seminars and training and presents for underage
children of employees.

To the best knowledge of the Directors after making reasonable enquiries, the
aggregate of the remuneration payable to and benefits in kind receivable by the
directors of Ortalyk will not be varied in consequence of the Acquisition.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

It is expected that upon entering into the Off-take Agreement and Completion of
the Acquisition, the products of Ortalyk will be fully purchased by Kazatomprom and
the Group in accordance with the mechanism of the Off-take Arrangement set out in
the section headed “Sale and Purchase Agreement — Off-take Arrangement” in the letter
from the Board in this circular.

For future development plans of the Target Mines, please refer to the Competent
Person Report in Appendix IV to this circular.
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REGULATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Subsoil use agreements

The principal statute governing mining activities in the Subsoil Code, which came
into force on 29 June 2018 and superseded the Subsoil Law, save for certain provisions
that remain effective for entities whose subsoil use contracts were concluded before 29
June 2018.

Under Article 20.1 of the Subsoil Code, subsoil use rights arise on the basis of a
subsoil use licence or a contract.

Central Mynkuduk Deposit

Title to the subsoil use right for the Central Mynkuduk Deposit is contained
within a single subsoil use agreement, being the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use
Agreement, with the following terms:

Date of contract: 8 July 2005

Term: 28 years (i.e. until 8 July 2033), consisting of 3

consecutive years of exploration and 25 consecutive years
of extraction

Current owner: Ortalyk

Size of allotment: 46.979 square kilometres
Depth: 370 meters

Scope: Exploration and extraction

Zhalpak Deposit

Title to the subsoil use right for the Zhalpak Deposit is contained within a single
subsoil use agreement, being the Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement, with the
following terms:

Date of contract: 31 May 2010

Term: 4 years initially and further extended to 31 May 2018
subsequently

Current owner: Ortalyk

Size of allotment: 145.8 square kilometres

Scope: Exploration
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In its letter to the competent authority dated 20 February 2018, the Ortalyk
requested the competent authority to extend the period of exploration on Zhalpak
Deposit until 31 December 2022. According to the letter, such extension would allow
reaching 50% metal extraction by 2019, which is required to prepare a report with
calculations of uranium deposits in 2020, and ultimately enter into a contract for
uranium extraction with the competent authority in 2022.

The competent authority, in its letter dated 14 May 2018, responded to the request
of Ortalyk, permitting the extension of the period of exploration. However, from the
letter of Ortalyk to the competent authority dated 6 January 2020, Ortalyk and the
competent authority are still in the process of negotiating a draft of mine assessment
works.

In accordance with the requirements of the Subsoil Code of Kazakhstan, subsoil
extraction rights are granted to a national company in the field of uranium, i.e.
Kazatomprom. Accordingly, Kazatomprom shall first obtain the extraction right of the
Zhalpak Deposit by entering into the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement with the
relevant authority of the Kazakhstan government and transfer the New Zhaplak Subsoil
Use Agreement to Ortalyk on or before 31 December 2021 pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

As Ortalyk has continued the subsoil use on Zhalpak Deposit in the absence of
the subsoil use contract or a licence, Ortalyk may be subjected to the following
consequences:

° under article 463.1 of the Code “On Administrative Offences” of the
Kazakhstan (“Administrative Code”), conducting activities without a
licence, when such licence is required by law, entails a fine of up to 150
monthly calculated index in accordance with Kazakhstan law (“MCI”) which
currently equals to approximately US$980, with confiscation of income
(dividends), funds and securities obtained as a result of the offence, if such
activities do not have elements of a criminal offence;

° under article 214.1 of the Criminal Code of Kazakhstan, officers or
employees of Ortalyk may be liable for conducting subsoil use activities
without a licence, if such activities have caused large-scale damage to a
citizen, organization or the state or involve income in a large amount or
production, storage, transportation or sale of excise goods in substantial
amount. The offence is punishable by a fine of up to 2,000 MCI, which
currently equals to approximately US$13,073, correctional work in the same
amount, community service of up to 600 hours, or restriction of liberty or
imprisonment of up to 2 years with or without confiscation of property;

° under article 73 of the Code on Criminal Procedures of Kazakhstan, subsoil
use operation under the Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement also entails
a risk of the Kazakhstan bringing a civil claim within the criminal case
against the employees of Ortalyk on compensation of damages; and
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e article 356.4 Administrative Code states that conducting exploration,
assessment works, as well as extraction works in the absence of approved
project documents entails a fine of up to 2,000 MCI, which currently equals
to approximately US$13,073.

Compliance with work program under subsoil use agreements

Pursuant to Kazakhstan law, each subsoil user is obliged to conduct its subsoil use
operations pursuant to the work program under the subsoil use agreements. In order to
demonstrate fulfilment of the contractual obligations and obligations under the annual
work program, the subsoil user is required to submit reports on fulfilment of
contractual obligations and obligations under the annual work program (“LKU
reports”). LKU reports are submitted in accordance with the established form on both
a quarterly and an annual basis. The competent authority, after receipt of the annual
LKU report, considers its fulfilment.

According to the LKU reports for 2018 and 2019 of Central Mynkuduk Subsoil
Use Agreement, Ortalyk has failed to fulfilled certain of the expenses envisaged by the
work program. According to Ortalyk, the reason behind its non-fulfilment of the work
program obligations was its 20% decrease of volume of uranium extraction and that it
was entitled to decrease the volume of uranium extraction under the Subsoil Code.

Article 66.8 of the Subsoil Law and Article 182.7 of the Subsoil Code permit
certain subsoil users to deviate from project documents by less than 20% without
amending the project documents. However, a recent amendment to Article 278.22 of
the Subsoil Code, which came into force on 6 January 2020 and has retrospective
effect on contracts executed before the Subsoil Code’s effective date, excludes uranium
from the list of minerals whose volume of extraction may be altered without the need
to amend project documents approved under the previously existing subsoil use laws.

Due to the novelty of the amendment, it is unclear whether the competent
authority would be of the position that (i) since adoption of the Subsoil Code any
deviation required amendments to the project documents approved under the previously
existing subsoil use laws or (ii) only since such amendments uranium subsoil users are
required to amend the old project documents in case of deviation in production.

In case the competent authority argue that even Ortalyk had the project documents
approved under the laws effective prior to the Subsoil Code, Ortalyk has no right to
deviate from the production provided in such project documents, and in such case, the
competent authority may unilaterally repudiate the Central Mynkuduk Subsoil Use
Agreement pursuant to Article 72 of the Subsoil Law.

In addition, according to the LKU report for 2018 of Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement, Ortalyk fulfilled most of its obligations for 2018 with the exception of
expenses on geological exploration and indirect expenses. Despite the expiry of
Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement, it provided that Ortalyk is still under an
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obligation to remedy the underperformance of obligations under the work program. The
work program of the Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement does not envisage
subsoil use operations after 2018.

Liquidation fund payments and insurance obligations

According to the subsoil use agreements, Ortalyk is required to form and
contribute to a liquidation fund for financing liquidation of consequences of subsoil
operations and obtain certain insurance policies, such as employer’s liability insurance,
environmental pollution insurance and insurance for civil liability for damage caused to
third parties.

Other licenses and permits

Kazakhstan law requires that licenses, permits be obtained or notifications
submitted prior to commencement of certain types of activities. In addition to the
licences, permits and certificates relating to environmental matters set forth in the
paragraph headed “Environmental matters” in this section below, Ortalyk obtained the
following licences in relation to its activities:

Licence / permit
Nature of licence / permit Issuing authority number Issue date Expiry date

License for activities related Committee on the 17005428 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2022
to circulation of precursors  Fight Against Drug
Trafficking and Drug
Control and the
Ministry of Internal
Affairs of the Republic
of Kazakhstan

License for handling of State Institution 20006845 May 15, 2020 May 15, 2025
radioactive materials, “Committee for Atomic
devices and equipment and Energy Supervision
containing radioactive and Control”
materials

License for radioactive waste  State Institution 15019372 2 November 2 November
management “Committee for Atomic 2015 2020 !

and Energy Supervision
and Control” and the
Ministry of Energy of
the Republic of
Kazakhstan

Note:

L. Ortalyk applied for renewal on 3 October 2020, but the license has not been issued yet.
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Environmental matters
Environmental permits

The Environmental Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 9 January 2007 No.
212-1II, as amended (the “Environmental Code”) provides that an entity making
emissions or discharges to the environment must obtain an environmental permit for
such emissions or discharges and that if production facilities are located within
different regions of Kazakhstan, a separate environment permit should be obtained for
each facility.

The Environmental Code and the Sanitary Rules “Sanitary epidemiological
requirements for determination of sanitary protection zones of production facilities”
approved by the order of Minister of National Economy of Kazakhstan, facilities which
require environmental permit for operation are divided into four categories depending
on the level of hazard.

Environmental permits establish certain limits for emissions and impose certain
obligations on its holder. The Administrative Code provides that the permit may be
suspended or revoked if non-compliance to the obligations has led to major damage
and threat to health and life of the population. The key conditions to be complied with
under the permits include: (a) compliance with the established norms of the emissions
of pollutants; (b) implementation of the measures set out in the respective plan of
environmental protection measures; (c) reporting to the authorities on a quarterly basis
on observance of points (a) and (b) and on maintenance of industrial environmental
control.

Emission exceeding the limits stated in the permit may lead to administrative or
criminal liabilities. Person responsible for such excess of the limits would be liable to
compensate in full the damage caused. As of December 2020, Ortalyk obtained eight
environmental permits for its facilities of different categories.

Environment Impact Assessment

Under the Environmental Code, environment impact assessment (the “EIA”) is
mandatory for any types of business and other activity which may directly or indirectly
affect the environment and human health. The EIA is a procedure within which
possible consequences of business and other activities for the environment and human
health are assessed and measures for prevention of unfavourable consequences are
developed. The EIA is subject to state environmental examination. According to the
Environmental Code, development and implementation of projects are prohibited in the
absence of the relevant EIA when required. The Administrative Code stipulates that
absence of state environmental examination or non-fulfilment of the requirements
specified in the conclusion of state environmental examination may lead to
administrative liability in the form of an administrative fine up to 350 MCI, which is
approximately US$2,288.
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Industrial Environmental Control

According to the Environmental Code, entities which use natural resources and/or
cause emissions into the environment are required to perform industrial environmental
control on the basis of the special program that each natural resource user develops for
itself. Such program must include, inter alia, a list of the parameters that the industrial
environmental control process tracks, criteria for determining the frequency of
industrial environmental control operations, the duration and frequency of
measurements, and the instruments or methods of calculation used. The natural
resource user is also required to perform internal record-keeping and prepares and
submits periodic reports on the results of industrial environmental control in
accordance with the requirements set by the state authority competent in the area of
environmental protection. Based on the Ortalyk’s environmental permits, such reports
should be submitted to the competent authority on a quarterly basis.

Ortalyk’s industrial environmental control program was approved by its General
Director on 11 December 2015 and has duly submitted the reports on industrial
environmental control for 2019 and the first three quarters of 2020.

Ecological insurance

Under Kazakhstan law, enterprises conducting environmentally hazardous
activities must obtain a mandatory environmental insurance policy. Ortalyk conducts a
number of activities such as subsoil use, hazardous waste disposal and water use,
which are included into the list of environmentally hazardous activities by the Minister
of Energy.

Ortalyk obtained the agreement for mandatory environmental insurance which is
effective until 13 May 2021.

Hazardous waste disposal

Under the Environmental Code, for the activities, which result in hazardous waste,
individuals and legal entities, who conduct such activities, must develop and approve
hazardous waste certificates listing, among other things, sources of waste, chemical
composition, recommended measures for handling and transporting the waste and
preventative measures against accidents. Such waste certificates must be submitted to
the competent authority within three months from the moment waste is produced.

As of December 2020, Ortalyk was holding 21 registered hazardous waste
certificates for various types of waste, such as mercury residues, old pneumatic tires,
spent oils and old protective clothes.

In addition, waste owners are also required to maintain calculations of waste and

submit an annual report on their waste disposal activities to the competent authority for
their inclusion into state waste inventory.
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Special water use

Pursuant to the Water Code of Kazakhstan (the “Water Code”), special water use
includes direct use of surface and underground water resources for the purpose of
providing for the population’s need for drinking water and other domestic use,
agricultural use, industry, energy production, fish farming, transportation, as well as for
the disposal of industrial, domestic, drainage, and other waste water through the use of
facilities constructed and operated in compliance with Kazakhstan law, regardless of
whether the water is extracted from its source. Under the Water Code, special water use
is conducted on the basis of a permit that applies only to water use for those purposes
specified in that permit and must not violate the rights and legal interests of other
persons and entities or cause damage to the environment. Water users are required to
fully comply with the water use terms set out in the permit as well as with the
requirements of controlling authorities within the prescribed time limits.

As of December 2020, Ortalyk was holding three valid special water use permits.
Inspection by the Ecology Department of Turkestan Region

The Ecology Department of Turkestan Region inspected Ortalyk on June 10-21,
2019 for compliance with the environmental protection requirements of Kazakhstan law
covering the period from 1 January 2017 until 27 June 2019. The inspection discovered
six violations of various nature, including spillage of sulfuric acid, land pollution due
to spillage of technological solutions, ineffective sewage treatment, excess smoke from
a number of automobiles, provision of inaccurate information on conducting of
industrial environmental control. The competent authority prescribed certain
instructions on rectification of the revealed violations to the Ortalyk, including
deadlines for rectification of each individual violation. Failure to fulfil prescriptions of
state authorities may entail administrative liability. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, such violations have been rectified.

During the inspection it was also revealed that the Ortalyk exceeded the permitted
norms of emissions of pollutants to the atmosphere which resulted in the obligation to
compensate the damage caused to the environment and a compensation of 87,401.51
Tenge (approximately US$206) has been paid by Ortalyk. Nevertheless, payment of the
damage caused to the environment does not exclude administrative or criminal liability.
Therefore, emissions into the environment in excess of the limits established in the
environmental permit may result in an administrative fine equal to ten times of the
regular payments for the emissions.
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5.  INDUSTRY OVERVIEW OF THE URANIUM MARKET

This section contains certain information which has been derived from official,
market and other public sources including the World Nuclear Association and UxC. Such
information has not been independently verified by the Company, the Directors or any of
their affiliates or advisers or any other parties involved in the Acquisition or the
preparing of this circular and no representation is given as to its accuracy. Such
information may not be consistent with information from other sources.

References to “reserves” or “resources” in this section are not references to
reserves or resources as defined under the JORC Code.

Introduction

Uranium occurs naturally in the Earth’s crust and is mildly radioactive. Uranium is
predominantly used as the basic fuel in nuclear power reactors, mostly for electricity
generation. The uranium ore mined and processed from the uranium mines is called natural
uranium which contains only 0.71% of fissile isotope 235U with mild radiation and most of
current power reactors require enriched uranium, so this natural uranium must be enriched.
The level of enrichment required depends on specific reactor design. Typically, to produce 1
kg of enriched uranium with 5% of 235U, about 10 kg of natural uranium is required.

Nuclear Fuel Production

The production of nuclear energy involves a series of activities from extraction of
uranium to generation of electricity at a nuclear power plant. Natural uranium concentrates
(U50g) produced after mining cannot be used as fuel for nuclear reactors without undergoing
further processing. The diagram below illustrates the processes from mining to electricity
generation at nuclear power plant:
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Mining of uranium

Uranium ore is mined through one of three extraction methods: open-pit mining,
underground mining or in-situ recovery depending on geology of the deposit and safety and
economic considerations. The end product of the mining stage natural uranium concentrate
(U;0g), which contains about 85% uranium. This is the form in which uranium is sold.

Both open-pit and underground mining require the ore to be removed from the ground
in order to extract the uranium. Open-pit mining is generally used for deposits which are
close to the surface. It requires an excavation area larger than the size of the deposit and as
a result it is necessary to remove a large amount of material in order to access the ore body.
Underground mining is used for deep deposits and have relatively small surface disturbance
and considerably less quantity of material moved than in open pit mining. In both methods,
the ore is crushed and ground up and then treated with acid or alkaline to dissolve the
uranium.

The in-situ recovery method is a method of ore deposit extraction that does not bring
the ore itself to the surface but dissolves the uranium in a groundwater sulphuric acid
solution. It can be used at deposits that consist of uranium oxides and which are permeable.
In in-situ recovery method, uranium is mined by dissolving it from the ore body in-situ by
mixing with a low-sulphuric acid solution pumped through the injection well into the ore
body and, as a result of acidification, the uranium is dissolved into the solution known as
“pregnant solution”. The pregnant solution is then pumped back to the surface through
extraction well and into intermediate holding ponds where it is later transferred for
processing to recover the uranium. Once the uranium is recovered, the remaining solution is
re-fortified and injected back into the ground.
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There are several advantages of using the in-situ recovery method over the open-pit or
underground mining methods. In-situ recovery method requires considerably lower capital
costs to construct the mines, lower operating expenses and less manpower. Environmental
impacts of in-situ recovery extraction are mitigated since in-situ recovery does not create
waste by-products by extracting the ore to the surface. The in-situ recovery process
mobilises less than 5% of the radioactive elements, the balance of which remains in the
ground as compared to 100% mobilisation when conventional open-pit or underground
mining methods are used. This significantly reduces the need for construction of
re-cultivation ponds which are necessary to store radioactive waste from conventional
mining methods.

Mining methods of uranium have evolved over time. In 1990, over half of world
production came from underground mines, but this shrunk dramatically to approximately
33% in 1999 and global use of in-situ recovery mining method has been growing steadily.
According to World Nuclear Association, approximately 57% of uranium produced globally
in 2019 utilised in-situ recovery method and substantially all production from the
Kazakhstan is using in-situ recovery method.

Uranium Demand

Uranium is principally used as fuel for nuclear power plants. Reactor-related demand
for uranium is fundamentally driven by installed nuclear power generation capacity, which is
ultimately driven by the demand for electricity. According to World Nuclear Association,
approximately 10.1% of the world’s electricity is generated from nuclear power plants in
2019.

Because of the cost structure of nuclear power generation, being high capital and low
fuel costs, demand for uranium fuel is much more predictable than with probably any other
mineral commodity. Once reactor is built, it is cost-effective to keep them running at high
capacity and to adjust electricity generation by cutting back on fossil fuel use according to
electricity load trend. Demand forecasts for uranium thus depend largely on installed and
operable capacity, regardless of economic fluctuations.

As of January 2021, there were approximately 440 operable nuclear reactors worldwide
with combined capacity of approximately 393 GW which required approximate 68,000
tonnes of uranium annually according to World Nuclear Association.

Uranium Consumption by Region

According to World Nuclear Association, the United States of America generated the
largest amount of nuclear electricity in 2019, with approximately 809.4 TWh generated,
accounted for approximately 30.5% of worldwide nuclear electricity generation; and France
has the largest dependency on nuclear electricity with 382.4 TWh generated in 2019,
representing approximately 70.6% of its total electricity generation in 2019.
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Table below sets forth certain nuclear electricity generation related data of the top 10
countries with largest nuclear electricity generation in 2019:

Top 10 countries with largest nuclear electricity generation in 2019

As of January 2021 Uranium
Nuclear electricity Reactors under required
Country generation in 2019 Reactors operable construction Reactors planned Reactors proposed in 2021
TWh % e No. MW net No. MW gross No. MW gross No. MW gross Tonnes
United State of America 809.4 19.7 94 96,553 2 2,500 3 2,550 18 8,000 18,295
France 3824 70.6 56 61,370 1 1,650 0 0 0 0 8,701
PRC 330.1 49 49 47498 16 17,253 39 43,085 168 196,910 10,814
Russia 195.5 19.7 38 2857 2 2510 21 21,380 23 22,500 6,227
South Korea 138.8 262 4 23171 4 5,600 0 0 2 2,800 5,121
Canada 94.9 149 19 13,554 0 0 0 0 2 1,500 1,409
Ukraine 78.1 539 15 13,107 2 1,900 0 0 2 2,400 1,879
Germany 719 124 6 8,113 0 0 0 0 0 0 587
Japan 65.7 15 33 31,679 2 2,756 1 1,385 8 11,562 2,344
Sweden 64.4 34.0 6 6,859 0 0 0 0 0 0 985
Rest of the world 425.8 N/A 102 62,581 U 25587 34 34,107 103 109,990 11,907
World total 2,657 10.1 442 393,004 53 59,756 98 102,507 326 355,662 68,269
Source:  World Nuclear Association

Forecasted demand

According to the 19th edition of the Nuclear Fuel Report released by World Nuclear
Association in 2019, the compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of global nuclear reactor
capacity is expected to be 2.0% between 2019 and 2030 and the CAGR of global uranium
demand is expected to be 2.1% during the same period.

According to World Nuclear Association, as of January 2021, there were 53 reactors
under construction with combined capacity of approximately 60 GW and 98 planned reactors
with combined capacity of approximately 103 GW. In addition, there were also 326 reactors
proposed with total combined capacity of 356 GW.

Uranium Supply
Uranium resources

Total world resources of uranium, as is the case for other metals and minerals, are not
known exactly. The only meaningful measure of long-term security of supply is the known
reserves in the ground capable of being mined.

According to the 2020 edition of Uranium — Resources, Production and Demand, also
known as the “Red Book”, the world’s conventional identified uranium resources amounted
to 8,070,400 tonnes of uranium metal (tU) as of 1 January 2019 with Australia, Kazakhstan
and Canada ranking the first three in uranium resources, accounting for around 50% of the
world total. However, only 25% of the identified resources is estimated to be recovered at
the cost below USD 80/kgU (USD30.8/1b), being having economic viability in the current
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uranium market. Kazakhstan has the largest low-cost uranium resources in the world with
identified resources below USD 80/kgU and USD 40/kgU accounting for 49% and 36%
respectively of the world total.

Uranium production

In 2019, total worldwide uranium production from mines was approximately 54,752
tonnes of uranium according to World Nuclear Association. Uranium from direct mines
output supplied about 85% of the fuel requirement of reactors which is supplemented by
secondary sources such as commercial stockpiles, nuclear weapons stockpiles and recycled
plutonium and uranium from reprocessing used fuel.

Over two-thirds of the world’s production of uranium from mines is from Kazakhstan,
Canada and Australia, with Kazakhstan, being the largest producer, produced 42% of the
world supply in 2019. The table below sets forth the top 10 countries with the largest
uranium production in 2019:

Tonnes of

uranium
produced in % of World
Ranking Country 2019 Total
1 Kazakhstan 22.808 41.7%
2 Canada 6,938 12.7%
3 Australia 6,613 12.1%
4 Namibia 5,476 10.0%
5 Uzbekistan (est.) 3,500 6.4%
6 Niger 2,983 5.4%
7 Russia 2,911 5.3%
8 China (est.) 1,885 3.4%
9 Ukraine 801 1.5%
10 South Africa 346 0.6%
Rest of the world 491 1.0%
World total 54,752 100.0%

Source: World Nuclear Association
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The uranium production industry is relatively small, with few companies accounting for
majority of uranium produced. Kazatomprom is the largest producer of uranium in 2019,
with 12,229 tonnes of uranium produced in 2019, represented approximately 22% of global
production. The table below sets forth the top 10 companies with the largest uranium

production in 2019:

Tonnes of

uranium

produced in

Ranking Company 2019
1 Kazatomprom 12,229
2 Orano 5,809
3 Cameco 4,754
4 Uranium One 4,624
5 CNNC 3,961
6 CGN 3,871
7 Navoi Mining 3,500
8 BHP 3,364
9 ARMZ 2,904
10 Energy Asia 2,122
Others 7,614

Total 54,752

Source: World Nuclear Association
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There is also a high concentration of production with the ten largest uranium mines
accounting for approximately 55% of total global uranium production in 2019, according to
World Nuclear Association. The following tables sets forth largest-producing uranium mines

in 2019:

Rank

Mine

Cigar Lake
Husab

Olympic Dam
Moinjum & Tortkuduk

Inkai, sites 1-3
Budenovskoye 2
Réssing

SOMAIR

Central Mynkuduk
South Inkai (Block 4)

Top 10 total

Source: World Nuclear Association

Country

Canada
Namibia

Australia
Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
Namibia
Niger

Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
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Main owner

Cameco/Orano
Swakop Uranium
(CGN)
BHP Billiton
Orano/
Kazatomprom
Kazaktomprom/
Cameco
Uranium One/
Kazatomprom
Rio Tinto
Orano
Kazatomprom
Uranium One/
Kazatomprom

Tonnes of
uranium
produced in
2019

6,924
3,400

3,364
3,252

3,209
2,600
2,076
1,912
1,964
1,601

30,032

% of world

13

W W

55%
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Uranium demand and supply
As shown in the figure forecasted by World Nuclear Association, the world’s total
uranium production from existing uranium mines plus secondary supply cannot meet the

uranium demand from nuclear power plants from mid-2020s to 2035

World uranium demand and supply forecast
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Source:  World Nuclear Association (in respect of demand)
UxC (in respect of (in respect of total production and secondary supply)

With the declining secondary supply, the supply deficit is expected to be made up from
idled mines and planned or potential uranium mines. Most of the idled mines and planned
mines are estimated to have higher per unit cost than operating mines and, according to UxC
as illustrated in the chart below, to meet the base demand in 2025, the marginal cost of the
mines would be in the USD 50-59.99/1b category:
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Source: UxC

Accordingly, the increment in uranium production cost would be a major driver for the
uranium price going forward.
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Uranium price

Worldwide uranium purchases can generally fall into two categories, namely spot
contracts and long-term contracts. Spot contracts are contracts with a one-time uranium
delivery (usually) for the entire contract, and the delivery typically occurs within one year
of contract execution (signed date). Long-term contracts are contracts with one or more
uranium deliveries to occur at least a year following the contract execution (signed date) and
as such may reflect some agreements of short and medium terms as well as longer term.
According to U.S. Energy Information Administration, 22% of the uranium delivered was
purchased under spot contracts and the remaining 78% was purchased under long-term
contracts in 2019.

There is no uranium commodity exchange or common trading platform where
international market prices for uranium can be determined. Monthly and weekly price
indicators for uranium products are generally used in spot transaction pricing. The UxC
LLC, TradeTech and the Euratom Supply Agency all track uranium prices. The chart below
sets forth the spot uranium prices since 2001:
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As of month end of January 2021, uranium spot price was US$29.5 and US$29.75 per
pound of natural uranium, as quoted by UxC and TradeTech, respectively.

The uranium price hit the bottom in the year 2016 and remained low until the
beginning of 2018 prior to gaining an upward momentum in mid-2018 . In the end of 2020,
the spot price remained stable at USD 30 per pound of natural uranium, representing an
increase of approximately 10 USD per pound of natural uranium or 50% compared with the
lowest price in 2016.
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Uranium market outlook

The year 2020 has seen a dramatic change in uranium dynamics. The impact of
COVID-19 on global primary uranium supply has already been seen in most mining
jurisdictions. Driven by the need to keep employees safe and follow local health regulations,
the temporary suspensions and production reductions announced by major uranium producers
in Kazakhstan, Canada, Namibia and other locales in March and April has significance on
the market sentiments with the uranium spot price soared up to $34/lb in April, the highest
price since the year 2016.

According to UxC, compared to volumes announced before COVID-19 pandemic, there
is a reduction of about 20 million pounds of natural uranium production in 2020,
representing more than 10% of world’s production, pushing the supply-demand balance into
a supply deficit and reducing inventories. Notably, according to UxC, production
suspensions related to COVID-19 have prompted additional purchases and uranium spot
trading reached a new record of 29,000 tU in 2020 in terms of volume and number of deals
since 1987, with the spot price quoted by UxC reached 30 USD per pound of natural
uranium by the end of 2020, representing an increase of 5 USD per pound of natural
uranium as compared to the price of 25 USD per pound of natural uranium by the end of
2019.

In the medium- to long-term, the under investment in uranium resources and
concentration of production suggests continued constraints in supply. According to UxC,
uranium spot and long-term prices is estimated to continue to increase with the spot price
reaching around 40 USD per pound and long-term price around 50 USD per pound in 2025
and above 60 USD per pound in 2030.

Despite the constrained supply, uranium demand is projected to increase steadily. While
the disruption caused by COVID-19 has impacted every country, nuclear power’s important
role in the global energy supply is expected to remain intact as a means of generating
reliable baseload energy at a low operating cost. As a low-carbon energy source, nuclear is
likely to form an integral part of future energy plans as countries seek to meet their carbon
emission reduction commitments and limit global warming.

New reactors currently under construction and those planned represent approximately

41.3% increase in the global reactor fleet from the current position according to World
Nuclear Association.
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RISK FACTORS
Risks relating to the operation of Ortalyk
Uncertainty in obtaining the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement

The Expired Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement held by Ortalyk expired on May 31,
2018 and as of the Latest Practicable Date, a renewed or extended right has not been
granted. There is no assurance that Ortalyk can eventually obtain the New Zhalpak
Subsoil Use Agreement and if Ortalyk fails to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use
Agreement, Ortalyk will not be able to benefit from the uranium inventory located
therein and in turn its financial position and operating results may be adversely
affected.

Uncertainty on compliance with work program under subsoil use agreements

Pursuant to Kazakhstan law, each subsoil user is obliged to conduct its subsoil use
operations pursuant to the work program under the subsoil use agreements. According
to the annual work program reports for the Target Mines, Ortalyk has failed to fulfilled
certain of the expenses envisaged by the work program as further described under the
paragraph headed “4. Regulatory and environmental matters — Compliance with work
program under subsoil use agreements” under “Further information on Ortalyk”.

Article 66.8 of the Subsoil Law and Article 182.7 of the Subsoil Code permit
certain subsoil users to deviate from project documents by less than 20% without
amending the project documents. However, a recent amendment to Article 278.22 of
the Subsoil Code, which came into force on 6 January 2020 and has retrospective
effect on contracts executed before the Subsoil Code’s effective date, excludes uranium
from the list of minerals whose volume of extraction may be altered without the need
to amend project documents approved under the previously existing subsoil use laws.

Due to the novelty of the amendment, it is unclear whether the competent
authority would be of the position that (i) since adoption of the Subsoil Code any
deviation required amendments to the project documents approved under the previously
existing subsoil use laws or (ii) only since such amendments uranium subsoil users are
required to amend the old project documents in case of deviation in production.

In case the competent authority argue that even Ortalyk had the project documents
approved under the laws effective prior to the Subsoil Code, Ortalyk has no right to
deviate from the production provided in such project documents, and in such case, the
competent authority may unilaterally repudiate the relevant subsoil use agreements.
And in such case, Ortalyk may no longer has the right to extract from the Target Mines
and the financial position and operating results of Ortalyk may be materially and
adversely affected.
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Potential accidents in the mining process

Similar to other mining companies, there is no assurance that there will not occur
accident in the mining process. The occurrence of accident may result in substantial
disruptions of the uranium mining operations and financial losses, damage to Ortalyk’s
reputation, increase in lawsuits and other compensatory claims and payouts, fines,
penalties and mandatory suspension of production. Liabilities might arise in the future
as a result of accidents, fatalities or other workforce-related misfortunes, some of
which may be beyond the Ortalyk’s control. The occurrence of accidents could delay
production, increase production costs and result in significant liability not covered by
insurance and adverse publicity which may in turn adversely affect reputation, business
operation, results of operation and financial position of Ortalyk.

Failure to maintain various permits or licenses or satisfy administrative requirements

Numerous permits, licenses and approvals are required for the exploration,
extraction and production activities of Ortalyk. Certain permits, licenses and approvals
are subject to renewal, modification and revocation from time to time. If the Ortalyk
fails to obtain or renew or to procure to obtain or renew such permits, licenses and
approvals on a timely basis, Ortalyk may be subject to fines or be prohibited from
continuing operations, which could in turn exert an adverse impact on the result of
operations of Ortalyk.

Operational risks, hazards and unexpected disruptions

The continuous operations of Ortalyk are subject to a number of operational risks
and hazards, for instance unexpected maintenance or technical problems, periodic
interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions, fires, natural disasters,
industrial accidents, power or fuel supply interruptions, critical equipment failure,
malfunction and breakdowns of information management systems, depreciation and
breakdowns of critical facilities and equipment, usual or unexpected variations in
mineralization, geological or mining conditions, loss of well control, and volatility in
transportation costs. These risks and hazards may result in personal injury,
environmental damage, damage in business reputation and corporate image, destruction
of properties or production facilities, business interruption, delay in product delivery
and may subject Ortalyk and its directors and/or officers to extensive legal liability. In
the event of any of the above issues happens, the results of operations and financial
condition of Ortalyk could be seriously affected.

Uncertainties of reserves estimations and production projections

The methodology of estimating ore reserve may be updated over time and the
estimates on the mineral resource and ore reserves of Ortalyk in the Competent Person
Report is reliant to certain assumptions and judgement on principal factors and
variables such as knowledge, experience and industry practice, which may found to
deviate from the actual conditions of Ortalyk. There exists a small bias between the
chemical and gamma U assays with the gamma data returning the lowest value.
Estimates of the resources and reserves may change significantly when new information
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becomes available or new factors arise. As a result, the actual amounts of uranium
resources and reserves extracted by Ortalyk may deviate materially from the amount
and schedule estimated. As a result, the business, results of operation and financial
position of Ortalyk may not be as optimum as expected.

Risks associated to additional capital investment requirement

Operation in the mining industry requires substantial and continuous capital
investment. Natural resources production projects may not be completed as planned or
scheduled, may exceed the original budget, or may not achieve the intended economic
results or commercial viability. Therefore, additional capital may be required for the
development of the Target Mines and in such case, the financial position and results of
operation of Ortalyk may be adversely affected.

Inclement weather and natural disaster

Inclement weather and natural disasters may cause evacuation of personnel,
curtailment of operations, damage to mineral properties, transportation routes and
loading facilities. This could in turn result in temporary suspension of operations and a
general reduction in productivity. There is no assurance that inclement weather and
natural disasters will not cause significant losses to Ortalyk in the future. Any damage
to Ortalyk’s projects or delays to its operations by prolonged periods of inclement
weather could materially affect its business and results of its operations.

Fluctuation in the price of uranium

Uranium price can be affected by a wide range of factors, including but not
limited to capacity of nuclear power plants, supply of uranium around the globe,
electricity demand, stability of the international and domestic economic situation and
the fluctuation of the global political and social condition, which are beyond Ortalyk’s
control. In particular, there is no assurance that there will not be large scale nuclear
crises such as that in Fukushima city of Japan 2011 or the Chernobyl disaster in 1986
causing a sharp reduction in uranium demand.

There is also no assurance that demand for uranium will grow, or that the demand
for uranium will not experience excess supply. In the absence of any offsetting factors,
a significant and sustained adverse movement in the market prices of or demands for
uranium may have a material adverse impact on the financial performance of Ortalyk,
and in extreme circumstances, the cost of extraction of uranium may exceed uranium
price, resulting the operation of Ortalyk non-profitable.

Risks associated with litigation
As with any company, Ortalyk maybe exposed to risk associated with litigation.
There might be potential litigation but the impact of the potential litigation is unknown

to the Group which may or may not be material. The potential litigation may have an
adverse impact on the results of operation, financial condition and prospects of Ortalyk.
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Adequacy of insurance coverage

Ortalyk may maintain certain insurance coverage from time to time. However,
there is no guarantee that insurance coverage will always be available to Ortalyk at
economically viable premiums (if at all) or that, in the event of a claim, the level of
insurance carried by Ortalyk will be adequate to cover the entire claim/liability. Any
liabilities arise that are not insured or where insurance coverage is inadequate to cover
such liabilities may materially or adversely affect the actual or prospective profitability
and the business and operation results. Ortalyk’s business could also be materially and
adversely affected by claims for which it is not adequately insured.

Environmental risks and issues arising from compliance with environmental
regulations and permitting requirements

The operations of the Target Mines are subject to the extensive environmental
risks inherent in the mining industry, such as risks of leakages, contamination of
groundwater, contamination by chemical and radioactive substances, excess emission of
air pollutants or other unforeseen circumstances, which could subject Ortalyk to
considerable liability. Violation of health, safety or environmental laws, or failure to
comply with the instructions of the relevant health, safety or environmental authorities,
could lead to, amongst other things, a temporary shut down of all or a portion of the
mine or relevant facility; the imposition of costly compliance procedures and fines;
order to remedy the pollution caused which can be costly; or serious reputation damage
to Ortalyk. In extreme circumstances, the relevant subsoil use right agreements may be
rescinded by the relevant authority and Ortalyk may loss its right to the Target Mines.
Should any of the above happens, business operation, results of operation and financial
position of Ortalyk may be adversely affected.

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

Ortalyk recognizes most of its revenue from sales of natural uranium which is
determined with reference to the international uranium price quoted in US dollar and
operating costs in Kazakhstan currency Tenge. Hence, its cost competitiveness,
profitability and financial position is affected by the exchange rate between Tenge and
US dollar. The effect of currency exchange fluctuations is impossible to predict with
any degree of certainty and this may materially and adversely affect Ortalyk’s
operations and financial performance should there be any appreciation in exchange rate
of Tenge against US dollar.

Reliance on Ortalyk’s ability to attract, retain and train senior management or key
technical staff

The future performance of Ortalyk depends, to a certain extent, upon its ability to
continue to attract, retain and motivate key qualified personnel, key senior management
and other employees with various skills and experience, including in relation to the
development and operation of mineral projects. There is no assurance that these key
qualified personnel will continue to provide services to Ortalyk or will honour the
agreed terms and conditions of their employment or service contracts. Any loss of key
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qualified personnel or failure to recruit and retain personnel may have a material
adverse effect on business and operation of Ortalyk which may in turn adversely affect
the results of operation of Ortalyk.

Risks relating to mining contractors

Third parties contractors are engaged to provide certain services in the operation
of the Target Mines. Such third party contractors may be unable to perform their
obligation due to different reasons, such as financial difficulties, contractual disputes
and natural disasters, and there is no guarantee that Ortalyk will be able to source an
alternate service provider in a timely manner or at all. In such case, this may adversely
affect the operation of Ortalyk and in turn, the financial performance of Ortalyk.

Risks relating to the Acquisition
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Group will hold a 49% participation
interest in Ortalyk and Kazatomprom will hold a 51% interest in Ortalyk.
Notwithstanding certain covenant to protect the Group’s interest in Ortalyk exist under
the Shareholders’ Agreement, Kazatomprom will be able to exert substantial control
over Ortalyk and there is no guarantee that Kazatomprom will operate Ortalyk in such
a way in the interest of all of its participant as a whole. Should Kazatomprom operate
Ortalyk in a way to the detrimental of the Group, the Group’s interest may be
adversely affected.

Completion of the Acquisition may not take place or the Acquisition may be reversed
in accordance with the Sale and Purchase Agreement

The completion of the Acquisition is subject to various Conditions which have not
been fully fulfilled as of the date of this circular. Accordingly, the Acquisition may or
may not proceed.

In addition, the Group has the right to request Kazatomprom to buy-back the
Target Interest should Ortalyk fails to obtain the New Zhalpak Subsoil Use Agreement.
Accordingly, the Target Interest may be returned to Kazatomprom notwithstanding
Completion has taken place.

Uncertainty on the New Exercise Price

The Company may be required to sell the Target Interest upon the exercise of the
Buy-back Right or the Call Option which is not at its discretion, or may, on its own
motive, sell the Target Interest upon the exercise of the Sell-back Right or the Put
Option, and in each case, based on the New Exercise Price, being the fair market value
of the Target Interest as of the last day of the month of the exercise notice as
determined by an independent valuer.
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There is no assurance that the New Exercise Price will be at least equal to or
higher than the Consideration. Should the New Exercise Price be determined to be
lower than the Consideration upon exercise of the Buy-back Right, the Sell-back Right,
the Call Option and the Put Option, the Group may incur a loss in its investment in
Ortalyk, and, in extreme circumstance, may loss all of its investment in Ortalyk.

Risks relating to operation in Kazakhstan
General risks associated with operation in Kazakhstan as an emerging market

Kazakhstan, as an emerging market, in which Ortalyk operates and does business
is generally subject to greater risks, including legal, regulatory, economic and political
risks, than more developed markets.

An emerging economy, such as Kazakhstan, is generally subject to rapid change,
and the information set out in this circular may quickly become outdated. Accordingly,
Shareholders should exercise particular care in evaluating the risks involved and should
consider whether, in light of these risks, should vote in favour of the resolution relating
to the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Shareholders are encouraged to consult with their
own legal and financial advisers on the risks involved.

Enhanced risks and uncertainties upon any change in government or any change in
the political climate in Kazakhstan

Ortalyk could face enhanced risks and uncertainties upon any change in
government or any change in the political climate in Kazakhstan. For example, a new
government may seek to re-nationalise the Target Mines, terminate Ortalyk’s subsoil
use agreements and challenge the tax, legal or other arrangements affecting Ortalyk’s
operations, which could have a material adverse effect on Ortalyk’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks associated with regional instability

Since the break-up of the Soviet Union, a number of former Soviet republics have
experienced periods of political instability, civil unrest, military action or incidents of
violence. Kazakhstan has not experienced any such unrest and, to date, such regional
instability has not affected Kazakhstan or Ortalyk’s operations in the Kazakhstan. That
being said, there is a risk that future political instability, civil unrest, continued
violence in the region or the challenge or revocation of the subsoil use licence could
potentially have an adverse effect on Ortalyk’s business, financial condition, results of
operations or prospects.
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Developing and uncertain laws and regulations of Kazakhstan, changes of which
could require Ortalyk to incur substantial expenditures or subject Ortalyk to material
liabilities or other sanctions

The laws and regulations of the Kazakhstan are still developing and are uncertain.
Any change in the laws of Kazakhstan could result in increased compliance costs.
Moreover, many such laws provide regulators and officials with substantial discretion
in their application, interpretation and enforcement of the laws.

The Subsoil Code which came into force in 2018 is relatively new, there are few
precedents that would make the application of the Subsoil Code more predictable. For
example, whether the Subsoil Code has retrospected effect of non-fulfillment of work
program.

Subsoil use laws and regulations in Kazakhstan impose a very broad range of
continuing obligations and restrictions on Ortalyk and require Ortalyk to incur
significant capital expenditures and compliance costs. These significant expenditures
and costs are incurred on an ongoing basis and Ortalyk will be obliged to incur them in
the future as well.

Ortalyk is required to obtain, on an ongoing basis, all permits as are required by
the laws of Kazakhstan. Failure to obtain any such permits could have a material
adverse effect on Ortalyk’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects. Given Kazakhstan’s legislative, judicial and administrative history, it is not
possible to predict the effect of current and future legislation on Ortalyk’s business.
The ongoing rights of Ortalyk under its subsoil use contracts and licences and other
agreements may be susceptible to revision or cancellation, and legal redress in relation
to such revocation or cancellation may be uncertain. Any changes to the rights of
Ortalyk under its subsoil use contracts and licences (and any other relevant legislative
changes) or increased compliance costs could have a material adverse effect on
Ortalyk’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The regulatory authorities in Kazakhstan may exercise considerable discretion in
the interpretation and enforcement of local laws and regulations. Authorities may use
this discretion to enforce rights in a manner that is inconsistent with the previous
practice and the relevant legislation and regulatory authorities may impose more
onerous requirements and obligations than those currently in effect. Ortalyk is unable
to predict the costs of compliance with such request or instruction and the costs could
be substantial and could materially and adversely affect its business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

The taxation system in Kazakhstan and the interpretation and application of tax laws
and regulations are evolving, which significantly increases the risks with respect to
Ortalyk’s operations and investment in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

As tax legislation in the Republic of Kazakhstan has been in effect for a relatively

short time, tax risks in Kazakhstan are substantially higher than the tax risks in
countries with more developed tax systems. In addition, the tax laws continue to
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evolve. The uncertain application and evolution of tax laws create the risk of additional
and substantial tax payments by Ortalyk, which could have a material adverse effect on
Ortalyk’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Such
uncertainties may, in particular, relate to the valuation of the taxable base for excess
profits tax purposes and the application of transfer pricing policies. The Off-take
Arrangement could fall within these transfer pricing rules and prices may still be
subject to adjustment if they deviate from market prices, and an adjustment of prices
undertaken by tax authorities may result in an increase in the amount of tax and other
mandatory payments and penalty that become payable. Due to the ambiguities in the
legislation and the uncertainties in its interpretation, the relevant tax and customs
authorities may challenge Ortalyk’s prices and propose adjustments.

Tax regulation and compliance is subject to review and investigation by
authorities who may impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. The tax
authorities have a right to impose additional tax assessments.

Accordingly, the business of Ortalyk prior to the Acquisition remain open to
further assessments, and should the tax authority decide to impose addition tax
obligation on Ortalyk, its results of operation and financial position will be adversely
affected.

7. No material adverse change

To the best knowledge of the Directors, no material adverse change have occurred from
the effective date of the Competent Person Report of 31 December 2020 up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

8. Legal claims and proceedings

To the best knowledge of the Directors after making reasonable enquiries, as at the
Latest Practicable Date, no legal claims or proceedings that may have an material influence
on Ortalyk or the mining and exploration rights of the Target Mines are known to the
Directors to be present, on-going, pending or threatened by any third party against Ortalyk.

In addition, as at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no land claims of material

importance known to the Directors that may exist over the land on which the Target Mines
are located.
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1. THREE-YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial information of the Group for each of the three years ended 31 December
2018, 2019 and 2020 are disclosed in the 2018 annual report of the Company (https:/
www |.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2019/0424/1tn20190424480.pdf) at pages 110-222,
2019 annual report of the Company (https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2020/
0427/2020042700617.pdf) at pages 131-262 and 2020 annual report of the Company (https://
www 1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2021/0428/2021042801425.pdf) at pages 137-278,
respectively.

2. STATEMENT OF INDEBTEDNESS

At the close of business on 31 March 2021, being the latest practicable date for the
purpose of determining this statement of indebtedness prior to printing of this circular, the
Group has borrowings of US$66.0 million which were unsecured and guaranteed by the
Company and borrowings of US$68.8 million which were unsecured and not guaranteed. In
addition, the Group has unutilised borrowing facility of US$114.0 million which is
unsecured and guaranteed by the Company and borrowing facility of US$670.0 million
which is unsecured and not guaranteed.

The Group measures the lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rates. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group had total lease liabilities of approximately US$182,000.

Save as aforesaid, and apart from intra-Group liabilities, the Group did not have any
(a) debt securities issued and outstanding, or authorised or otherwise created but unissued
term loans; (b) borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing including bank
overdrafts and liabilities under acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance
credits or hire purchase commitments; (c) mortgages or charges; or (d) guarantees or other
material contingent liabilities as at the close of business on 31 March 2021.

3.  WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the business prospects, the
internal resources of the Group and the facility available to the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for at least the next twelve
months from the date of this circular.

4. FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS

As the COVID-19 epidemic rebounded at the end of 2020 in Canada and Kazakhstan,
major producers of uranium in the world, certain natural uranium mines stopped production.
Moreover, the industry has been starved of capital investment for years, and there were no
new uranium projects receiving sufficient capital for development in the market, which
means that it will be difficult for new projects to form new production capacity rapidly even
if natural uranium prices rise in the short term. Therefore, although the global supply of
natural uranium is expected to recover in 2021 as compared with 2020, it is unlikely to

.
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recover to the level before the outbreak of the epidemic, and the market demand will
continue to exceed production and the inventory of natural uranium will be further
consumed.

Meanwhile, both newly constructed nuclear power plants in global emerging economies

and the demand brought by the expiration and renewal of long-term trade contracts signed
historically will bring more mid- to long-term procurement demands by nuclear power plants
owners and enhance recovery impetus to the natural uranium market in 2021.

5.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF HISTORIC RESULTS OF
THE GROUP

For the year ended 31 December 2018

The following management discussion and analysis of the Group were extracted
from the 2018 annual report of the Company and the phase “Reporting Period” in this
sub-section refers to the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in investment and trading of natural uranium
resources. As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 49% equity interest and 49%
off-take rights of products in Semizbay-U, as well as 19.90% equity interest, 20%
off-take rights and additional 15% optional off-take rights of its future natural uranium
products in Fission.

In 2018, the Company realised revenue of HK$362 million, and HK$101 million
in profit attributable to owners of the Company.

ANALYSIS OF BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The nuclear power market and its industrial development

In 2018, the overall slowdown trend in the development of the international
nuclear power continued. According to a report released by the World Nuclear
Association (WNA) in 2017, the global installed capacity of nuclear power (mid case)
is expected to reach 445GWe by 2030, with an annual growth rate of 1.6%, which is
0.8% lower than the expected annual growth rate in the 2015 report. However, the
development of nuclear power in Japan and China shows obvious signs of recovery
under the current environment.

The Japanese government issued the “Energy Basic Plan” in 2018, which expects
the national nuclear power generation will account for 20-22% of the total power
generation by 2030, meaning 30 reactors will be required to resume commercial power
generation in full capacity given only 9 reactors resumed commercial operation as at 31
December 2018. In China, the third-generation nuclear reactors with AP1000 and EPR
technology have successfully connected to the grid.
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Natural uranium market and its industrial development

In 2018, the supply still exceeded demand in the international natural uranium
market and the trade focused on stock clearing. However, due to the announcement of
the indefinite suspension of the McArthur River uranium mine of Cameco and the
initial public offering (IPO) of Kazatomprom, together with the production reduction
plans announced by the three major international producers, namely Cameco,
Kazatomprom and Orano, the market sentiment has gradually become bullish. In
addition, the purchase of Cameco and investment companies, such as Yellow Cake Plc
and Tribeca Investment Partners Pty. Ltd, etc. prompted the natural uranium spot price
to start rising, and the trading volume in the spot market increased significantly.

During the year, the monthly price of natural uranium in the international spot
market fell slightly from USD22.00/Ib in the beginning of the year to USD21.00/lb in
April. Since then, as the purchase volume increased, the spot price climbed and
reached the highest point of USD29.1/1b in November, and it finally ended with a price
of USD28.50/1b in 2018. The monthly average price in the spot market was USD24.63/
Ib, representing a year-on-year increase of 13.9%. The monthly average price in the
long-term market is USD30.83/lb, which is basically the same as 2017%*.

* The natural uranium price data in the paragraph are derived from the UxC. In 2018, the supply
and demand of long-term market of natural uranium remained stable, and the rising momentum
of spot price was not transmitted to the long-term market, therefore the long-term price was
basically the same as in 2017.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Uranium under production-Production of Semizbay-U

Due to the production reduction policy of Kazatomprom, the production volume
of the Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine reduced in 2018, with a total annual production
of 960 tons of uranium, of which Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine produced 400 and
560 tons respectively, both have fully fulfilled production plans for 2018. After
negotiations, the Company’s off-take of natural uranium from Semizbay-U remained at
588 tons.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine opened up 6 new fault-blocks with
323 boreholes drilled and approximately 451 tons of uranium reserves expanded. Irkol
Mine also opened up 6 new fault-blocks with 314 boreholes drilled and approximately
692 tons of uranium reserves expanded. The accumulated exploration expenses and the
total mining production cost of the two mines were 2.89 billion tenge and 14.77 billion
tenge respectively.
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As at 31 December 2018, the uranium reserves and resources of Semizbay-U are

as follows:
Semizbay

Mine Irkol Mine

*Reserves Average Grade 0.055% 0.0422%
Tons of Uranium 10,950 16,347

Measured + Indicated Average Grade 0.055% 0.0422%

Resources
Tons of Uranium 10,950 16,347

*Note: Kazatomprom was listed in London on 16 November 2018 and published resources and
reserve data of uranium projects under JORC standards. In order to maintain data
consistency, the Company will shift from using Kazakh Classification System standards to
JORC standard, in reporting the resources and reserve data of these two mines from the date
of this report onwards. The JORC standard is a reporting specification of Australia on
exploration results, mineral resources and ore reserves, jointly developed by the Australia
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Australia Geosciences and Minerals Council.

Uranium pending for development — exploration by Fission

Fission owns 100% of equity interest of the PLS Project. The PLS Project is
located in the south west margin of Saskatchewan’s Athabasca Basin, Canada, the
world-renowned source of high-grade uranium ore, with a mineralized area of 600
meters, which is the longest continuous area with high-grade uranium ore in the basin.
Currently, the main ore body already identified in the PLS Project is the 3R Uranium
Deposit. During the Reporting Period, Fission steadily promoted the preliminary
feasibility study of 3R Uranium Deposit and achieved the following results: (i)
converted all of inferred resources in high-grade section of R780E area to the indicated
category; (ii) expanded the scale of the uranium ore body in R1515W section and
identified the uranium mine zone with good continuity; and (iii) initiated the
preparation of the preliminary feasibility study report of 3R Uranium Deposit. During
the Reporting Period, the expenditures on exploration by Fission amounted to
approximately CAD 16 million.

As at 31 December 2018, resources of PLS Project under Fission were as follows:

PLS Projects

Indicated Resources Average Grade 1.54%
Tons of Uranium 33,757
Inferred Resources Average Grade 1.53%
Tons of Uranium 20,329

Note: Resources are prepared according to the NI43-101 standard. NI43-101 standard is a national
instrument for mining project report within Canada, which is formulated by the Standing
Committee on Reserve Definitions of Canada. The above figures are derived from the public
information of Fission.
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Natural uranium trading business

During the Reporting Period, the natural uranium products sold by the Group
were sourced from self-owned mines of Semizbay-U, and realized trading revenue of
HK$360 million, representing a 3% decrease compared to 2017 (2017: HK$371
million). Pursuant to the New Natural Uranium Sales Framework Agreement, the
natural uranium transactions between the Company and CGNPC-URC Group were
conducted under a pricing mechanism that includes a floor price and a ceiling price
with reference to the long-term price index of natural uranium published by a
third-party index agency. The spot price of natural uranium rose during the Reporting
Period, but the long-term price generally remained stable even with a slight decline. As
such, despite a similar sales volume in 2017, the Group recorded a decrease in the
amount of sales. In addition, since the natural uranium products supplied by the Group
could not fully cater to the demand of CGN, all the natural uranium products were sold
to CGNPC-URC Group during the Reporting Period. Based on the long-term and stable
cooperation between the parties, the Company maintained good relationships with its
controlling shareholders.

DEVELOPING NEW PROJECTS
Acquisition of CGN Global

In order to broaden the international marketing of natural uranium products,
improve the profit structure and lower the proportion of connected transactions, the
Company and China Uranium Development entered into a sales and purchases
agreement in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest of CGN Global during
the Reporting Period. The completion of such transaction took place on 17 January
2019.

CGN Global is a leading uranium trading entity in the industry, whose main
business is the sale and purchase of natural uranium in the international market. It is
also engaged in the sale and distribution of natural uranium products produced by
Swakop.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global entered into trading contracts with its
main customers including European and American nuclear plants owners, international
nuclear fuel manufacturers and trading entities with a total trading volume of 5,385
tons of uranium (purchases and sales included), of which 2,298 tons of uranium were
delivered throughout the year.

Steady implementation of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project

During the Reporting Period, the Company actively advanced the New Kazakhstan
Uranium Project, the subject of the acquisition is no more than 49% equity interest in
Altarec. Altarec has two in-situ leachable uranium mines with high competitive
advantages in cost, namely the Central Mynkuduk Mine and the Zhalpak Mine. Both
mines are located in the Tutkestan state, a southern region of Kazakhstan and adjoins
to the Irkol Mine of Semizbay-U.
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The Central Mynkuduk Mine is in operation, with a designed production capacity
of 2,000 tons of uranium per year. Subject to the production reduction policy of its
controlling shareholder, Kazatomprom, the production volume of the Central Mynkuduk
Mine was around 1,600 tons of uranium in 2018. According to the cost report of global
uranium mines in operation published by UxC in 2017, the production cost of Central
Mynkuduk Mine is US$17.33/1b, which ranked in the top one third of world’s uranium
mines with the lowest production cost and is expected to operate until 2032. The
Zhalpak Mine is still in the test mining phase, with a designed production capacity of
500 tons of uranium per year. The production volume of 2018 was approximately 110
tons of uranium.

During the Reporting Period, the Company organized a technical team to conduct
an on-site inspection in the Target Deposits, the key technical data obtained shows that
the Target Mines are in good operating condition.

POTENTIAL RISKS DURING OPERATION AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risks of international natural uranium trade

Taking into account of the uncertainty of the price trend of natural uranium and
the complexity of international trade, there are certain risks in the international natural
uranium trade. For example, breach of contracts, bankruptcy of suppliers, force majeure
events, receivables or prepayments that are not recoverable or misjudgements in
investments may cause the Company to suffer loss.

In order to reduce such risks, the Company will improve its risk management on
trading by monitoring the qualification and business capacity of the counterparties,
adopting protective provisions in the contract, requiring parties with poor credit to
provide guarantee or prepayments and implementing risk-based contingency plans on
one hand; and trying to improve the ability to predict price of natural uranium,
capturing opportunities with low procurement price, and ensuring that each natural
uranium trade is strictly implemented in accordance with established authorization and
completed approval processes on the other hand.

Capital guarantee risk

Considering it is hard for the current capital to meet the needs of the Company in
terms of its medium to long-term acquisition and in line with the business plan of 2019
and the short to medium term strategic plan, the Company will make relevant capital
and financing plans based on a fair assessment on the economic efficiency and
feasibility of potential projects, and finance at an appropriate timing. In addition, the
Company will take reasonable measures to improve the utilisation efficiency of capital
by reducing various expenses.
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Forecast of the nuclear power market

As an important source of low-carbon power generation, nuclear power plays a
key role in global decarbonization. For major nuclear power countries in the world,
China’s increasing emphasis on nuclear power development is widely recognized.
Japan’s demand for energy is expected to accelerate the recovery of nuclear power.
Meanwhile, the progress of nuclear reduction and denuclearization in important nuclear
power countries such as France and South Korea are no longer radical, but tend to be
stable and rational. Emerging countries such as India, Saudi Arabia and Poland have
adopted a more positive attitude towards nuclear power development. Despite the
uneven development of the international nuclear power, it is undeniable that while
nuclear power meets the global energy demand, its important position as a low-carbon
base energy is irreplaceable. It is believed that the development of nuclear power and
nuclear fuel industries will remain stable in the future.

Forecast of the natural uranium market

Combining analyses and forecasts of various major international institutions, the
Company forecasts that the oversupply of natural uranium market will remain
unchanged for years to come. Due to the significant production reduction by major
natural uranium producers, the market entry of investment companies and the
conclusion of a new batch of long-term sales and purchase contracts for natural
uranium, the imbalance between supply and demand in the market will be improved in
the next few years. The market pressure will gradually ease as the inventories are
digested, and the natural uranium price will continue to rise steadily. However, due to a
large idle capacity, the increase is expected to be suppressed.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Strengthening stock asset management

The Company will continue to participate in the operation management of
Semizbay-U in 2019 to ensure the completion of its annual production, cost control
objectives and delivery of its committed off-take by the latter. Meanwhile, the
Company will strengthen control on the expenses of Semizbay-U by participating in
board meetings and decisions, to ensure that the annual expenditure budget is not
exceeded. In addition, the Company will push Semizbay-U to devote more efforts in
improving its resource reserves in 2019, thus to promote its sustainable development.

For Fission, the Company will participate in its decision-making and daily
management through the board of directors and the assigned financial manager. We will
mainly focus on and encourage Fission to formulate clear medium and long-term
development plans for the PLS Project, based on which the Company will make its
strategic decisions in relation to Fission in the future. At the same time, the Company
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will support Fission in promoting the feasibility study of the 3R Uranium Deposit,
combining the market situation of natural uranium and the results of its related
pre-feasibility study report.

Expanding trade business

Leveraging on its own capital advantages, the Company will actively expand its
international trade business, vigorously support CGN Global to explore the market
outside CGNPC, and ensure that the trade volume and sales profit will be gradually
improving under the circumstances that risks are controllable.

Promoting the acquisition of new projects

In order to complete the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project earlier, the Company
will initiate the formal negotiation in 2019, and discuss with Kazatomprom the feasible
plans and arrangements for accelerating the progress.

In the meantime, the Company will continue to systematically screen global
high-quality uranium projects, track key potential projects and select the best for
acquisitions in good time to gradually realize the goal of asset expansion. Furthermore,
the Company will remain concerned with investment opportunities in related industries
such as uranium associated mines and natural uranium processing, and treat them as
potential opportunities.

Enhancing maintenance of the investor relationship

In 2019, the Company will continue to optimize information disclosure by
continuously improving the quality of voluntary information, strengthening interaction
with investors and analysts through various channels. In addition, the Company will
continuously strengthen investor relations management by further improving the
investor relations team and enhancing the capacities of team members.

Strengthening internal control and risk management

In 2019, the Company will continue to carry out a series of internal control and
risk management work including comprehensive risk management, internal audit and
internal control assessment. In addition, the Company plans to evaluate its risk
management system by introducing external professional strength to further improve
and enhance the level of risk management.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Financial performance reflects the operation of the Company throughout the year.

By paying attention to changes in financial indicators, business development of the
Company can be fully understood.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION

Major Financial Indicators

2018 2017

Profitability indicators
Gross profit margin (%)’ 17.61 31.93
EBITDA (HK$ million)? 119.82 69.60
EBITDA/Revenue (%)’ 33.10 18.67
Net profit margin(%)* 28.01 13.97
Operation ability indicators
Trade receivables cycle — average (Days)’ 64.16 60.16
Investment return indicators
Return on equity (%)° 5.63 2.89
Profit attributable to owners of the Company to revenue

ratio’ 28.01 13.97
Return on assets (%)® 5.38 2.74
Repayment ability indicators
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) 1,071.16 1,017.11
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)9 1,812.43 1,790.76
Gearing ratio (%)'° 2.73 6.73

1.

10.

Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.
The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, divided by
revenue multiplied by 100%.

Net profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

Average trade receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting
Period) divided by average daily sales (revenue divided by 360 days).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average equity (i.e the arithmetic
average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue multiplied by 100%.

Net profit for the year divided by total average assets (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and
the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Interests of the Shareholders less intangible assets, net.

Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group realized revenue of HK$362 million,
representing a decrease of 3% as compared to 2017. The profit and profit attributable
to owners of the Company of 2018 were HK$101 million, representing an increase of
95% as compared to 2017.

For the year ended Percentage

31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Natural uranium trading 359,916 370,720 (10,804) (3)

Property investment 2,115 2,070 45 2
Total revenue 362,031 372,790 (10,759) 3)

The revenue of the Group was HK$362 million, representing a decrease of 3% as
compared to that of HK$373 million in 2017. It was mainly due to the slight decrease
in the long-term price of international natural uranium as compared to 2017.

Cost of sales

For the year ended Percentage

31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

Natural uranium trading 298,278 253,774 44,504 18
Property investment - - - -
Total cost of sales 298,278 253,774 44,504 18

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$298 million, representing an increase of
18% as compared to that of HK$254 million in 2017. It was mainly due to the increase
in the spot price of international natural uranium as compared to 2017.

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading
Influenced by the slight decline in the sales price and the increase in purchase
price, the Group recorded a gross profit of natural uranium trading of HK$62 million,

representing a decrease of 47% as compared to that of HK$117 million in 2017, and
the gross profit margin decreased from 32% in 2017 to 17% in 2018.
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Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$29 million, representing a 47%
increase as compared to that of HK$20 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase of
interest rate of deposit during the Reporting Period as compared to the corresponding
period in 2017, causing a significant increase in interest income.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group were HK$40 million, representing an
increase of 15% as compared to that of HK$34 million in 2017, mainly due to the
agency fees incurred for the acquisition during the Reporting Period.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results of a joint
venture was HK$52 million, recorded a substantial increase as compared to the loss of
HK$21 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase of selling price of natural uranium,
resulting in a substantial increase in its profits.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of results of an associate was
HK$13 million, which includes share of loss for the Reporting Period of HK$6 million
and the reversal of long-term investment impairment of HK$19 million, representing a
significant increase as compared to the loss of HK$16 million in 2017.

During the Reporting Period, part of the share options granted by Fission to its
directors and employees were exercised and 363,604 ordinary shares were issued, as a
result, the equity interests in Fission held by the Company decreased to 19.90% (31
December 2017: 19.92%).

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$17 million, representing an increase of
7% as compared to that of HK$16 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase of
provision of income tax in relation to the substantial increase in share of result of a
joint venture during the Reporting Period.
Profit for the year

The profit of the Group in 2018 was HK$101 million, representing an increase of

95% as compared to that of HK$52 million in 2017, mainly due to a substantial
increase in share of results of the joint venture as compared to 2017.
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ASSETS CONDITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total assets amounted to HK$1,862 million,

representing an decrease of 3% as compared to 2017, mainly due to the decrease of
trade receivables.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to HK$49 million,
representing a decrease of 59% as compared to 2017, mainly due to the decrease of
trade payables.
Net current assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net current assets was HK$1,074 million,
representing an increase of 3% as compared to 2017, mainly due to the significant

decrease of current liabilities during the Reporting Period.

Current assets

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 %

Trade and other receivables 19,708 128,900 (109,192) (85)
Amount due from an intermediate

holding company 5,375 1,546 3,829 248

Bank balances and cash 1,071,159 1,017,111 54,048 5

Income tax recoverable 8,728 4,280 4,448 104

Total current assets 1,104,970 1,151,837 (46,867) (4)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current assets was HK$1,105 million,
representing a decrease of 4% as compared to 2017, which was mainly due to the
receipt of all the down payment of natural uranium sales during the Reporting Period,
resulting in the significant decrease in the trade and other receivables as compared to
2017.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of bank balances and cash of the
Group was approximately HK$1,071 million, representing an increase of HK$54
million year-on-year, among which approximately 24% (31 December 2017: 30%) was
denominated in HKS$, approximately 75% (31 December 2017: 68%) was denominated
in USD, and approximately 1% (31 December 2017: 2%) was denominated in RMB. As
at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any bank deposits and cash pledged to
any banks (31 December 2017: Nil).
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As at 31 December 2018, the proportion of current assets of the Group over total
assets was 59% (31 December 2017: 60%), and the proportion of bank balances and
cash over total assets was 58% (31 December 2017: 53%).

Non-current assets

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 %

Property, plant and equipment 14,319 16,529 (2,210) (13)
Investment properties 30,359 31,427 (1,068) (3)
Interest in a joint venture 190,706 161,280 29,426 18
Interest in an associate 521,538 550,202 (28,664) (5)
Total non-current assets 756,922 759,438 (2,516) (0.3)

As at 31 December 2018, the non-current assets of the Group were HK$757
million, representing a decrease of 0.3% as compared to 2017.

Current liabilities

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 %

Trade and other payables 13,778 90,152 (76,374) (85)
Amount due to an intermediate

holding company 6,132 6,490 (358) (6)

Amount due to a joint venture 5,513 5,513 - -

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,668 1,212 456 38

Income tax payable 4,246 4,047 199 5

Total current liabilities 31,337 107,414 (76,077) (71)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current liabilities were HK$31 million,
representing a decrease of 71% as compared to 2017, mainly due to the payment of all
the down payment for natural uranium purchases during the Reporting Period, resulting
in the significant decrease in the trade and other payables as compared to 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no bank borrowings (31 December 2017:
Nil). Pursuant to the loan agreement entered into between the Company and CGNPC
Huasheng on 18 December 2015, the Company can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for
short-term capital within the limit of total borrowing from time to time within 3 years
after first withdrawal.
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Non-current liability

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %

Deferred tax liability 18,126 13,106 5,020 38
Total non-current liability 18,126 13,106 5,020 38

As at 31 December 2018, the non-current liability of the Group was HK$18
million, representing an increase of 38% as compared to 2017, primarily due to the
increase of provision of income tax in relation to the substantial increase in share of
result of a joint venture during the Reporting Period.

Total equity

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2018 2017 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %

Share capital 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves 1,746,422 1,724,748 21,674 1
Total equity 1,812,429 1,790,755 21,674 1

As at 31 December 2018, total equity of the Group amounted to HKS$1,812
million, representing an increase of 1% as compared to 2017, mainly due to the
increase of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings/equity attributable to owners of the
Company) was 3% (2017: 7%).

Assets and investments
During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with China Uranium Development for the acquisition of 100% equity

interest in CGN Global, which was completed on 17 January 2019.

Other than the abovementioned transaction, the Group did not have any other
significant equity investment, major acquisition or disposal.
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Investment orientation

According to business positioning and development strategy of the Group, the
main investment direction of the Group is to acquire overseas uranium resource
projects with competitiveness and low cost. The Group will carry out relevant
investment activities as and when appropriate to strengthen the assets of the Company.

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

The Company adopts prudent capital and treasury policy and goals. During the
Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund was mainly from the cash generated
from operating activities. The capital needs requirements of the Company mainly come
from the possible acquisition expenses of acquiring natural uranium resources and
funds for operation.

The financing capacity of the Company is affected by multiple external and
internal factors. In order to obtain financing on more favourable terms, the Company
has to understand the external financing environment and adopts a reasonable financing
model and strategies based on its structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company constantly pays close attention to the trends in the financial market,
considers how to respond to internal and external financial risks, formulates reasonable
financing model and strategies to ensure the safety and economical efficiency of
financing, and adopts strict management measures for debt risks to prevent related risks
exposed to the Company, and to facilitate the financial health and the development of
core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market environment, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing approaches and been striving to establish a
financing model with combination of short, medium and long-term capitals, merges
direct financing and indirect financing and other various financing channels to ensure
the protection of stable fund. In the process of debt financing, the Company has taken
a balanced approach to both costs and safety. The Company is committed to the pursuit
of a competitive financing cost rather than the lowest one to ensure the security of
financing and the quality of service received.

For projects with large amount of capital expenditures and sound expected returns,
the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to balance risks and
enhance Shareholders’ value.

Types of financing products
Diversified financing varieties would prevent the Company from relying on a

single financing channel, so as to ensure that the Company has choices in meeting the
different capital needs.
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On 18 December 2015, the Company (as borrower) and CGNPC Huasheng (as
lender) entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which the Company can borrow
short-term capital from CGNPC Huasheng for short-term capital within the limit of
total borrowing from time to time within 3 years of first withdrawal. As at 31
December 2018, the Company did not have any borrowing from external banks.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 6,600,682,645 ordinary shares in
issue totally (31 December 2017: 6,600,682,645 ordinary shares), the market value of
the Company was approximately HK$1,580 million (31 December 2017: HK$4,160
million).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The development of the Group comes with various financial risks, such as debt
risk and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2018, there were no banking borrowings, other borrowings or
interest-bearing liabilities of the Company, reserving more space for the Company to
acquire overseas uranium resource projects through debt financing.

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash and cash
equivalents and the unutilized credit, to ensure a sufficient liquidity for the operation
of the Company and to lower the effect from the cash flow volatility. Management of
the Company will also keep an eye on the external borrowing, to ensure the sufficiency
of borrowing credit. As of 31 December 2018, the Company has undrawn borrowing
credit of USD300,000,000.

Exchange rate risk

The functional currency of the Company is USD. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s sale and purchase of main business were mainly settled in USD and RMB
(2017: USD and RMB), while its cash was mainly denominated in USD and HKD
(2017: USD and HKD).

Fluctuations in exchange rate of Tenge and CAD may have an impact on the
Company’s interest in Semizbay-U and Fission respectively.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company always targets to control cost
rather than profitability. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
forward foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency swaps or other financial
derivatives for hedging purposes, and the Group did not experience any significant
difficulty or impact in its operation or liquidity due to the fluctuation in exchange rate.
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CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external guarantee
(2017: Nil). The Company did not provide any guarantee to its subsidiaries or other
companies, nor allow subsidiaries to provide any form of guarantee to any entities or
individuals without the approval of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any pledge of assets (2017:
Nil).

Contingent liability

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any major contingent liability
(31 December 2017: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirmed that there was no litigation, and it was not aware of any
pending or threatened litigation against the Company which had or could have a
material and adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of the
Company during the Reporting Period.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

The following management discussion and analysis of the Group were extracted
from the 2019 annual report of the Company and the phase “Reporting Period” in this
sub-section refers to the year ended 31 December 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and trading. As
of 31 December 2019, the Group held 49% equity interest and 49% off-take rights of
products in Semizbay-U and 19.88% equity interest in Fission, as well as
wholly-owned subsidiaries CGN Global, Beijing Sino-Kazakh and CGNM UK Ltd.

In 2019, the Company realised revenue of HK$2,077 million and HK$160 million
in profits attributable to owners of the Company.
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ANALYSIS OF BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
The nuclear power market and its industrial development

The year 2019 marks a new start in the development of nuclear power, with total
global nuclear power generation now exceeding the level prior to the Fukushima
accident. China — the globe’s main engine for the growth in nuclear power — ended a
three-year (2016-2018) period, in which no nuclear power projects were approved.
Several units of the Shandong Rongcheng, Fujian Zhangzhou and Guangdong Huizhou
Taipingling nuclear power projects were approved for construction, bringing new
vigour to global nuclear power development. In the meanwhile, several US companies
applied to its government to extend the life of nuclear power units in order to avoid
their early retirements. Russia has entered a cooperative agreement with India which is
expected lead to six additional nuclear power plants constructed in India. Uzbekistan,
Saudi Arabia and other countries have begun preparations for the construction of their
first nuclear power plants. In summary, the trend for nuclear power is steadily
progressing. Furthermore, the 2019 WNA report upgraded the expected nuclear power
installed capacity by 2040, in particular, significantly raised its forecast in respect of
low growth scenario from an annual decrease of 0.4% in its previous report to an
annual increase of 0.4%. We remain confident in the development of nuclear power and
the growth of nuclear fuel demand.

The natural uranium market and its industrial development

Throughout 2019, the spot price of natural uranium in the international market, as
quoted by UxC, generally turned negative after a favourable start, fluctuated between
US$24-29/1b and with an average price of US$25.72/lb, while the long-term price
stablising at US$32/Ib*. Since the fundamentals of oversupply in the international
natural uranium market remained unchanged, the increase in uranium prices was
restricted. Under the combined effect of uncertainties such as the pending results of the
Section 232 Investigation of the US and the extension of sanctions exemption for Iran’s
nuclear facilities, most major market players (nuclear power companies, investment
funds, etc.) have adopted a wait-and-see attitude, resulting in lower spot demand in
2019. As a consequence, the spot transaction volume has dropped by 40% compared to
2018. The long-term market transaction volume increased by 6.6% compared to 2018.
Five non-US nuclear power companies purchased 64% of the long-term market during
the year, and it is expected that nuclear power companies in emerging markets will be
the main players in long-term market transactions in the future.

* Long term price quoted by TradeTech is US$33/1b.
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Monthly price movement of Natural Uranium in 2019
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Nuclear fuel cycle market and its industry development

The final product of natural uranium for civil use is mainly in the form of nuclear
fuel assembly sold to nuclear power plants. Therefore, continual attention should be
paid to the market of various parts in the nuclear fuel industry chain (including
conversion and uranium enrichment).
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The international conversion prices have been continuously depressed in the long
run. However, due to the combined effect of the closure of the Metropolis conversion
plant and the unsatisfactory slow growing production of the Orano’s COMURHEX II
conversion plant, a supply shortage began to appear in the conversion market in 2019,
and spot prices continued to climb. By the end of December 2019, the purchases from
intermediate traders had driven the spot prices and long-term prices to US$22.25/kgU
and US$18/kgU, representing a year-on-year increase of US$8.75/kgU and US$2.5/
kgU, respectively.

Meanwhile, the enrichment market was also showing signs of recovery in 2019.
Nuclear power companies have locked low-cost of SWU through spot and mid-term
purchases in the past two years, resulting in a significant reduction of the currently
available SWU. Coupled with the purchases of other market participants, the price of
SWU increased, and the spot price and long-term price of enriched uranium increased
by US$6/SWU and US$6.5/SWU from the beginning of the year, to US$47/SWU and
US$49/SWU respectively, at the end of the year.

It is noteworthy that although the prices of conversion and SWU are gradually
picking up, as nuclear power companies in China, South Korea and Japan as well as
certain traders and producers still hold a relatively large amount of stock, the increase
in prices would be restricted.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Uranium mines under production — production of Semizbay-U

Due to the production reduction policy of Kazatomprom, the production volume
of Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine, owned by Semizbay-U, continued to be both
reduced in 2019. The total annual production was 960tU, of which Semizbay Mine and
Irkol Mine respectively produced 400tU and 560tU, fulfilling their 2019 production
plans. The Company kept its off-take rights in natural uranium products from
Semizbay-U at 588tU after negotiations.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine opened up three new faultblocks
with 316 boreholes drilled and approximately 546tU reserves expanded; and Irkol Mine
opened up seven new faultblocks with 333 boreholes drilled and approximately 573tU
reserves expanded. The accumulated exploration expenses and total mining production
cost of the two mines during the Reporting Period were 2.81 billion tenge (equivalent
to approximately HK$57.7 million) and 15.25 billion tenge (equivalent to
approximately HK$313.19 million), respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the uranium reserves of Semizbay-U were as follows:

Semizbay Irkol

Mine Mine

Average Grade 0.055% 0.0422%
tU 10,472 15,716
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Uranium mine project pending for development — exploration by Fission

During the Reporting Period, Fission continued its winter exploration commenced
in 2018, completing 32 drillholes with a total length of 3,872 meters. The exploration
cost was approximately CA$8.40 million (equivalent to approximately HKS$4,826
million). The exploration achievements during the year include: (a) part of the inferred
resources in R780 area were transferred to indicated category, thereby increasing the
mineable reserves of the mine and improving the project’s economical feasibility; (b)
further identified the geoengineering and exploitation conditions of the deposit
development through a series of additional geological studies, and created a basis for
the selection of mining methods and the reasonable design of a tailing storage facility
in the PLS Project feasibility study. Fission released a pre-feasibility study report of
open pit/underground hybrid operation of the PLS Project in May 2019, which
indicated total project resources of approximately 62,034t U;O4 with an average grade
of 1.64%, total reserves of 41,062t U;O4 with a hydrometallurgical recovery rate of
96.7%, and a total investment in mine construction of CA$1,498 million. Based on the
“selling price at US$50 per pound of U;Og, exchange rate at CA$1/US$0.75, discount
rate at 8% model hypothesis, the production cost of PLS Project is US$6.77 per pound
of U0, the internal rate of return is 21%, net present value is CA$132 million, and
the project payback period is 2.3 years.

In order to further improve the economical feasibility of the project, reduce
investment in mining construction and shorten the construction period, Fission
commissioned a third-party technical adviser to conduct a pre-feasibility study on its
underground-only mining method in July 2019. On 7 November 2019, Fission officially
released the pre-feasibility study report on the underground-only mining method of the
PLS Project. Compared with the pre-feasibility study results of open pit/underground
hybrid mining released in May, 1) capital expenditure decreased from CA$1,498
million to CA$1,177 million and the mine construction period was reduced from four
to three years; 2) geological reserves decreased from 41,062t U504 to 36,923t U504
and the mine life decreased from eight to seven years; 3) unit operating cost slightly
increased from US$6.77 per pound of U;04 to US$7.18 per pound of U;Og4; 4) the
internal rate of return was 34%, net present value was CA$133 million, and the project
payback period was 2.2 years. The two pre-feasibility study reports indicated that the
project mining methods can be flexible and the underground-only mining method has
potential advantages, which provide a good foundation for future feasibility studies of
the PLS Project.
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The table below presents a comparison of main economic indicators in the
pre-feasibility study reports on the PLS Project’s open pit/underground hybrid mining
and underground-only mining:

Economic indicators

Total reserves (tU;Oyg)
Annual production

Open pit/underground
hybrid operation

41,062
6,500 for the first six

Underground-only
mining

36,923
5,900 for the first five

(tU50y) years and 1,600 for the years and 3,000 for the
following two years following two years
Hydrometallurgicall 96.7 96.8
recovery rate (%)
Total investment in 14.98 11.77
mining construction
(CAS$ billion)
Mine construction period 4 3
(years)
Mine life (years) 8 (six years by open pit 7
method and two years by
underground method)
Unit operating cost 6.77 7.18
(US$/pound)
Internal rate of return 21 34
(%)
Net present value 1.32 1.33

(CAS$ billion, discount
rate of 8%)

Note: Assuming natural uranium selling price at US$50 per pound and CA$1=US$0.75

During the Reporting Period, the Company reviewed and expressed its technical
comments on the two pre-feasibility study reports released by Fission on the open pit/
underground hybrid mining plan and underground-only mining plan for the PLS
Project. Based on adequate communication with its directors, the Company also
conducted special studies on Fission’s subsequent operating strategies.

Natural uranium trading business

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group realised revenue of HK$2,073
million from natural uranium trading.

Trading revenue from sales of natural uranium products from mines owned by
Semizbay-U was HK$377 million, representing an increase of 5% compared to 2018
(2018: HK$360 million). Pursuant to the Former Sales Framework Agreements, natural
uranium transactions between the Company and CGNPC-URC Group were conducted
under a pricing mechanism of referencing to the long-term price index of natural
uranium published by third-party index agencies with a floor price and a ceiling price.
During the Reporting Period, all the Company’s off-take of natural uranium products
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from Semizbay-U were sold to CGNPC-URC Group. Based on the stable long-term
cooperation between the parties, the Company maintained a good relationship with this
major customer.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global delivered a total 8.08 million lbs of
natural uranium and realised trading revenue of US$219 million, with cost of sales of
US$211 million and realised profit of US$1.93 million. Despite the sluggish natural
uranium market, CGN Global made an active effort to grasp the short window of
opportunities and successfully realised significant increases in delivery volume and
trading revenue as compared to 2018.

Developing New Projects

The New Kazakhstan Uranium Project has been the key work of the Company for
these two years. During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to proceed with
the project and launched multiple rounds of negotiations with its Kazakhstan partners.
Due to the disagreement between two parties on some specific issues, progress of the
New Kazakhstan Uranium Project was behind the original schedule. However, the
Company and Kazatomprom have reached an agreement on an updated timetable and
agreed to work together to push forward the project. Meanwhile, the Company also
completed a comprehensive due diligence on the project during the Reporting Period,
and reached a positive conclusion. The project is still under negotiations and hopefully
to be launched in 2020.

Maintenance of Investor Relationship

To enhance its communications with Shareholders and the capital market, during
the Reporting Period, the Company systematically optimised its investor relationship
management, information disclosure, market promotion and industry research, and
achieved satisfactory results. Notwithstanding a generally weak performance in the
share prices of uranium mining companies around the globe and the decline of the
natural uranium spot index by 13.08% over the same period, the Company’s stock
performance was acceptable, and the year-end closing price was 29.79% higher than
that of the first business day of 2019.
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Relative Performance of Share Price of CGN Mining (01164.HK), HSI and the Spot Price of
Natural Uranium from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

40.00%

20.00%

2019/7/2 2019/8/2

= Spot Price Stock Price of 1164 Hang Seng Index

Source: Yahoo Finance and UxC

During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts to broaden its
channels of direct communication and liaison with Shareholders. The key tasks during
the year were as follows:

Channels Key points

Annual general meeting . Approved seven ordinary
resolutions on 14 June

Extraordinary general meetings . Approved the acquisition of 100%
equity interest of CGN Global on
15 January

. Approved the New Sales

Framework Agreement, the New
Financial Services Framework
Agreement and the Sales and
Purchase Agreement of Husab
Uranium Concentrates on 27

September
Annual results presentation and . Convened annual results
interim results presentation presentation at Renaissance
The management and persons in Harbour View Hotel on 27 March,
charge of the Company’s main with the attendance of 13 invited
business department were present institutional investors and analysts
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Channels Key points

. Convened interim results
presentation at JW Marriott Hotel
on 30 August, with the attendance
of 38 invited institutional
investors and analysts

Investor seminars . Held investors’ and analysts’
Group discussion between potential breakfast meeting in the
investors and analysts Company’s conference room in

May, with the attendance of 11
invited institutional investors and
analysts

. The investor relations team
participated in the investor
strategy meeting of Northeast
Securities in July

. The investor relations team
participated in the investor
strategy meetings of Haitong
Securities in July, September and
October

. The investor relations team
participated in the investor
strategy meeting of Everbright
Securities in September

. The investor relations team
participated in face-to-face
communications about Hong Kong
stock held by QuanJing in

September
Industry summit . Attended “121 Mining” meeting
The Company’s CFO and investor and gave a keynote speech

relations team were present
. Attended China Mining Congress
and Expo and gave a keynote
speech
. Attended China Investment
Summit and gave a keynote

speech
Roadshow activities . Completed 184 one-to-one
One-to-one communications between communications throughout the
potential investors and analysts year

Regular reports and announcements
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Channels

Company websites

Official Company We Media channel
Offical WeChat account, Futu,
Tonghuashun and Snowball website
accounts

Official Company e-mail
Receives investor enquiries and
feedback

Key points

Released 21 announcements and
two regular reports during the
year

Two voluntary disclosure
announcements

Company news and industry
information

Policies and codes

Financial information and
investors’ contact

Briefing information for analysts

Successively created at the end of
2019

By email: Ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Results achieved by the investor relations team in 2019:

North Shore Global Uranium Mining
Index, a natural uranium investment
index, included the Company as
one of its constituents

(4

Chen Deshao, the Company’s chief
financial officer, was awarded the
annual “Best CFO Award” of the 4th
Golden Hong Kong Equities Grand
Award
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During the Reporting Period, five new
additional seller institution published
research reports on the Company

The investor relations team won the “Best
Investor Relations Team” award at the
“2019 China Enterprises Management
Awards Ceremony” jointly organized by
the Hong Kong International Investment
Association, Porda Havas International
Finance Communications Group and
AMO Group

The Company was awarded the “Best Resources and Energy
Company Award” from the 2019 Golden Hong Kong Stocks
Annual Ceremony jointly organized by Zhitong Finance and
RoyalFlush Finance
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market forecast

For the first time since 2011, WNA has raised its expectations for future nuclear
power and natural uranium demand — indicating the improving in global nuclear power
development. China has broken the “zero approval of nuclear power project situation”,
with four to six new power units being expected to be approved annually in the future.
Japan will continue to pursue its goal of “recovering nuclear power to 20% to 22% by
2030”. France’s target of 50% nuclear decommissioning has been delayed to
2030-2035. In the US, with increased subsidies for nuclear energy in the 2020 fiscal
budget, extensions of lifetime for some nuclear power units are expected to be
approved. Generally speaking, nuclear power development is expected to slow down in
the European Union, remain stable in North America, and achieve faster growth in East
Asia and related regions, marking a gradual shift of the centre of global nuclear power
development to Asia.

Natural uranium market forecast

With references to the analyses and forecasts of major international institutions,
the Company estimated that the fundamental oversupply situation in the natural
uranium market in the next few years will stay unchanged. The market will slowly
consume inventories, and the price will increase slightly in the long run. In such
environment, the Company will take measures such as controlling production costs and
strengthening risk control to ensure stable operation.

Nuclear fuel cycle market and industry analysis

As far as the conversion market is concerned, the price increase in the short term
is largely determined by the urgency of conversion purchases by nuclear power
companies. In the medium and long term, as the output of the COMURHEX II
conversion plant increases and Metropolis conversion plant restarts its production, the
conversion price will stabilise.

The uranium enrichment market faces larger uncertainties. The quota provision
that Russia is allowed to export nuclear fuel of not more than 20% of the annual
demand of the US under the US-Russia suspension agreement will expire in 2020. The
current tension between the US and Russia makes it unclear whether the agreement will
be extended, and if so, how the quota may be adjusted and what impact this, which
will have significant impact on the enrichment price and remains to be seen.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation of Semizbay-U, management and control of Fission

The Company will continue to participate in the operation management of
Semizbay-U in 2020 to ensure the completion of its annual production, cost control
target and the delivery of its committed offtake. Meanwhile, the Company will
strengthen control on Semizbay-U’s expenses through participation in board meetings
and decision-making to ensure that the annual expenditure budget is not exceeded. Base
on effective corporate governance and the management through expatriate team, the
Company is able to exert its continuous influence on the finance, mining production
and the operation of Semizbay-U to ensure its safe production and completion of the
production plan. Additionally, in 2020, the Company will actively advocate the
adoption of new mine production processes and technologies as well as mine
digitalization as to strengthen automated management, and procure Semizbay-U to
devote more effort in improving its resources/reserves in 2020 to support its sustainable
development.

As to Fission, the Company will participate in and put impact on its
decision-making of key issues through being its directors and will gradually strengthen
the control over its technology and business management. In 2020, the Company will
continue to urge Fission to complete the PLS Project feasibility study as planned and
send personnel for technical exchanges with Fission, strengthen the review on the
feasibility study report and formulate subsequent development plans for the PLS
Project that fit market conditions.

Expanding trade business proactively

The Group will strengthen business contacts with end-customers such as nuclear
power plant owners, participate in international market bidding proactively, strengthen
its analyses of market conditions and counterparty behaviours, seize market
opportunities, develop new business models and explore new trading business
opportunities to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.

Promoting the acquisition of new projects

While moving forward of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project in 2020, the
Company will also continue to identify and track other overseas high-quality and
low-cost uranium resources projects, paying special attention to on low-cost projects
such as in-situ leachable sandstone uranium mines in Central Asia, and approach
potential targets at appropriate timing. At the same time, the Company will seek to
establish strategic cooperation relationships with internationally renowned uranium
producers and traders, and study the feasibility of jointly developing uranium mine
projects in different modes.
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Enhancing investor relationship

In 2020, the Company will continue to put efforts in optimising investor
relationships, presenting good corporate image and improve investors’ recognition of
the Company, further enhancing investors on communications through various channels
and interacting with more market participants, Additionally, it will reasonably
strengthen voluntary disclosure, striving for more transparent disclosure of information.

Strengthening internal control

In 2020, the Company will continue to improve its internal control system,
incorporate internal control requirements into the management procedure documents,
and strengthen supervision of systems implementation to reduce internal control risks.

Improving incentive system

To establish a sound long-term incentive and restraint mechanism and support
high quality development, the Company is examining the possibility of implementing a
mid- and long-term incentive system based on its existing system, which aims to link
the growth of employees with the development of the Company, encourage employees
to contribute to the Company wholeheartedly, and stimulate overall corporate vitality.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

Upon systematic analysis, the Company is subject to the following three main
risks in 2020:

International natural uranium trade risks

The uncertain price trend of natural uranium and the complexity of international
trade lead to certain risks in the development of the international uranium trade. These
include less-than-expected profit or even loss due to fluctuations in the price of natural
uranium, breach of contract by the counter party and failure to recover receivables.

To reduce risks in natural uranium trading, the Company has taken measures to
strengthen trade risk management and control. Firstly, establish a professional team to
closely track and analyse global nuclear power development trends, the production
movement of uranium mines and changes of the supply and demand in natural uranium,
strengthen the ability on prediction of uranium price, and grasp market opportunities to
purchase natural uranium at a lower cost. Secondly, cooperate with international credit
rating institutions to comprehensively monitor the qualifications and performance
capabilities of counterparties and require those counterparties with lower credit ratings
to provide performance guarantees or prepayments to reduce trade risks. Thirdly,
continue to strengthen internal management by improving trade exposure authorisation
mechanism, a prevention and control system of counter party default risks and an
information system to ensure that trade risks are controllable.
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Financial security risks

Currently, the price of international natural uranium remains low. However, when
taking into account the global nuclear power demand gap and inventory, it is expected
that prices will reverse in the medium and long term, and rare opportunities occur for
investments in uranium resources globally. Under these circumstances, the Company
will continuously track high-quality and high-grade uranium mine projects and conduct
mergers and acquisitions when appropriate. Considering that the self-owned capital can
hardly meet the mid— and long-term merger and acquisition requirements, the Company
will formulate a sound fund and financing plan based on a reasonable assessment of
the economic and feasibility of potential projects, and introduce new strategic
cooperation partners as appropriate to jointly develop and operate projects.

International operation risks

The business and projects of the Company are distributed in Kazakhstan, Canada,
the UK and other countries. The uncertainties of the operating environment (political
and economic situations, policies and regulations) in such countries and changes in the
international situation such as Sino-US economic and trade frictions, may create higher
risks for the Company’s operations. Therefore, the Company has established a regular
monitoring mechanism for the operating environments of overseas investment projects
to track changes in the operating environments of Kazakhstan, Canada and the UK in a
timely manner. An analysis report will be generated on major changes at the first
instant and notify management and the Board in a timely manner so that an effective
and scientific response measure can be taken.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the Group throughout

the year. By paying attention to changes in financial indicators, business development
of the Group can be comprehensively understood.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION

Major Financial Indicators

2019 2018
(Restated)
Profitability indicators
Gross profit margin (%)’ 6.93 8.11
EBITDA (HK$ million)? 199.14 174.41
EBITDA/Revenue (%)’ 9.59 10.73
Net profit margin(%)* 7.71 7.51
Operation ability indicator
Trade receivables cycle — average (Days)’ 17 21
Inventory cycle — average (Days)® 200 181
Investment return indicators
Return on equity (%)’ 8.40 6.62
Profit attributable to owners of the Company to revenue ratio
(%) 7.71 7.51
Return on assets (%)’ 5.55 4.40
Repayment ability indicators
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) 676.79 1,123.06
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)'® 1,940.41 1,864.42
Gearing ratio (%)’ 59.21 43.45

1.

10.

11.

Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, if any.

The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period)
divided by average daily sales (revenue divided by 360 days).

Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period)
divided by average daily costs (costs divided by 360 days).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average equity (i.e the arithmetic
average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue multiplied by 100%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average assets (i.e the arithmetic
average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Interests of the Shareholders less intangible assets, net.

Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.
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Financial results

The profit of the Company of 2019 were HK$160 million, representing an
increase of 31% as compared to 2018.

REVENUE
For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements change
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
(Restated)
Natural uranium trading 2,073,449 1,623,859 449,590 28
Property investment 3,239 2,115 1,124 53
Total revenue 2,076,688 1,625,974 450,714 28

The revenue of the Group was HK$2,077 million, representing an increase of 28%
as compared to that of HK$1,626 million in 2018, primarily because CGN Global
aggressively expanded the global market and achieved a significant increase in sales
volume and trading revenue of natural uranium as compared with the corresponding
period in 2018.

Cost of sales

For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements change
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %
(Restated)
Natural uranium trading cost 1,932,783 1,494,150 438,633 29
Property investment - - - -
Total cost of sales 1,932,783 1,494,150 438,633 29

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$1,933 million, representing an increase of
29% as compared to that of HK$1,494 million in 2018, primarily because CGN Global
aggressively expanded the global market and achieved a significant increase in the
sales volume and cost of sales of natural uranium as compared with the corresponding
period in 2018.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Due to the increase on the sales volume of CGN Global, the Group recorded a
gross profit of natural uranium trading of HK$141 million, representing an increase of
8% as compared to that of HK$130 million in 2018, and the gross profit margin
decreased from 8% in 2018 to 7% in 2019.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$20 million, representing a
decrease of 31% as compared to that of HK$29 million in 2018, mainly due to the
significant decrease in fund deposited in CGNPC Huahseng through optimising the
internal utilisation of financial resources of the Group, resulting in decrease in the
interest income dramatically.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses amounted to HK$8 million, representing a
decrease of 20% as compared to that of HK$10 million in 2018, mainly due to the
Group’s increased effort on the expenditure control.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group were HKS$37 million, representing a
decrease of 14% as compared to that of HK$43 million in 2018, mainly due to stronger
efforts were made on implementing “cost reduction and efficiency improvement”
measures and tightening the expenditure control.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results of a joint
venture was HK$65 million, representing an increase of 25% as compared to that of
HK$52 million in 2018, mainly due to devaluation of Kazakhstan currency and the
enhanced cost control of Semizbay-U.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of results of an associate was
HK$12 million, which includes share of loss for the Reporting Period of HK$6 million
and the reversal of long-term investment impairment of HK$18 million.

During the Reporting Period, part of the share options granted by Fission to its
directors and employees were exercised and 605,448 ordinary shares were issued. As a
result, the equity interests in Fission held by the Company on 31 December 2019
decreased to 19.88% (31 December 2018: 19.90%).
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Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group was HK$20 million, which was decreased by
37.5% as compared to the restated finance cost of HK$32 million in 2018, mainly due
to the decrease in interest expenses through optimising the utilisation of financial
resources of the Group.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$16 million, representing a decrease of
11% as compared to that of HK$18 million in 2018.
Profit for the year

The profit of the Group in 2019 was HK$160 million, representing an increase of
31% as compared to the same period in 2018, mainly due to an increase of gross
profits, the significant growth in share of results of the joint venture and the significant
decrease in operating expenditures as compared to 2018.

ASSETS CONDITION AND ANALYSIS
Total Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total assets amounted to HK$3,095 million,
representing an increase of HK$420 million as compared to HK$2,675 million as at 31
December 2018, mainly due to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories
of the Group.
Total Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to HK$1,151
million, representing an increase of 42% as compared to 31 December 2018, mainly
due to the increase of loan from a fellow subsidiary.
Net current Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current assets was HK$1,766 million,

representing an increase of 32% as compared to HK$1,341 million as at 31 December
2018, mainly due to the significant increase of inventory and trade receivables.
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Current Assets

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %

(Restated)

Inventories 1,441,980 703,300 738,680 105

Trade and other receivables 126,706 76,483 50,223 66
Amount due from an intermediate

holding company 3,875 5,375 (1,500) (28)

Income tax recoverable 1,737 8,728 (6,991) (80)

Bank balances and cash 676,793 1,123,056 (446,263) (40)

Total current assets 2,251,091 1,916,942 334,149 17

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current assets was HK$2,251 million,
representing an increase of HK$334 million as compared to 2018, which was mainly
due to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of bank balances and cash of the
Group was approximately HK$677 million representing a decrease of HK$446 million
year-on-year, among which approximately 32% (31 December 2018: 30%) was
denominated in HKD, 67% (31 December 2018: 68%) was denominated in USD, and
1% (31 December 2018: 2%) was denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any bank deposits and cash
pledged to any banks (31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the proportion of current assets of the Group over total

assets was 73% (31 December 2018: 72%), and the proportion of bank balances and
cash over total assets was 22% (31 December 2018: 42%).
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Non-current Assets

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %

(Restated)
Property, plant and equipment 160 14,466 (14,306) (99)
Right-of-use assets 3,836 — 3,836 N/A
Investment properties 48,595 30,359 18,236 60
Interest in a joint venture 237,775 190,706 47,069 25
Interest in an associate 553,522 521,538 31,984 6
Deferred tax assets - 496 (496) (100)
Rental deposits 387 - 387 N/A
Total non-current assets 844,275 757,565 86,710 11

As at 31 December 2019, the non-current assets of the Group were HK$844
million, representing an increase of 11% year-on-year, due to the increase in interests
in a joint venture and an associate.

Current Liabilities

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements change

Increase/ Increase/

2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

(Restated)

Trade and other payables 36,382 30,476 5,906 19

Loans from a fellow subsidiary 422,559 527,560 (105,001) (20)

Lease liabilities 1,703 - 1,703 N/A
Amount due to an intermediate

holding company 8,373 6,132 2,241 37

Amount due to a joint venture 5,513 5,513 - -

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,421 1,668 (247) (15)

Income tax payable 9,555 4,246 5,309 125

Total current liabilities 485,506 575,595 (90,089) (16)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities were HK$486 million,
representing a decrease of 16% as compared to 2018, mainly due to the decrease in
short-term external loans through optimising the utilisation of financial resources of the
Group.
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Non-current liabilities

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 %

(Restated)
Deferred tax liabilities 19,104 18,126 978 5
Loans from a fellow subsidiary 644,494 216,368 428,126 198
Lease liabilities 2,021 - 2,021 N/A
Total non-current liability 665,619 234,494 431,125 184

As at 31 December 2019, the non-current liabilities of the Group were HK$666
million, representing an increase of 184% as compared to 2018, primarily due to the
increase in long term loans from a fellow subsidiary.

Total equity

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
Increase/ Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
(Restated)
Share capital 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves 1,878,234 1,798,411 79,823 4
Total equity 1,944,241 1,864,418 79,823 4

As at 31 December 2019, total equity of the Group amounted to HKS$1,944
million, representing an increase of 4% year-on-year, mainly due to the increase of
profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%)
was 59% (2018: 43%).

Assets and investments

Prior to the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with China Uranium Development for the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in CGN Global, which was completed on 17 January 2019. The consideration
of this acquisition was US$8.55 million in which CGN Global contributed profit of
US$1.93 million in 2019. The Company received a favorable return for the acquisition.
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Save for this transaction and the interests in Semizbay-U and Fission, the Group
did not hold any other significant investment or have any other major investment,
acquisition or disposal during the Reporting Period.

Investment direction

According to business positioning and development strategy of the Group, the
main investment direction of the Group remains to be acquiring competitive overseas
uranium resource projects with low cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment
activities as and when appropriate, to laid the foundation of further development of the
Company.

Financial capital
Capital structure

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had a total of 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares in issue (31 December 2018: 6,600,682,645), and the market value of the
Company was approximately HK$2,013 million (31 December 2018: HK$1,580
million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and goals. During the
Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund was mainly from the cash generated
from operating activities and external borrowings. The capital requirements of the
Group mainly come from the possible acquisition expenses of acquiring natural
uranium resources and funds for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and business and
does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any suitable acquisition opportunity
arises in the future, the Group will raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external and internal
factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms, the Company must understand
the external financing environment and adopt a reasonable financing model and
strategies based on its structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, considers its
responses to internal and external financial risks, formulates reasonable models and
strategies to ensure the safety and economical efficiency of financing, and takes strict
management measures for debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.
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Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company has been
exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish a financing model with
combination of short-, medium-and long-term capital, merged direct and indirect
financing and multiple financing channels to ensure the protection of a stable fund. In
the process of debt financing, the Company has taken a balanced approach to both cost
and safety. The Company is committed to the pursuit of a competitive financing cost
rather than the lowest one to ensure the security of financing and the quality of service
received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected returns, the
Company will prudently consider using equity financing to balance risks and enhance
Shareholder value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as debt risk
and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2019, the borrowings from a fellow subsidiary of the
Company were HK$1,067 million. The loans were unsecured and interest bearing
ranging from 3.2% to 4.6% per annum.

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash, cash
equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity for operation and to
reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The Company’s management also keeps an
eye on external borrowing to ensure a sufficiency of available borrowing credit. As at
31 December 2019, the Company has undrawn borrowing credit of US$522 million
(2018: US$404 million), which can be utilised to provide sufficient cash for the
Group’s operation and to reduce the impact of cash flow volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly settled in US$ and RMB (2018:
US$ and RMB), while its cash was mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2018: USS$
and HK$). Daily expenses including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (corresponding period of 2018:
US$, HKS$ and RMB). Loans were all denominated in US$. The Group was not subject
to any material exchange rate risk during the Reporting Period.
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For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control cost rather than
profitability. During the Reporting Period, the Group had no forward foreign exchange
contracts, interests or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging
purposes, and experienced no significant difficulty or impact on its operation or
liquidity due to exchange rate fluctuation.

CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external guarantee
(2018: Nil). The Company did not provide any guarantee to its subsidiaries or other
companies, nor allow subsidiaries to provide any form of guarantee to any entities or
individuals without the approval of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any pledge of assets (2018:
Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no litigation, and that it was nor aware of
any pending or threatened litigation against it, which had or could have a material and
adverse effect on its financial condition or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the applicable
accounting standard are explained in notes 2 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
The following management discussion and analysis of the Group were extracted

from the 2020 annual report of the Company and the phase “Reporting Period” in this
sub-section refers to the year ended 31 December 2020.
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No.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and trading. As
of 31 December 2020, the Company held 49% equity interest and off-take rights of
products in Semizbay-U, 16.74% equity interest in Fission, as well as wholly-owned
subsidiaries Beijing Sino-Kazakh, CGN Global and CGNM UK Ltd..

In 2020, the Group achieved revenue of HK$2,862 million and profits attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$155 million.

Analysis of business environment
The nuclear power market and its development

According to data released by International Atomic Energy Agency, there were
443 nuclear power units in operation worldwide by the end of 2020, with a total
installed capacity of 393,080MWe, and nuclear power units in operation and under
construction are scattered in 32 countries and regions. In 2020, there were five newly
grid-connected units worldwide, with a total installed capacity of 5,521MWe; four units
with a total installed capacity of 4,473MWe commenced construction; and six closed
units with a total installed capacity of 5,165MWe. The world’s total net installed
capacity showed an increasing trend, and the focus of global nuclear power generation
is shifting from traditional nuclear power countries to emerging economies.

Newly grid-connected units, units commenced construction, and closed units
around the world in 2020

Newly Grid-connected Units Units commenced construction Closed Units
Installed Installed Installed
Name Capacity Country No. Name Capacity Country No. Name Capacity Country
(MWe) (MWe) (MWe)
BARAKAH-1 1,345 United Arab 6. AKKUYU-2 1,114 Turkey 10. DUANE APNOLD-1 601 United States
Emirates
BELARUSIAN-1 1,110 Republic of 7. SANAO-1 1,117 China 11.  FESSENHEIM-1 880 France
Belarus
FUQING-5 1,000 China 8. TAIPINGLING-2 1,116 China 12.  FESSENHEIM-2 880 France
LENINGRAD2-2 1,066 Russia 9. ZHANGZHOU-2 1,126 China 13. INDIAN POINT-2 998 United States
TIANWAN-5 1,000 China 14.  LENINGGRAD-2 925 Russia
15. RINGHALS-1 881 Sweden
Note: 1. Data source: International Atomic Energy Agency
2. The “-number” in the name column represents the unit serial number of the nuclear power unit

project.

The details of global nuclear power units in the short to medium term are as

follows:

Leningrad II-2 nuclear power unit 2 in Russia was connected to the grid for
power generation in October 2020.
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e The first nuclear power unit in Belarus was connected to the grid in
November 2020, and the construction of its unit 2 is scheduled to be
completed in the middle of 2022.

° In November 2020, Turkey announced that the unit 3 in Akkuyu nuclear
power plant had obtained construction permit. Besides, unit 1 had obtained
construction permit in 2018 and is expected to be put into operation in 2023.

e  Ringhals-1 unit in Sweden was officially retired from service in December
2020, and the remaining unit 3 and unit 4 are expected to operate for more
than 20 years.

° Affected by cheap natural gas and new energy, the nuclear power units in
operation in the US were at a competitive disadvantage in the open power
market, but the enterprises also applied to its government to extend the life
cycle of nuclear power units in the states where the power market was
regulated. The US will continue to invest in research and development of
advanced nuclear energy technology to maintain the leading position in
nuclear energy technology. The US Senate and the House of Representatives
passed the Nuclear Energy Leadership Act (NELA) in July and September
2020, respectively, which required the Department of Energy to provide
support for the development and construction of new and advanced reactors,
provide nuclear fuel supply, cultivate nuclear energy talents, support the
federal agencies to sign long-term power purchase agreements, and create the
commercial environment for new reactors. Furthermore, two nuclear power
plants in the US are expected to put into production in 2021 and 2022.

° Germany, being the most concrete country which announced its nuclear
abandoning attitude among major nuclear power countries, still has six
nuclear power units in operation and plans to close them all by the end of
2022.

e  France is still the country with the highest proportion of nuclear power in
the world, with 56 nuclear power units currently in operation, providing
approximately 70% of power supply of the country, and with an EPR unit
under construction, which is expected to be loaded in 2022. According to its
Energy Transition Law for Green Growth, enacted in 2015, it aims to reduce
the proportion of nuclear power to 50% by 2035.

e By the end of 2020, 9 nuclear power units in Japan have been restarted, all
of which are pressurized water reactors, and 18 nuclear power units were
still under review for restarting operation. In October 2020, the Japanese
government announced that it planned to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050.
In view of 88% of its current energy supply coming from fossil fuels and
almost all of them relying on imports, coupled with the electricity power
shortage in the winter of 2020, the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry
of Japan believes that the development of nuclear energy is crucial.
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In China

According to data released by the China Nuclear Energy Association, there were
49 nuclear power units in operation in China (excluding Taiwan Region of the PRC)
with a rated installed capacity of 51,027 MWe as of 31 December 2020. In 2020, the
total power generation of the country was 7,417,040 million kWh, and the total power
generation from nuclear power units was 366,243 million kWh, accounting for 4.94%
of the total power generation of the country. Power generation by nuclear power units
in 2020 represented a year-on-year increase of 5.02% compared with 2019 and the
cumulative on-grid power generation was 342,854 million kWh, representing a
year-on-year increase of 4.89% compared with 2019.

Growth of Installed Capacity of Nuclear Power in China from 2009 to 2020
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Major events in China’s nuclear power industry during the Reporting Period:

° On 10 August, Tianwan Unit 5 was successfully connected to the grid for
power generation.

° On 2 September, the State Council approved the Hainan Changjiang Phase II
project and the San’ao Nuclear Power Phase I project.

e On 4 September, the construction of Zhangzhou Unit 2 in Fujian Province
commenced.

° On 15 October, the construction of Taipingling Unit 2 in Huizhou,
Guangdong Province commenced.

° On 27 November, the world’s first nuclear reactor of “Hualong One”-Unit 5
of Fuqing nuclear power plant was connected to the grid for the first time.

° On 28 November, the first overseas nuclear reactor of “Hualong One”-Unit 2
of Karachi nuclear power plant in Pakistan started loading.
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e On 31 December, Unit 1 of San’ao nuclear power plant in Zhejiang Province
began pouring the first tank of concrete on the nuclear island and officially
commenced the construction.

Global natural uranium market and industry development

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, major natural uranium producers in
the world announced to reduce or suspend production in 2020, such as, Cameco Corp.
announced to suspend the production of Cigar Lake uranium mine in March
(subsequently resumed in September and suspended again in December due to the
intensification of the COVID-19 epidemic) and the uranium mines of Kazatomprom
implemented a three-month production reduction; besides, the production of major
uranium mines such as Husab and Rossing uranium mines in Namibia was also affected
by different extents. The output of natural uranium was approximately 47,000tU in
2020, representing a decrease of 17% as compared with 2019, which is the lowest point
since 2008, accounting for only 69% of the global natural uranium demand in the year.

Affected by the suspension of production of Cigar Lake uranium mine in March,
the trading volume of natural uranium spot trading surged between late March and
April, and the single-month trading volume in April broke the historical record. Spot
prices increased from US$24/1b to US$26/1b at the beginning of the year to US$34/lb
at the end of May, which is the highest point of the year. Spot prices declined gently to
below US$30/Ib after June, but recovered to US$30/Ib by the end of the year.
According to data released by UxC, the global spot trading volume of natural uranium
was 35,503tU in 2020, representing an increase of 43% as compared with 2019, with
average trading size decreased and the trading frequency increased. It was observed
that natural uranium producers sought procurement opportunities in the spot market
after they reduced their production capacity and the activities of natural uranium
traders and financial investors increased dramatically, while the direct procurement
demand from nuclear power plants owners remained pent-up and delayed.

In 2020, the long-term trading volume of natural uranium was approximately
21,560tU, representing a decrease of approximately 42% as compared with 2019.
According to the data from UxC, the long-term price fluctuated between US$31/Ib to
US$33/1b in 2020, while according to the data from TradeTech Inc., the long-term price
fluctuated between US$33/Ib to US$39/1b in 2020.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Uranium mines under production — production of Semizbay-U

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine
reduced its production volume to 299tU and 434tU, both completed its annual
production plan, but the total production was decreased by 24% as compared with
2019. However, based on the foundation of good cooperation between the two parties
for years and active communication, the Company kept its natural uranium off-take
amount of 588tU from Semizbay-U in 2020.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine developed four new blocks with 326
boreholes drilled and approximately 409tU developed reserves expanded; and Irkol
Mine developed five new blocks with 333 boreholes drilled and approximately 435tU
developed reserves expanded. The total exploration expenses of Semizbay Mine and
Irkol Mine were 3 billion tenge (approximately HK$55.06 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the uranium reserves of Semizbay-U were as follows:

Semizbay
Mine Irkol Mine

Reserves Average Grade 0.055% 0.0422%
tU 10,120 15,234
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Uranium mine project pending for development — operation and project exploration
by Fission

There were changes in Fission’s management in 2020. The former chief operating
officer Mr. Ross McElroy has been promoted as the chief executive officer, new
management and technical team have been engaged and a new company development
plan has been formulated to meet the need in promoting the PLS project to the
development phase, which mainly comprises:

(1) Putting forward the development path of Fission, promoting the development
of the PLS Project by strengthening operation team and obtaining financial
resources, and continuously improve the image of the company.

(2) Evaluating potential financing pathway of Fission. To implement the new
development plan, Fission conducted two rounds of financing in 2020 with
proceeds of CA$24.07 million (approximately US$19.26 million), which
secured the financial resources for commencement of infill drilling and other
works.

(3) Formulating a new 6-year (2021 to 2026) development plan for the PLS
Project, where the total expenditure is approximately US$56 million,
including US$12.40 million for infill drilling, US$27.20 million for
feasibility studies, and US$16.30 million for licenses and permits and social
impacts. Approximately US$41.50 million are urgently needed in 2021 and
2022 for feasibility studies and environmental assessments.

During the Reporting Period, Fission had not carried out any exploration activity.
Natural uranium trading business

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group achieved revenue of HKS$2,859
million from natural uranium trading, increased by 38% as compared to 2019. Trading
revenue from sales of natural uranium products from mines owned by Semizbay-U was
HK$425 million, representing an increase of 12.5% compared to 2019 (2019: HK$377
million).

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global sold a total 4,168tU and realised
trading revenue of approximately HK$2,434 million, with realised profit of
approximately HK$60 million. Although the price of natural uranium in 2020 was still
at the low point in the historical cycle and face to face communication with customers
was impracticable due to the epidemic in 2020, CGN Global made an active effort to
grasp the opportunities and still realised significant improvement in operating
performance compared to 2019.
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group held 3,142tU of natural uranium
(approximately 8.17 million pounds of U;Og), with a weighed average cost of
US$27.90 per pound of U;0g, and had 5,096tU of natural uranium sales contracted but
not delivered (approximately 13.25 million pounds of U;Og), with a weighed average
selling price of US$32.28 per pound of U;Oy.

Acquisitions of New Uranium Projects

The New Kazakhstan Uranium Project has been the primary task of the Company
in recent years. During the Reporting Period, the Company had completed a round of
supplemental due diligence and launched multiple rounds of negotiations with its
Kazakhstan partner. The Company has reached an intention with Kazatomprom in
principle to complete the transaction by 30 June 2021.

Maintenance of Investor Relationship

Investor relationship management met new challenges in 2020. To enhance its
communications with Shareholders and the capital market, during the Reporting Period,
the Company improved its investor relationship management through online
communication, systematically optimised its information disclosure, market promotion
and industry research, and achieved satisfactory results.

Relative Performance of Share Price of CGN Mining (01164.HK), HSI and the Spot Price of
Natural Uranium from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts to broaden its
channels of direct communication and liaison with Shareholders. The key tasks during
the year 2020 were as follows:

Channels

Annual general meeting

Key points

Approved 8 ordinary resolutions on 18 June

Annual results ° On 27 March, the annual results conference
presentation and interim was held via telephone under the chairmanship
results presentation of BOCI
e  On 26 August, with the support of Essence
Securities, the interim results conference was
held through Tencent conference and Futu live
broadcast

Investor seminars and ° 117 seminars and roadshows

roadshows

communication

Increase in natural e  North Shore Global Uranium Mining ETF

uranium industry index increased its holdings in the Company by

fund holdings 41.63 million shares. The Global X Uranium
ETF re-incorporated the Company into its
constituent stocks.

Company awards e The Company received the best “Energy and
Resources Listed Company” and “Best CEO”
awards from Golden Hong Kong Stock.

Regular reports and e Released 13 announcements and 2 regular

announcements reports throughout the year

e Including 3 voluntary disclosure
announcemnets

Company websites e Company news and industry information

(http://www.cgnmce.com/) e Policies and codes

° Financial information and investors’ contact
e  Briefing information for analysts

Official Company We e  The official Wechat account, the corporate

Media channel accounts on Futu, Flush and Xueqiu.com, and
the investor relations WeChat applet have been
created

Official Company e-mail e ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Receives investor
enquiries and feedback
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market forecast

Low-carbon has never been more widely recognized in the world like it is today.
On 22 September 2020, the Chinese President Xi Jinping announced at the 75th session
of the United Nations General Assembly that “China will scale up its nationally
determined contributions and adopt more vigorous policies and measures, strive to peak
carbon dioxide emissions before 2030, and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060”.
Countries such as Japan, South Korea, and Canada successively announced in 2020 the
plan for realization of carbon neutrality. In January 2021, the President of the US,
Biden, announced the return to the Paris Agreement. The US and European Union
jointly announced that they would achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in March 2021.
According to a research report issued by the International Energy Agency, nuclear
power accounted for 18% of the total power generation among developed economies in
2018, which was the largest low-carbon energy sourcre, contributed nearly half of the
low-carbon power in the past half century and was an important contributor to the
global energy transition. However, emerging economies are expected to succeed the
developed countries as the main players in vigorously developing nuclear power in the
future.

On 5 March 2021, the Chinese Premier Li Keqiang proposed in government
report: Promote clean and efficient use of coal, vigorously develop new energy, and
actively and orderly develop nuclear power under the premise of ensuring safety. This
is the first time in the past ten years that the word “actively” was used in mentioning
the development to nuclear power in Chinese government’s work report. According to
the estimation of the China’s Annual Development and Outlook of Nuclear Energy
(2020) published by the China Nuclear Energy Industry Association, the future position
of nuclear energy in China’s energy structure will be clearer, and the pace of nuclear
power construction is expected to be stabilized. China’s nuclear power construction is
expected to continue steadily at a rate of 6 to 8 units per year during the “l4th
Five-Year” and mid- to long-term periods and it is estimated that China’s nuclear
power installed capacity in operation will reach 70 million kW by 2025 with 30 million
kW under construction. The total installed nuclear power capacity in operation and
under construction will reach 200 million kW by 2035.

We believe that nuclear power, with its advantages of zero carbon emission,
fearless of climate changes and its capability of being base load, will play an
increasingly important role in the worldwide carbon neutrality movement.

Natural uranium market forecast
As the COVID-19 epidemic rebounded at the end of 2020 in Canada and
Kazakhstan, major producers of uranium in the world, certain natural uranium mines

stopped production. Moreover, the industry has been starved of capital investment for
years, and there were no new uranium projects receiving sufficient capital for
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development in the market, which means that it will be difficult for new projects to
form new production capacity rapidly even if natural uranium prices rise in the short
term. Therefore, although the global supply of natural uranium is expected to recover
in 2021 as compared with 2020, it is unlikely to recover to the level before the
outbreak of the epidemic, and the market demand will continue to exceed production
and the inventory of natural uranium will be further consumed.

Meanwhile, both newly constructed nuclear power plants in global emerging
economies and the demand brought by the expiration and renewal of long-term trade
contracts signed historically will bring more mid— to long-term procurement demands
by nuclear power plants owners and enhance recovery impetus to the natural uranium
market in 2021.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation Management of Semizbay-U

Faced with the situation that Semizbay-U was forced to reduce production under
the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Company will actively participate in its
governance through its board of directors in 2021 to ensure the completion of its
annual production plan and product sales tasks so as to achieve annual profit targets.
The field team will strengthen the supervision of the implementation on the annual
production, operation plan and the annual budget to ensure that the enterprise’s
business objectives are achieved under the premise of safe production. Moreover, in
2021, Semizbay-U will continue to promote innovation in mineral production and new
technology, optimize the construction of digitalized mines and improve the standard of
automated management. Meanwhile, in order to promote the sustainable development
of Semizbay-U, the Company will continue to promote the enhancement of its
resources/reserves in 2021.

Management and Control on Fission

In respect of Fission, the Company mainly relies on participation in its board of
directors to involve in its major decision-making and exert influence, while
continuously deepen the technical support for the PLS project and enhancing regular
technical exchange. In 2021, the Company will support Fission in completing the
winter and summer exploration programs as scheduled and finishing the upgrade of part
of the R780E and R840W areas of the PLS project from inferred level to indicated
level so as to extend the designed life of mines. The Company also plans to hire a
local technical personnel to participate in the field work of Fission in Canada to
increase technical management for the PLS project and enhance collaboration
efficiency.
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Active Expansion of Trading Business

The Group will strengthen its business dealings with end customers, such as
global nuclear power plants owners, actively participate in international market bidding,
deepen its analysis of market conditions and counterparties’ behaviors, seize market
opportunities, develop new business models and actively explore new trading
opportunities to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.

Acquisition of New Uranium Resources Projects

The Company is optimistic about the continuous growing trend of natural uranium
demand brought by the long-term stable development of global nuclear power. Given
the current price of natural uranium is still at the low point in the historical cycle, the
Company will seize this historical opportunity and take the investment and acquisition
of high-quality uranium resources as its lifeline of development. In 2021, the Company
will strive to implement the relevant completion work on New Kazakhstan Uranium
Project in the first half of the year on the one hand, and will seek for potential uranium
resource investment opportunities in major uranium-producing regions such as Central
Asia and Africa on the other hand, and start to build a sustainable development
resources pipeline of “exploration+in-production”. Furthermore, the Company will seek
for establishing strategic cooperative relationships with internationally renowned
uranium producers and traders to study the feasibility of joint development of uranium
projects in various modes.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The comprehensive risk management system of the Company functioned
effectively in 2020 with all risks under monitor and no significant risk incident
happened. The major work completed including:

a. Implementing of dynamic risk management mechanism. The middle and
senior management of the Company were requested to rate the annual risk
list to identify major risks scientifically. The major risks were tracked,
monitored and were reported to the management and the Board regularly,
utilising the dynamic monitoring of major risks. The risk list has been timely
identified and updated based on business progress so as to determine the
trend of risk as well as update and implement corresponding response
measures.

b.  Establishing risk management information system. The risk management
efficiency has been improved by utilising the informatization and
visualization of risk management tracking.

c.  Managing major specific risks of the Company well and to optimise the risk

management of subsidiaries and companies with shareholding interests. To
deal with the major risks which may bring material impacts to the Company
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such as changes in the international political environment and the spread of
epidemic, the Company has established a specific research mechanism and
implemented weekly tracking, realizing dynamic risk monitoring.

Upon systematic analysis, the Company is subject to the following two main risks
in 2021:

International natural uranium trade risks

Affected by the COVID-19 epidemic, CGN Global still faces challenges in
securing contracts with nuclear power plants owners for the sale of natural uranium and
in identifying trade opportunities. To reduce the risk of natural uranium trade, the
Company will sort out and optimize the authorization mechanism for exposure (i.e.
purchase of natural uranium without the sales customers secured). Leveraging on the
market opportunities, the Company will actively expand trade business in Europe and
other regions, explore new business models such as the trade of UF6 (intermediate
product in the production of nuclear fuel), and strive to achieve the annual target of the
trade business. We will also vigorously develop the global natural uranium market,
increase the proportion of sales to overseas customers, and try to win the bid of more
sales to international nuclear power plants owners.

Production and operation risk of Semizbay-U

As the COVID-19 epidemic in Kazakhstan has not been effectively controlled and
is not expected to end in the short term, Semizbay-U will face challenges in achieving
its annual production and profit targets. To this end, the Company will assist
Kazatomprom to carry out the epidemic prevention and production works on the
mining site, continuously conduct nucleic acid test by all the staff before work, strictly
prevent cluster infection, and strive to ensure that the mine production and operation
will not be affected in the year. We will monitor the production progress of the two
mines on a daily basis to ensure the timely completion of development tasks and
ensure the progress of acidification and pipeline connection; and increase the number
of drilling rigs as appropriate to improve the production efficiency of the two mines.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the Group throughout

the year. By paying attention to changes in financial indicators, business development
of the Group can be comprehensively understood.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION

Major Financial Indicators

2020 2019

Profitability indicators
Gross profit margin (%)’ 7.08 6.93
EBITDA (HK$ million)? 222.78 199.14
EBITDA/Revenue ratio (%)’ 7.78 9.59
Net profit margin (%)* 5.42 7.71
Operation ability indicators
Trade receivables cycle — average (Days)’ 30 17
Inventory cycle — average (Days)°® 218 200
Investment return indicators
Return on equity (%)’ 7.82 8.40
Profit attributable to owners of

the Company to revenue ratio (%)® 5.42 7.71
Return on assets (%)’ 4.26 5.55
Repayment ability indicators
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) 1,174.51 676.79
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)'® 2,025.08 1,940.41
Gearing ratio (%)’ 106.59 59.21
Notes:

1.

10.

11.

Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, if any.

The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period)
divided by average daily sales (i.e revenue divided by 360 days).

Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period)
divided by average daily costs of sales (i.e costs of sales divided by 360 days).

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average equity (i.e the
arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue multiplied by 100%.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average assets (i.e the
arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

Total equity less intangible assets, net.

Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit of the Group was HK$155 million in 2020, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$160 million in 2019.

REVENUE
For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements Change
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 Decrease Decrease
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Natural uranium trading 2,859,214 2,073,449 785,765 38
Property investment 3,012 3,239 (227) (7)
Total revenue 2,862,226 2,076,688 785,538 38

The revenue of the Group was HK$2,862 million in 2020, representing an
increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$2,077 million in 2019, primarily because
CGN Global aggressively expanded the global market and achieved a significant
increase in sales volume and trading revenue of natural uranium as compared with the
corresponding period in 2019.

Cost of sales

For the year ended Percentage

31 December Movements Change

Increase/ Increase/

2020 2019 Decrease Decrease

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

Natural uranium trading cost 2,659,460 1,932,783 726,677 38
Property investment — — — —
Total cost of sales 2,659,460 1,932,783 726,677 38

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$2,659 million in 2020, representing an
increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$1,933 million in 2019, which is in line
with the increase percentage of revenue primarily due to CGN Global aggressively
expanded the global market.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Due to impact from the increase on the sales volume of CGN Global, the Group
recorded a gross profit of natural uranium trading of HK$200 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 42% as compared to that of HK$141 million in 2019, and
the gross profit margin of natural uranium trading remained stable at 7%.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$9 million in 2020, representing
a decrease of 54% as compared to that of HK$20 million in 2019, mainly due to the
significant decrease in the amount of daily average fund deposited through optimising
the internal utilisation of financial resources of the Company by lending to its
subsidiary, CGN Global, and together with the decrease of market interest rate,
resulting in the significant decrease in interest income.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group was HK$10 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$8 million in 2019, mainly
due to the increase of storage expenses of natural uranium inventories.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group was HK$38 million in 2020, representing
an increase of 1% as compared to that of HK$37 million in 2019. Although the Group
expanded its business actively during the Reporting Period, benefited from the overall
strengthened cost management, administrative expenses only increased slightly.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results of a joint
venture was HK$71 million in 2020, representing an increase of 9% as compared to
that of HK$65 million in 2019, mainly due to the increase of selling price of natural
uranium during the Reporting Period.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of loss of an associate was
HK$15 million, which includes share of loss for the Reporting Period of HKS$10
million, loss on deemed disposal of HK$64 million and the reversal of long-term
investment impairment of HK$59 million.

During the Reporting Period, Fission issued 79,163,474 ordinary shares under
subscription of new shares by investors, 1,684,231 ordinary shares in lieu of payment
of interest, 10,000,000 ordinary shares upon exercise of warrants and 243,852 ordinary
shares as director remuneration. As a result, the equity interests in Fission held by the
Company as at 31 December 2020 decreased to 16.74% (31 December 2019: 19.88%).
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Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group was HK$41 million in 2020, representing an
increase of 100% as compared to that of HK$20 million in 2019, mainly due to the
addition of external borrowings by CGN Global for business expansion.

Income tax expenses
Income tax expense of the Group was HK$25 million in 2020, representing an

increase of 53% as compared to that of HK$16 million in 2019, mainly due to the
increase in gross profit of natural uranium trade.

Profit for the year

The profit of the Group was HK$155 million in 2020, representing a slight
decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$160 million in 2019.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS
Total assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets were HK$4,188 million,
representing an increase of 35% as compared to HK$3,095 million as at 31 December
2019, mainly due to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories, trade
receivables and bank balances and cash as compared with the corresponding period in
2019.

Total liabilities
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total liabilities were HK$2,161 million,
representing an increase of 88% as compared to HK$1,151 million on 31 December

2019, mainly due to the external bank loan newly drawdown by CGN Global for
business expansion during the Reporting Period.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net current assets were HK$2,100 million,
representing an increase of 19% as compared to HK$1,766 million as at 31 December
2019, mainly due to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories, trade
receivables and bank balances and cash as compared with the corresponding period in

2019.
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Inventories 1,767,335 1,441,980 325,355 23
Trade and other receivables 363,176 126,706 236,470 186
Amount due from an
intermediate holding
company 2,323 3,875 (1,552) (40)
Amount due from a fellow
subsidiary 19 - 19 N/A
Income tax recoverable 6,678 1,737 4,941 284
Bank balances and cash 1,174,508 676,793 497,715 74
Total current assets 3,314,039 2,251,091 1,062,948 47

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total current assets were HK$3,314 million,
representing an increase of 47% as compared to HK$2,251 million as at 31 December
2019, mainly due to the significant increase in natural uranium inventories, trade
receivables and bank balances and cash as compared with the corresponding period in
2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of bank balances and cash of the
Group was HK$1,175 million (31 December 2019: HK$677 million), among which,
approximately 9% (31 December 2019: 32%) was denominated in HKD, approximately
90% (31 December 2019: 67%) was denominated in USD, approximately 1% (31
December 2019: 1%) was denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any bank deposits and cash
pledged to any banks (31 December 2019: Nil). The proportion of current assets of the
Group over total assets was 79% (31 December 2019: 73%), and the proportion of
bank balances and cash over total assets was 28% (31 December 2019: 22%).
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Non-current assets

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements Change

Increase/ Increase/

2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 %

Property, plant and equipment 622 160 462 289
Right-of-use assets 1,977 3,836 (1,859) (48)
Investment properties 52,623 48,595 4,028 8
Interest in a joint venture 264,956 237,775 27,181 11
Interest in an associate 553,570 553,522 48 -
Rental deposits - 387 (387) (100)
Total non-current assets 873,748 844,275 29,473 3

As at 31 December 2020, the total non-current assets of the Group were HK$874
million, representing an increase of 3% as compared to HK$844 million as at 31
December 2019, mainly due to the increase in interest in a joint venture.

Current liabilities

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Trade and other payables 158,289 36,382 121,907 335
Loans from a fellow
subsidiary 370,693 422,559 (51,866) (12)
Bank borrowings 666,704 - 666,704 N/A
Lease liabilities 704 1,703 (999) (59)
Amount due to an
intermediate holding
company 874 8,373 (7,499) (90)
Amount due to a joint venture - 5,513 (5,513) (100)
Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 1,135 1,421 (286) (20)
Income tax payable 15,848 9,555 6,293 66
Total current liabilities 1,214,247 485,506 728,741 150
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total current liabilities were HK$1,214
million, representing an increase of 150% as compared to HK$486 million as at 31
December 2019, mainly due to the external bank loan drawdown by CGN Global for
business expansion during the Reporting Period.

Non-current liabilities

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements Change

Increase/ Increase/

2020 2019 Decrease Decrease

HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 %

Deferred tax liabilities 23,968 19,104 4,864 25
Loans from a fellow subsidiary 533,596 644,494 (110,898) (17)
Bank borrowings 387,754 - 387,754 N/A
Lease liabilities 1,162 2,021 (859) (43)
Total non-current liabilities 946,480 665,619 280,861 42

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total non-current liabilities were HK$946
million, representing an increase of 42% as compared to HK$666 million as at 31
December 2019, mainly due to the external bank loan drawdown by CGN Global for
business expansion during the Reporting Period.

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements Change

Increase/ Increase/

2020 2019 Decrease Decrease

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

Share capital 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves 1,961,053 1,878,234 82,819 4
Total equity 2,027,060 1,944,241 82,819 4

Total equity
As at 31 December 2020, total equity of the Group amounted to HKS$2,027
million, representing an increase of 4% as compared to HK$1,944 million as at 31

December 2019, mainly due to the increase of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%)
was 107% (2019: 59%).
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Assets and investments

The Group did not conduct any significant equity investment, major acquisition or
disposal during the Reporting Period.

Investment direction

According to the business positioning and development strategy of the Group, the
main investment direction of the Group remains to be acquiring competitive overseas
uranium resource projects with low cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment
activities as and when appropriate, to laid the foundation of further development of the
Group.

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
Capital structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had a total of 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares in issue (31 December 2019: 6,600,682,645 ordinary shares) ordinary shares,
and the market capitalization of the Company was approximately HK$2,376 million (31
December 2019: HK$2,013 million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and goals. During the
Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund was mainly from the cash generated
from operating activities and external borrowings. The capital requirements of the
Company mainly come from the possible acquisition expenses of acquiring natural
uranium resources and funds for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and business and
does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any suitable acquisition opportunity
arises in the future, the Group will raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external and internal
factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms, the Company must understand
the external financing environment and adopt a reasonable financing model and
strategies based on its structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, actively considers
its responses to internal and external financial risks, formulates reasonable models and
strategies to ensure the safety and economic efficiency of financing, and takes strict
management measures for debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.
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Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company has been
exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish a financing model with
combination of short-, medium-and long-term capital, merged direct and indirect
financing and multiple financing channels to ensure the protection of a stable fund. In
the process of debt financing, the Company has taken a balanced approach to between
cost and safety. The Company is committed to the pursuit of a competitive financing
cost rather than the lowest one to ensure the security of financing and the quality of
service received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected returns, the
Company will prudently consider using equity financing to balance risks and enhance
Shareholder value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as debt risks
and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings (drawdown during the year 2020)
were US$136 million, denominated in USD with floating interest rate and were
unsecured and interest bearing ranging from 0.78% to 1.47% per annum. Borrowings
from a fellow subsidiary of the Company (drawdown during the year 2018 and 2019)
were US$117 million, denominated in USD with fixed interest rate and were unsecured
and interest bearing ranging from 3.2% to 4.6% per annum.

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash, cash
equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity for operation and to
reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The Company’s management also keeps an
eye on external borrowing to ensure a sufficiency of available borrowing credit. As at
31 December 2020, the Group has undrawn borrowing credit of US$857 million, which
can be utilised to provide sufficient cash for the Group’s operation and to reduce the
impact of cash flow volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly settled in US$ and RMB (2019:
US$ and RMB), while its cash was mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2019: US$
and HK$). Daily expenses including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (2019: USS$, HK$ and RMB).
The Group was not subject to any material exchange rate risk during the Reporting
Period.
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For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control cost rather than
profitability. In 2020, the Group had no forward foreign exchange contracts, interests
or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and experienced
no significant difficulty or impact on its operation or liquidity due to exchange rate
fluctuation.

CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external guarantee
(2019: Nil). The guarantee provided by the Company to CGN Global was US$180
million (2019: Nil) and US$136 million (2019: Nil) was utilised. The Company did not
allow subsidiaries to provide any form of guarantee to any entities or individuals
without the approval of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pledge any of its assets (2019:
Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no significant litigation, and that it was nor
aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it, which had or could have a
material and adverse effect on its financial condition or operation during the Reporting
Period.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the applicable

accounting standard are explained in note 2 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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The following is the text of a report set out on pages II-1 to II-2 received from
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong, for the purpose of
incorporation in this circular.

_
pwc Rk E

ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO THE
DIRECTORS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITIED

Introduction

We report on the historical financial information of Mining Company “ORTALYK”
LLP (the “Target”) set out on pages II-3 to II-60, which comprises the statements of
financial position of the Target as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, and the statements
of profit or loss, the statements of comprehensive income, the statements of changes in
equity and the statements of cash flows for each of the years ended 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020 (the “Track Record Period”) and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information (together, the “Historical Financial Information™).
The Historical Financial Information set out on pages II-3 to II-60, forms an integral part of
this report, which has been prepared for inclusion in the circular of CGN Mining Company
Limited (the “Company”) dated 25 May 2021 (the “Circular”) in connection with the
proposed acquisition of 49% interest in the Target by the Company.

Directors’ responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of Historical
Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of
preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial Information.

The financial statements of the Target for the Track Record Period (“Underlying
Financial Statements”), on which the Historical Financial Information is based, were
prepared by the directors of the Target. The directors of the Target are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the Underlying Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of Underlying Financial Statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Reporting accountant’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and
to report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200, Accountants’ Reports on
Historical Financial Information in Investment Circulars issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with
ethical standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountant’s judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountant considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial Information in
order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also
included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountant’s report, a true and fair view of the financial position of the Target as at 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
Track Record Period in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the

Historical Financial Information.

Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying
Financial Statements have been made.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 May 2021
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE TARGET
Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of
this accountant’s report.

The Underlying Financial Statements, on which the Historical Financial Information is
based, were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers in accordance with International Standards

on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

The Historical Financial Information is presented in US dollars except when otherwise
indicated.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Distribution costs

General and administrative expenses
Other losses — net

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs — net
Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Note

W

N

Year ended 31 December

2020
Us$

94,903,510
(42,824,347)

2019
US$

96,277,498
(53,192,030)

2018
US$

101,016,519
(58,954,211)

52,079,163 43,085,468 42,062,308
(90,979) (99,584) (58,684)
(3,299,744) (2,619,235) (2,803,710)
(97,772) (231,654) (39,748)
48,590,668 40,134,995 39,160,166
528,711 257,258 114,992
(705,545) (692,705) (1,022,873)
(176,834) (435,447) (907,881)
48,413,834 39,699,548 38,252,285
(9,872,307) (8,562,175) (7,738,010)
38,541,527 31,137,373 30,514,275
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (losses)/income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss

Currency translation differences arising
from the retranslation of the Target’s
financial statements to the presentation
currency

Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations

Remeasurements of financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December

Other comprehensive (losses)/income for
the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

2020 2019 2018

US$ Us$ US$
38,541,527 31,137,373 30,514,275
(9,723,892) 977,470 (13,309,015)
(58,608) 13,759 4,347

- (90,695) (51,161)
(9,782,500) 900,534  (13,355,829)
28,759,027 32,037,907 17,158,446
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10
Intangible assets 11
Exploration and evaluation assets 12
Other non-current assets 13

Current assets

Inventories 15

Prepaid income tax

Trade and other receivables and
prepayments 14

Cash and cash equivalents 16

Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Share capital 17

Reserves 18
Retained earnings

Total equity

As at 31 December

2020 2019 2018

US$ Us$ Us$
58,379,582 64,407,921 68,118,814
2,319,427 1,147,817 1,212,611
4,447,867 4,536,030 4,511,020
3,375,401 4,156,674 3,372,663
68,522,277 74,248,442 77,215,108
5,726,360 5,036,405 5,701,307
925,892 1,635,671 2,030,471
40,355,107 35,122,244 28,975,786
4,720,354 7,751,529 9,482,738
51,727,713 49,545,849 46,190,302
120,249,990 123,794,291 123,405,410
102,945,934 101,778,539 101,778,539
(45,843,467)  (36,060,967) (36,961,501)
46,872,461 36,697,100 35,156,808
103,974,928 102,414,672 99,973,846
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Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Provision for asset restoration

obligations

Long-term payables
Provision for employee benefits

obligations

Other non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Note

19

20
21

22

23

Current portion of long-term payables 21

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

As at 31 December

2020 2019 2018

US$ US$ US$
1,191,852 1,027,520 1,013,457
6,667,075 9,381,161 7,949,414
509,686 1,016,947 1,500,666
184,678 58,243 68,071
91,096 - -
8,644,387 11,483,871 10,531,608
7,081,294 9,344,596 12,350,836
549,381 551,152 549,120
7,630,675 9,895,748 12,899,956
16,275,062 21,379,619 23,431,564
120,249,990 123,794,291 123,405,410
44,097,038 39,650,101 33,290,346
112,619,315 113,898,543 110,505,454
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

Balance at 1 January 2018, as
previously stated
Adoption of IFRS 9:
- remeasurement of expected credit
losses

Balance at 1 January 2018, as restated

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(losses)

Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations

Remeasurements of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive losses, net of
tax

Total comprehensive (losses)/income for
the year

Dividends paid
Contribution from the shareholder

(Note 17)

Balance at 31 December 2018

Share Reserves Retained
capital (Note 18) earnings  Total equity
US$ US$ US$ Us$
91,277,112 (23,605,672) 9,576,317 71,247,757
- - (661) (661)
91,277,112 (23,605,672) 9,575,656 71,247,096
- - 30,514,275 30,514,275
- 4,347 - 4,347
- (51,161) - (51,161)
- (13,309,015) - (13,309,015)
- (13,355,829) - (13,355,829)
- (13,355,829) 30,514,275 17,158,446
- - (4,933,123) (4,933,123)
10,501,427 - - 10,501,427
101,778,539 (36,961,501) 35,156,808 99,973,846
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Share Reserves Retained
capital (Note 18) earnings  Total equity
US$ US$ Us$ US$

Balance at 1 January 2019 101,778,539 (36,961,501) 35,156,808 99,973,846
Profit for the year - - 31,137,373 31,137,373
Other comprehensive income/(losses)
Remeasurements of post-employment

benefit obligations - 13,759 - 13,759
Remeasurements of financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive

income - (90,695) - (90,695)
Currency translation differences - 977,470 - 977,470
Total other comprehensive income, net of

tax - 900,534 - 900,534
Total comprehensive income for the

year - 900,534 31,137,373 32,037,907
Dividends paid - - (29,597,081)  (29,597,081)
Balance at 31 December 2019 101,778,539 (36,060,967) 36,697,100 102,414,672
Balance at 1 January 2020 101,778,539 (36,060,967) 36,697,100 102,414,672
Profit for the year - - 38,541,527 38,541,527
Other comprehensive losses
Remeasurements of post-employment

benefit obligations - (58,608) - (58,608)
Currency translation differences - (9,723,892) - (9,723,892)
Total other comprehensive (losses)/

income, net of tax - (9,782,500) - (9,782,500)
Total comprehensive (losses)/income for

the year - (9,782,500) 38,541,527 28,759,027
Dividends paid - - (28,366,166)  (28,366,166)
Contribution from the shareholder

(Note 17) 1,167,395 - - 1,167,395
Balance at 31 December 2020 102,945,934 (45,843,467) 46,872,461 103,974,928

—II-9 -



APPENDIX II

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ORTALYK

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Income taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of intangible assets

Purchases of exploration and
evaluation assets

Net increase in restricted use
liquidation fund

Payments for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital injection from the shareholder

Receipt of a restricted use liquidation
fund deposit

Dividends paid to the shareholder

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Note

24(a)

17

10(b)

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018

US$ Us$ Us$
42,735,318 42,377,977 32,291,786
326,976 231,515 114,992
(9,040,812) (8,147,089) (8,144,647)
34,021,482 34,462,403 24,262,131
(6,815,382) (5,972,418)  (20,893,887)
(259,689) - (157,484)
(437,914) (913,070) (593,590)
(486,121) (387,425) (2,873,696)

- (90,695) (51,161)
(7,999,106) (7,363,608) (24,569,818)
- - 10,049,930

- - 2,691,032
(28,366,166)  (29,597,081) (4,933,123)
(28,366,166) (29,597,081) 7,807,839
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Note

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of year
Exchange (losses)/gains arising from
the retranslation of financial
statement items to the presentation
currency 24(b)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
year

—II-11 -

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018

Us$ US$ US$
(2,343,790) (2,498,286) 7,500,152
7,751,529 9,482,738 2,383,366
(687,385) 767,077 (400,780)
4,720,354 7,751,529 9,482,738
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018, 2019 AND 2020

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP (the “Target”) is a limited liability partnership set up according to the
legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The sole shareholder of the Target is National Atomic Company
Kazatomprom JSC (“NAC KAP” or the “sole shareholder”). As of 31 December 2020, 75% shares of NAC KAP
belong to the government of the Republic Kazakhstan represented by Sovereign Wealth Fund Samruk Kazyna JSC
and 25% belong to other shareholders (31 December 2019: 81.28% and 18.72%, respectively, 31 December 2018:
85.08% and 14.92%, respectively).

The Target’s registered address is Building No. 28, Suzak 033 village, Suzak region, South Kazakhstan
oblast, Republic of Kazakhstan.

These set of the Target’s financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 is
included in the circular of CGN Mining Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”), for its potential acquisition of 49% equity interest in the Target (the
“Potential Acquisition”) in accordance with the requirements as set out in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Potential Acquisition is subject to the approvals
from the shareholders of CGN Mining Company Limited.

The functional currency of the Target is Kazakhstan Tenge (“KZT”) while these financial statements are
presented in United States Dollars (“US$”), unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by management of the Target (“management”) on
25 May 2021.

Principal activities and status of the Target’s major non-current operating assets

Prior to 19 October 2017, the Target’s principal activities were the provision of uranium extraction
and processing services to NAC KAP.

On 19 October 2017, the Target’s share capital was increased by KZT12,126,529 thousand
(equivalent to US$36,353,776) in the form of contribution of non-monetary assets from NAC KAP to the
Target (the “2017 Capital Injection”). The non-monetary assets as injected by NAC KAP in the 2017
Capital Injection comprise of the subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) for an uranium mine
area with the approval for active uranium production or extraction activities (the “Central Mynkuduk
field”), all the mine development assets and other property, plant and equipment as located in the Central
Mynkuduk field, the exploration and evaluation assets as capitalised for the exploration of uranium
resources in another mine area (the “Zhalpak field”). As of the respective balance sheet dates, the Target’s
exploration and evauation assets are all in connection with the Zhalpak field (Note 12).

Subequent to the 2017 Capital Injection, the Target is principally engaged in the mining and
extraction of uranium, the processing and sales of uranium products and the exploration of uranium
resources in the Zhalpak field. Due to the particularity of the uranium products and the customer
relationships as established by NAC KAP for years, the ultimate customers of the uranium products as
produced by the Target will purchase uranium products directly from NAC KAP. Therefore, the Target sells
its uranium products to NAC KAP which will then sell the products to the ultimate customers. For the years
ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018, approximately 99.9% of the Target’s revenues are attributable to
sales transactions with the sole shareholder, NAC KAP.

The Central Mynkuduk field has a remaining licenced uranium extraction period of 12 years till 8
July 2032 as approved by the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Target’s approved right to explore uranium resources at the Zhalpak field was originally expired
on 31 May 2018 and the Target had applied for an extension for the exploration period. By reference to a
letter as issued by the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 14 May 2018, the Target’s
right to explore uranium resources at the Zhalpak field has been extended to 31 December 2022, subject,
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inter alia, to the provision of a work program based on the approved project document. The Target has
started to apply for the subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) for the Zhalpak field since
February 2018. However, the related government approval was delayed due to the ambiguity in relation to
the authorised governmental body for approving the commencement of uranium mining activities and due to
the lack of a clear regulation on the Central Commission (a subordinate governmental body as governed by
the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan) for the development of uranium resources/deposits
in the Republic of Kazakhstan. Despite the Target has not yet obtained the subsurface use right (i.e. the
mineral extraction right) for the Zhalpak field, the Target has continued its trial production at the Zhalpak
field since June 2018.

On 6 May 2020, the related governmental body has formally rejected the Target’s application for the
subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) of the Zhalpak field on the grounds that it does not
have capacity to approve the related application.

The Target has worked closely with NAC KAP about the remedial actions for obtaining the
subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) of the Zhalpak field and the Target has already
suspended its trial production at the Zhalpak field since 20 April 2020. Pursuant to a NAC KAP’s Board
Resolution dated 26 August 2020, NAC KAP will apply for the subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral
extraction right) of the Zhalpak field for the Target and then further transfer the subsurface use right in
favour of the Target (at nil costs — other than those minimal administrative costs to be incurred by NAC
KAP for obtaining the subsurface use right) in the manner as prescribed by the law applicable in the
Republic of Kazakhstan.

On 21 September 2020, NAC KAP has already commenced the application processes with the
relevant government authorities for obtaining the subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) of
the Zhalpak field. As of the date of these financial statements, the application is still subject to the approval
from the relevant government authority and management expects that NAC KAP will obtain the subsurface
use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) of the Zhalpak field prior to 31 December 2021. NAC KAP has
confirmed to the Target that it will transfer the subsurface use right (i.e. the mineral extraction right) of the
Zhalpak field to the Target (at nil cost) once it has obtained the aforesaid subsurface use right which is
permitted under the prevailing laws and regulations in Republic of Kazakhstan (with more details as
disclosed in Note 4(b)).

Impact of the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (the “COVID-19 Outbreak™)

In December 2019, news about the outbreak of a new virus first appeared. On 11 March 2020, the
World Health Organisation declared the outbreak of a new type of coronavirus COVID-19 a pandemic.
According to the Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 15 March 2020 No. 285 “On
the introduction of a state of emergency in the Republic of Kazakhstan”, a state of emergency was
introduced for the period from 16 March 2020 until 15 April 2020 and later extended until 11 May 2020.

Major cities of Kazakhstan fell under a quarantine regime; also, the activities of many enterprises
were suspended from 30 March 2020 to 11 May 2020. On 5 July 2020, the State Commission for Ensuring
State of Emergency under the President of Kazakhstan, in consideration of the complications of the
epidemiological situation and the increase in the prevalence of coronavirus infection in Kazakhstan,
introduced restrictive measures for 14 days, subsequently extended until 16 August 2020. The Target’s
activities in the Central Mynkuduk field during the period of quarantine were not suspended and, the works
of all office employees were organised remotely.

The Target’s uranium extraction and production activities at the Central Mynkuduk field were
suspended from 12 April 2020 to 6 August 2020 due to the introduction of the aforesaid state of emergency
and the reduction in the sales order from NAC KAP. In the first half of August 2020, the Target began
activities to mobilise workers to production facilities, in compliance with strict health and safety protocols
in order to minimise the risk of a potential outbreak in the field or among the population living in the
regions of the Target’s presence. Since August 2020, mine development activities have resumed, however, it
is expected that mining operations, suspended for four months from the beginning of the second quarter of
2020, will have an impact on the Target’s production.
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In overall, the COVID-19 has reduced the Target’s production and sales volume of uranium products
by approximately 21% and 24% respectively (as compared to the year ended 31 December 2019) and the
adverse impact has been substantially offset by the impact of the appreciation of the average uranium spot
price (which acts as a base for the pricing of the Target’s products) by approximately 23% on a yearly basis
(as compared to the year ended 31 December 2019). As a result, the Target’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 has just slightly reduced by approximately 1.4% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2019.

Other than the reduced level of field operational and development activities for the period as
mentioned above, management is not aware of any other significant noticeable impact on the Target’s
production volume, revenues, deliveries or supply chain activities due to the COVID-19 Outbreak.
Management considers that the abovementioned disruption in the Target’s operational and development
activities is temporary and there should not be any continuous significant negative impact on the Target’s
business.

The COVID-19 situation is still developing and management will continue to monitor the market
situation and development of the COVID-19 situation and will take all necessary measures to prevent and
minimise the negative impact on the Target’s business (if any).

Depreciation of the Target’s functional currency, Kazakhstan Tenge (“KZT”)

During the first 3 months ended 31 March 2020, KZT has been depreciated against the US$ by
approximately 17%. During the period from April to June 2020, the exchange rates of KZT (against US$)
have been partially recovered and then slightly depreciated during period from July to December 2020. As a
result, the exchange rate of KZT (against US$) has been depreciated by approximately 10.37% on a yearly
basis during the year ended 31 December 2020. As of 31 December 2020, the exchange rate was
KZT420.71 per USS$1.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the exchange rates of KZT (against US$) have
been appreciated by 0.79% and depreciated by 15.6%, respectively.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Target have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 13(b)), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Target’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the
financial statements, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 97) and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“IFRS 15”) which have been initially applied on 1 January 2018 and IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS
16”) which has been initially applied on 1 January 2019 with no material impact on the financial statements of the
Target. Details of the changes in accounting policies are discussed below.
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(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Target

A number of new or amended standards became applicable for the reporting period beginning on 1
January 2018 and the Target had to change its accounting policies and make modified retrospective
adjustments as a result of adopting the following standards:

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018),
° IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective from 1 January 2018), and
° IFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019).

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published during the three years
ended 31 December 2020 but not listed above and they did not have any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

The below explains the impact of adoption of IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 on the Target’s financial
statements.

(i) Adoption of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The adoption of IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies and
adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. In accordance with the transitional
provisions in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The financial assets held by the Target mainly represent debt instruments previously
classified as loans and receivables and measured at amortised cost, meet the conditions for
classification at amortised cost under IFRS 9. Accordingly, there is no impact on the Target’s
accounting for financial assets.

There is no impact on the Target’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new
requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value
through profit or loss and the Target does not have any such liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets
The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets, from their

previous measurement categories in accordance with IAS 39 into their new measurement
categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018:

Carrying value Carrying value

under IAS 39 Remeasurement under IFRS 9

31 December of expected 1 January

2017 credit losses 2018

US$ US$ US$

Cash and cash equivalents 2,383,366 (362) 2,383,004
Trade and other receivables 14,594,618 (299) 14,594,319

Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included in the table
above.
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(b)

(ii)  Adoption of IFRS 15

The Target applied simplified method of transition to IFRS 15, and elected to apply the
practical expedient available for simplified transition method. The Target applies IFRS 15
retrospectively only to contracts that were not completed at the date of initial application (1 January
2018).

Based on an analysis of the Target’s income, contracts with customers and on the basis of the
facts and circumstances that exist at that date, management of the Target concluded that the adoption
of IFRS 15 has no significant impact on the Target’s financial statements.

(iii)  Adoption of IFRS 16

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities
at the date at which the leased assets are available for use by the Target. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost.

The Target has adopted IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019, the adoption of the IFRS 16 did not
have any material impact on the Target’s financial statements since all of the Target’s leases are
short-term leases with the lease term of 12 months or less.

Impact of standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted by the Target
The following amended standards became effective for the Target from 1 January 2021 or later:

° Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture —
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the IASB).

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 23
January 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).

° Classification of liabilities as current or non-current, deferral of effective date — Amendments
to IAS 1 (issued on 15 July 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023).

° Proceeds before Intended Use, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract, Reference to
the Conceptual Framework — narrow scope amendments to IAS 16, IAS 37 and IFRS 3, and
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 — amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and
IAS 41 (issued on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022).

° Insurance Contracts — Amendments to IFRS 17 (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023) and an amendment to IFRS 4 (issued on
25 June 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

° Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform — phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021).

The Target will adopt the above new or revised standards and amendments to existing standards as

and when they become effective. Management has performed preliminary assessment and does not expect
the new standards and interpretations have a material impact on the Target in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions, other than those as described below:

The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property,

plant and equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the
asset for its intended use. The proceeds from selling such items, net with the costs of producing them, are
now required to be recognised in profit or loss. The Target will adopt the amendment to IAS 16
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2.2

2.3

prospectively from 1 January 2022. Management has conducted a preliminary assessment and concluded
that the adoption of the aforesaid amendment to IAS 16 will have certain impact on the Target’s financial
statements because the net proceeds from the trial production at the Zhalpak filed which have been
deducted from the cost of exploration and evaluation assets during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 amounted to US$1,776,087 and US$727,519, respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Target did not sell uranium product extracted at Zhalpak field due to expiry of the subsurface use
contract and and has recognised the production costs in connection with the Target’s geological exploration
activities at the Zhalpak field in the statement of profit or loss (Notes 1 and 4).

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Target are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional
currency of the Target is Kazakhstan Tenge (“KZT”). For the convenience of users of these financial
statements, the financial information of the Target for each of the three years ended 31 December 2018,
2019 and 2020 has been presented in United States Dollars (“US$”). Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position presented have been translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position; income and expenses for each statement presenting profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been translated at an average rate for the period; and all resulting exchange
differences recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation at year-end rates does not apply to
non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost.

(it)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
statement of profit or loss, within finance income and costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and evaluation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for
impairment, where required. Cost comprises purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable
purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, and any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials, direct labour.

Mine development assets comprise the capitalised costs of pump-in and pump-out well drilling, main

external tying of the well with surface piping, equipment, measuring instruments, ion-exchange resin,
estimated site restoration and other development costs.
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2.4

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Target and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Specialised spare parts and servicing equipment
with a significant initial value and a useful life of more than one year are recognised as an item of property,
plant and equipment. Other spare parts and auxiliary equipment are recognised as inventories and accounted
for in profit and loss for the year as retired.

Costs of minor repairs and day-to-day maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing
major parts or components of property, plant and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is
retired.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(ii)  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of items within buildings category that are used in extraction of uranium and its
preliminary processing is charged on a unit-of-production (UoP) method in respect of items for which this
basis best reflects the pattern of consumption.

Mine development assets are depreciated at the mine or block level using the unit-of-production
method. Unit-of-production rates are based on proved reserves estimated to be recovered from mines
(blocks) using existing facilities and operating methods. The estimate of proved reserves is based on reserve
reports which are integral part of each subsurface use contract. These reserve reports are incorporated into
feasibility models which are approved by the government and detail the total proven reserves and estimated
scheduled extraction by year.

Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives:

Useful lives in years

Buildings used for residential 10 - 50
Plant, machinery and equipment 3-50
Others 3-20

Each item’s estimated useful life depends on its own useful life limitations and/or term of a
subsurface use contract and the present assessment of economically recoverable reserves of the mine
property at which the item is located.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Target would currently obtain from
the disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset was already of the age and in the
condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.6).

Intangible assets
(i) Recognition and evaluation of intangible assets

The Target’s intangible assets have definite useful lives and primarily include mineral rights, software
and licenses. Acquired software and licenses are initially measured at costs incurred to acquire and bring
them to use.

Mineral rights are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and provision for impairment, where
required. The capitalised cost of acquisition of mineral rights comprises direct costs or payments for

obtaining a mineral right for proved commercial reserves or newly explored reserves (as identified during
the exploration), the cost of subsurface use rights and capitalised historical costs. The Target is obliged to
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reimburse certain historical costs as incurred by the government in respect of licensing areas prior to
licenses being issued (the “Historical Costs”). These Historical Costs are recognised as part of the
acquisition costs with a corresponding liability equal to the present value of payments made during the
license period. The aforesaid liabilities in connection with the Historical Costs payables have been
presented in the statements of financial position as “Long-term payables” (Note 21).

(ii)  Amortisation of intangible assets
Software, licenses are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives:

Useful lives in years

Software 1-14
Licences 3-20
Others 2 -15

Mineral rights are amortised using unit-of-production method based on proved reserves commencing
when uranium first starts to be extracted. The estimate of proved reserves is based on reserve reports, which
are integral part of each subsurface use contract. These reserve reports are incorporated into feasibility
models, which are approved by the government and detail the total proven reserves and estimated scheduled
extraction by year.

If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal.

2.5 Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less provision for impairment, where required. The
Target classifies exploration and evaluation assets as tangible or intangible according to the nature of the assets
acquired. Exploration and evaluation assets comprise the capitalised costs incurred after the Target has obtained
the legal rights to explore a specific area and prior to proving that viable production is possible and include
geological and geophysical costs, the costs of exploratory wells and directly attributable overheads associated with
exploration activities.

Income less expenses from uranium sales at trial production stage decrease the cost of exploration and
evaluation assets.

Activities prior to the acquisition of the subsurface rights are pre-exploration. All pre-exploration costs are
expensed as incurred and include such costs as design work on operations, technical and economical assessment of
a project, and overheads associated with the pre-exploration. A decision on termination or extension of a
subsurface use contract upon expiry of the exploration and evaluation period is subject to success of the
exploration and evaluation of mineral resources and the Target’s decision whether or not progress to the
production (development) stage.

Tangible exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to mine development assets upon demonstration
of commercial viability of uranium production and amortised using unit-of-production method based upon proved
reserves. Once commercial reserves (proved or commercial reserves) are found, intangible exploration and
evaluation assets are transferred to mineral rights. Accordingly, the Target does not amortise exploration and
evaluation assets before commercial reserves (proved or commercial reserves) are found. If eventually no
commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation assets are written off and charged to the statement of
profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested by the Target for impairment whenever facts and circumstances
indicate assets’ impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which exploration and evaluation
assets’ carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is higher of the exploration
and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.
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One or more of the following facts and circumstances indicate that the Target should test its exploration and
evaluation assets for impairment (the list is not exhaustive):

° the period for which the Target has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

° substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral reserves in the specific
area is neither budgeted nor planned;

° exploration for and evaluation of mineral reserves in the specific area have not led to the discovery
of commercially viable quantities of mineral reserves and the Target has decided to discontinue such
operations in the specific area;

° sufficient data exist to indicate that, although development works in the specific area are likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely to be recovered in
full resulting from efficient development or by sale.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Target’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred income tax
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell (amount which could be obtained as a result of the sales of an asset or a cash
generating unit in an arms-length transaction between knowledgeable, voluntary, independent parties, less cost of
disposal) and its value in use (being the net present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant
cash-generating unit). In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Target determines the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets.

The estimates used for impairment reviews are based on detailed life of mine plans and operating budgets,
modified as appropriate to meet the requirements of IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. Future cash flows are based
on:

° estimates of the volumes of the reserves for which there is a high degree of confidence of economic
extraction;

° future production levels and related services;

° future commodity prices (assuming the current market prices will revert to the Target’s assessment of

the long term average price, generally over a period of three to five years); and
° future costs of production, other operating and capital expenditures.
2.7 Investments and other financial assets
(a)  Classification

The Target classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI),
and
° those to be measured at amortised cost.
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The classification depends on the Target’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

(b)  Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Target commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Target has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(¢) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Target measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial asset carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Target’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Target subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Target’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Target’s right to receive payments is established.

(d)  Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Target assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Target applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

(e)  Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Target or the counterparty.
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2.8 Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Upon the inventory issue or other
disposal, its cost is determined on the weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw material, direct labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on the normal
operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated cost of completion and selling expenses.

2.9 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. Trade and other receivables are generally due for settlement within one year and therefore all
classified as current.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of a provision account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss within “General and administrative expenses”. When a trade
and other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables and other
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss statement within
“General and administrative expenses” in the statement of profit or loss.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at amortised cost because: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and (ii) they are not designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the
statement of cash flows. Balances restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period are included in other non-current assets.

2.11 Share capital

Assets contributed by the sole shareholder are recognised at fair value when the contribution is made. Any
excess of the fair value of the contributed assets over the nominal share capital contribution is credited directly to
equity as share premium.
2.12 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current

liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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2.13

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income

based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

2.14

(a)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the country where the Target operates and generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b)  Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Target has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Employee benefits
(a)  Payroll expense and related contributions

Wages, salaries, social tax, contributions to social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave,
bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by
the employees of the Target. In accordance with the legal requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the
Target withholds pension contributions from employees’ salary and transfers them to the Unified
Accumulative Pension Fund. Upon retirement of employees, all pension payments are administered by the
Unified Accumulative Pension Fund.

(b)  Long-term employee benefit obligations

The Target provides certain long-term employee benefits to employees in accordance with the terms
of the Collective Labor Agreement (a unified document made available to employees) (the “Agreement”).
The Agreement provides for financial aid for employees’ disability, retirement, funeral aid and other
payments to the Target’s employees. The entitlement to some benefits is usually conditional on the
employee remaining employed until the retiremen age and the completion of a minimum service period.

The Target does not have any funded post-employment plans. Liability recognised at each reporting

date represents the present value of the plan liabilities. Actuarial gains and losses arising in the year are
recorded in the profit or loss for the year or other comprehensive income. The obligations are presented as
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2.15

current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the Target does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual
settlement is expected to occur.

For this purpose, actuarial gains and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between the previous actuarial
assumptions and what has actually occurred.

Actuarial gains and losses on post-employment obligations such as experience adjustments and the
effects of changes in actuarial assumptions recognised in other comprehensive income in the period
occurred. Other movements in the present value of the plan liabilities are also recognised in the profit or
loss for the year, including current service cost.

The most significant assumptions used in accounting for defined benefit obligations are the discount
rate, staff turnover and the mortality assumptions. The discount rate is used to determine the net present
value of future liabilities and each year the unwinding of the discount on those liabilities is charged to
profit or loss for the year. The mortality assumption is used to project the future stream of benefit
payments, which is then discounted to arrive at a net present value of liabilities.

Employee benefits, including financial aid for employees’ disability and funeral aid to the Target’s
employees and other payments, are considered as other long-term employee benefits. The expected cost of
these benefits is accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as used for
the defined benefit plan. These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Provisions

Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities with indefinite maturity or amount. They

are accrued when the Target has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. The Target’s provisions include site restoration and other provisions recorded in the financial
statements.

Provision for asset restoration obligations

Assets restoration obligations (“ARO”) are recognised when it is probable that the costs would be
incurred and those costs can be measured reliably. Asset restoration obligations include the costs of
rehabilitation and costs of liquidation (demolition of buildings, constructions and infrastructure dismantling
of machinery and equipment, transportation of the residual materials, environmental clean-up, monitoring of
wastes and land restoration). An estimated cost of dismantling and removal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is added to the cost of the item at the time of acquisition of this item of property, plant and
equipment or when the item is used for the purposes not related to production during a period in which the
liability arising from a respective fact of disturbance of lands during contamination of environment, based
on the discounted value of estimated future costs.

Changes in the estimate of the existing asset restoration obligation as a result of changes in estimated
maturity or amount of respective costs or as a result of change in the discount rate are recorded as an
adjustment of the cost of a respective asset in the current period. These costs are subsequently amortised
during useful lives of assets, to which they are related, using the amortisation method appropriate to these
assets. Changes in the provisions for asset restoration obligations related to damage during the production
and processing phase are recorded in profit or loss for the year.

Provisions for asset restoration obligations do not include any additional obligations which are
expected to arise from future disturbances. Estimated amounts of the costs are calculated annually in the
course of operations taking into account known changes, for example, updated estimated amounts and
revised useful lives of assets or set terms of operating activities, with conduct of official reviews on a
regular basis. Although the final cost to be incurred is uncertain, the Target estimates its costs based on
feasibility and engineering studies using current restoration standards and techniques for conducting
restoration works.
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The amortisation or “unwinding” of the discount applied in establishing the net present value of
provisions is charged to profit or loss in each accounting period, and disclosed as finance costs.

2.16 Revenue recognition

Revenue is income arising in the course of the Target’s ordinary activities. Revenue is recognised in the
amount of transaction price. Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Target expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring control over promised goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Sales are recognised when control of the good has transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the
customer, the customer has full discretion over the goods, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the specific
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the goods in accordance with the contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Target has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

The Target carries out the following types of activities:
(a)  Sales of uranium in the form of natural uranium oxide

The Target is engaged in mining its own uranium at the contractual territory as a subsurface user.
During the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 the Target conducted processing of uranium to
natural uranium oxide at Ulba metallurgical plant (a NAC KAP subsidiary involved in processing of
uranium to final uranium product) and sold finished goods to NAC KAP.

Sales are recognised when control of the good has transferred, being when the goods are delivered to
the customer, the customer has full discretion over the goods, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to
the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the goods in accordance with the contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Target has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. Delivery of uranium
products is stipulated by the contract with customer, delivery date is considered to be the date of acceptance
act signing. The date of acceptance act signing is determined based on the good consignment note, the date
of physical delivery, or the date of special written notification specified by customer.

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with an average credit term of
30-90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

(b)  Render of services

The Target may provide services under fixed-price and variable price contracts. Revenue from
providing services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. For fixed-price
contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a
proportion of the total services to be provided because the customer receives and uses the benefits
simultaneously. Revenue from rendering the services is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress of work performed, which is established according to the value of efforts put in
each task over total value of efforts of the implementation project with support by progress reports
acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding implementation costs are recognised as incurred under
cost of sales.

Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to

each separate performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin.
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Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in
the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Target exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments
exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

If the contract includes variable consideration, revenue is recognised only to the extent that it is
highly probable that there will be no significant reversal of such consideration.

Revenue is recognised net of value added taxes. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.

2.17 Leases

The Target currently only have leases of various office and industrial premises under short-term leases
which are with a lease term of less than 12 months. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
various different terms and conditions. Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessors are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the
lessors are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.18 Dividend distribution

Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which they are declared and
approved. Any dividends declared after the reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for
issue are disclosed in the subsequent events note. Dividends are distributed on the basis of the statutory financial
statements prepared under IFRS in the functional currency of the Target. Based on the applicable legislations of
the Republic of Kazakhstan, the calculation and distribution of dividends should be made after the approval of
financial statements.

2.19 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Target. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management function within the Target is carried out in respect of financial risks, operational risks
and legal risks. Financial risks comprise credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk). The Target’s risk management policy was developed to identify and analyse risks, to
which the Target is exposed, establish manageable risk limits and respective controls, and monitor risks and
observance of set limits. The risk management policy and systems are regularly analysed for the need to make
changes due to changes in market conditions and the Target’s operations. The Target establishes standards and
procedures for training and management to create a regular and effective control system, in which all the staff
understand their roles and responsibilities. The operational and legal risk management functions are intended to
ensure proper functioning of internal policies and procedures to minimise these risks.
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This note presents information on the Target’s exposure to each of the said financial risks, on the Target’s

goals, its policy and procedures of risk evaluation and management and on the Target’s approaches to management
of capital. Additional quantitative information is disclosed throughout these financial statements.

The sole shareholder of the Target, NAC KAP, is in charge of setting the Target’s objectives and approval

of the risk management policy. Management is in charge of implementing the risk management policy and
organising an efficient risk management system and is responsible for its implementation and regularly reports on
its work to the sole shareholder.

31

Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk

The following is information on the Target’s exposure to the impact of market risks, i.e. risks that a
change in market prices will have an adverse impact on the Target’s profit or on the cost of its financial
instruments.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

In respect of foreign exchange risk, management sets limits on the level of exposure by
currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The table below summarises the Target’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the
end of the reporting period:

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018
US$ US$ UsS$
Monetary financial assets (Note 16)
Russian Rubles - - 1,379
Monetary financial liabilities (Note 21)
US Dollars (1,059,067) (1,568,099) (2,049,786)

The following table presents sensitivities of profit or loss to reasonably possible changes in
exchange rate of US dollar applied at the end of the reporting period relative to the Target’s
functional currency (i.e. Kazakhstan Tenge), with all other variables held constant:

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018
Us$ Us$ US$
US Dollar strengthening by 10% (84,726) (125,448) (163,983)
US Dollar weakening by 10% 84,726 125,448 163,983

(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Target’s interest rate risk arises from interest bearing bank deposits. Bank deposits at
variable rates expose the Target to cash flow interest-rate risk. The Target currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. There are no significant interest
bearing bank deposits for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Target is therefore
not exposed to significant cash flow interest rate risk.
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(iii)  Price risk

The Target is exposed to the effect of fluctuations in the price of uranium. The Target prepares
an annual budget based on future uranium prices. Uranium prices historically fluctuate and are
affected by numerous factors outside of the Target’s control, including, but not limited to:

° demand for uranium used as fuel by nuclear power stations;

° depleting levels of secondary sources such as recycling and blended down highly
enriched stocks available to close the gap of the excess demand over supply;

° impact of regulations by the International Agency on Nuclear Energy;
° other factors related specifically to uranium industry.

At the end of the reporting period there was no significant impact of commodity price risk on
the Target’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

(b)  Credit risk

The Target takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Exposure to credit risk
arises as a result of the Target’s sales of products on credit terms and other transactions with counterparties
giving rise to financial assets. Credit risk is related mainly to the Target’s receivables from buyers and
customers and cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents and long-term deposit wholly placed in the Republic
of Kazakhstan, is limited since the counterparties are represented by banks with high available (In the
Republic of Kazakhstan) credit ratings assigned by international rating agencies. Credit